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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MR

For the year ended 31 December

BEt-A=T-HLEE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —T—)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 Change
FET FHETT oy
Revenue Wz 22,532,499 19,762,442 +14.0%
Gross profit ES 1,825,411 1,885,553 -3.2%
Profit for the year attributable to ~ ANAAJHEA A
owners of the Company JEAR AR F E 5 A 562,456 74,190 +658.1%
EBITDA BT E R AT 2,288,349 1,758,630 +30.1%
EPS (HK cents) SRIREF (B
— Basic — HK 17.10 2.36 +624.6%

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: nil).
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MEIRE

Basic earnings per share, dividends per share and dividend payout ratio

BREFERF SRBRERIRSELER

[ EPSER&ZEF  — Dividend payout ratio JE & b, %
HK cents
s [l DPSEREE
57.43
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* The calculation of basic earnings per share and dividends per share for the year 2010 have been adjusted for the bonus issued and the

share subdivision that have been approved by the shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting held on 19 January 2011.

* CZE-TEZGRELBFRSRREZAECHREN =T ——F— AT NARITZREIFHIAE L] EZ B RITALK R RO ITAEL
L o

Analysis of EBITDA, gross, operating and net profit margins (%)
HENERBHATER  EREX - KEBNELURATED (%)

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Net profit margin attributable

Gross profit margin to the owners of the Company

ERIE ADAEE NS
___ _ Operating profit margin EBITDA margin
FedepinyilEd FEITE R HRTAIE X
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MR

Turnover by geographical segments

iR B D 2 EER
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Turnover by operating segments

RS S EEI D 2 EER

‘ 2019

65%

359 Electronic consumer products (Note 2)

BT HEEMRE2)

LCD products (Note 1)
RRERERSRER M)

399 Electronic consumer products (Note 2)

BT HBEEMRHE2)

61%
LCD products (Note 1)
REEERBERME )

Note 1: LCD products — manufacture and distribution of LCD products and touch panel products
M1 RRBBERSRER — NERSHASEBBRTRIERNBIZERER

Note 2: Electronic consumer products — manufacture and distribution of electronic consumer products such as CCM,
fingerprint identification modules, personal health care products and electrical devices

M2 EFHEER — BUBERODHE

HEER (PIREEKRA  EAENRE BARRERLETRE)
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MEBRHEER

RESULTS iR

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=tT—-BHLEFE

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
—T-nF B RXF CT—+F EB-)\F ZB-h#§
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FET FET FTHEL THT
Revenue zs 19,427,118 22,071,521 20,733,418 19,762,442 22,532,499
Gross profit ES 2,121,657 2,195,678 2,040,167 1,885,553 1,825,411
Finance costs HBER (102,501) (180,237) (323,108) (353,679) (419,129)
Profit before tax Daz0Nsl 1,123,356 872,352 187,288 253,319 736,857
Income tax expense FriSBiM% (194,509) (195,785) (94,451) (105,106) (128,693)
Profit for the year REEREF 928,847 676,567 92,837 148,213 608,164
Attributable to: AT AL
Owners of the Company ARAIEBA 845,422 581,867 62,987 74,190 562,456
Non-controlling interests R 83,425 94,700 29,850 74,023 45,708
928,847 676,567 92,837 148,213 608,164
Earnings per share BREF
Basic AR
(HK cents per share) (G 29.08 20.02 2.13 2.36 17.10
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES SERAE
At 31 December
R+=A=+—-8
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
—T-nF B RXF CT—+§ E-)\F ZB-hf§
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FTHAL THT
Non-current assets ERBEE 8,504,196 10,099,418 14,371,223 14,154,947 13,978,778
Current assets REEE 9,730,248 13,197,343 12,567,607 10,899,554 11,007,458
Total assets BERE 18,234,444 23,296,761 26,938,830 25,054,501 24,986,236
Bank and other borrowings 877 R H £k 4,882,609 7,227,360 8,457,338 7,193,297 5,822,616
Bonds payable EfES - 827,456 895,073 850,265 373,731
Other liabilities HiBE 5,756,254 7,947,078 9,138,264 8,764,912 9,782,190
Total liabilities Eleets 10,638,863 16,001,894 18,490,675 16,808,474 15,978,537
Net assets BEFE 7,695,581 7,294,867 8,448,155 8,246,027 9,007,699
Equity attributable to owners A T1% A AJEIGTER
of the Company 7,085,517 6,711,475 7,882,771 7,636,576 8,056,021
Non-controlling interests R 510,064 583,392 565,384 609,451 951,678
Total equity e 7,595,581 7,294,867 8,448,155 8,246,027 9,007,699
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THE CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ERREE

Truly International Holdings Limited (the “Company” and, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) has made the record high
revenue of the Group in 2019, and recorded a double digits revenue
growth in 2019 when compared to 2018. Although it was a
challenging year in 2019 for the smartphone industry under ups
and downs of the continuing Sino-US trade frictions, the Group has
been performed better than the management’'s expectation stated
in 2018 annual report. The Group’s revenue in 2019 was increased
by approximately HK$2.7 billion or 14.0% to approximately HK$
22.5 billion when compared to 2018. The major reasons for the
revenue growth in 2019 were (i) the increase in market share of
smartphone related products business under the situation of 6.2%
year-over-year drop in the PRC domestic mobile phone shipment in
2019 (according to the report from China Academy of Information
and Communication Technology) and (ii) continuing growth in non-
smartphone related products business particular for industrial,
medical and internet of things related products.

Under the very keen competition of smartphone related products
business in 2019 and net allowance for inventory being made in
2019, the Group's gross profit margin has been decreased by
approximately 1.4% to 8.1% when compared to 2018. Under the
management’'s effective control on the Group's expenditures, the
Group’s administrative expenses in 2019 was reduced by
approximately HK$77 million or 19.4% when compared to 2018.

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company was
significantly increased by approximately 6.6 times to approximately
HK$562 million when compared to 2018. It was mainly because (i)
the significant improvement on the financial performance in 2019
of the major associate, Truly (Huizhou) Smart Display Limited* ({5
F(E M) 8E 78 = B BR 22 7)) (“Truly Huizhou"), of the Group as
expectation of the management stated in 2018 annual report and (ii)
the relatively stable renminbi exchange rate in 2019 when
compared to a significant drop in 2018. The successful financial
improvement of Truly Huizhou is mainly because the
management’s appropriate change of production strategy and sales
strategy to focus on AMOLED wearable products application.
Share of losses from associates by the Group in 2019 was
significantly decreased by approximately HK$ 420 million when
compared to 2018.

* for identification purpose only
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THE CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ERHESE

For strengthening the Group's financial position and improving the
Group's general working capital, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, Truly Opto-Electronics Limited ({73t ERMH BRE A
Al) (“Truly Opto”), had entered two equity investment agreements
in May 2019 and October 2019 respectively to issue new shares
and obtain in aggregate of RMB410 million and the Group’s equity
interest in Truly Opto has been diluted to approximately 78.76% as
at 31 December 2019 from approximately 85.42% as at 31
December 2018. Truly Opto continues to be a subsidiary of the
Company. Furthermore, Truly Opto issued RMB300 million
Domestics Corporate Bonds in September 2019. As at 31
December 2019, the Group’s gross debts amount was decreased
to approximately HK$6,295 million from approximately HK$8,044
million as at 31 December 2018. In the fourth quarter of 2019, the
Group has initiated the syndicated term loan refinancing with the
outstanding amount of HK$2,250 million which will be matured on
20 June 2020. The management believes that the syndicated term
loan refinancing would be completed in the second quarter of
2020.

The Group's fifth generation TFT-LCD production plant in Shanwei
has been entered into mass production period in the first quarter of
2020. The management expects that this TFT-LCD production plant
can contribute to the Group by reducing the cost of TFT-LCD
panels for production of LCD modules and touch modules since
mass production. This TFT-LCD production plant has been verified
by the Group’s major customers in 2019.

The Group’s another associated company in Sichuan for another
fifth generation TFT-LCD production plant has been entered
partially trial run and the full installation would be completed in
2020. The full trial run can be started in late 2020 or early 2021.

Under the current situation of the worldwide outbreak of COVID-19,
2020 is very difficult year to all industries and full of variables.
However, COVID-19 in China is under control now and the virus
daily infection confirmed case has been reducing. Besides,
International Data Corporation recently estimates that mobile
phone sales expected to decrease by 2.3% in 2020 after
consideration of the effect of COVID-19. Furthermore, many
countries government now implement many financial measures to
alleviate the COVID-19 on economy. Therefore, the management
has still confident to have some revenue growth in 2020.
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THE CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ERREE

The management would like to express its appreciation to the
Group's bankers, staff and workers for their continuing support and
outstanding contribution. Additionally, the management wishes to
extend its gratitude for customers, suppliers and other business
partners.

Lam Wai Wah
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 April 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHBE WS

The Group is one of the largest manufacturers of smartphone
component parts in the PRC and worldwide top-level automotive
display suppliers. The Group is principally engaged in the
manufacture and sale of liquid crystal display products including
touch panel products and electronic consumer products including
compact camera module, fingerprint identification modules,
personal health care products and electrical devices.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Although it was a challenging year in 2019 for the smartphone
industry under ups and downs of the continuing Sino-US trade
frictions, the Group has been performed better than the
management’s expectation stated in 2018 annual report. The
Group's revenue of 2019 made a record high amounting to
approximately HK$22.5 billion (2018: HK$19.8 billion) and increased
by 14.0% when compared to 2018.

Profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Company was
significantly increased to approximately HK$562 million (2018:
approximately HK$74 million) by approximately 658.1%. Basic
earnings per share for the year increased significantly to 17.1 HK
cents from 2.36 HK cents in 2018. It was mainly because (i) the
significant improvement on the financial performance in 2019 of
the major associate, Truly (Huizhou) Smart Display Limited* ({1 Fl
()% gt 88 R A R 2 7)) (“Truly Huizhou"), of the Group as
expectation of the management stated in 2018 annual report and (ii)
the relatively stable renminbi exchange rate in 2019 when
compared to a significant drop in 2018. The successful financial
improvement of Truly Huizhou mainly because the management'’s
appropriate change of production strategy and sales strategy to
focus on AMOLED wearable products application. Share of losses
from associates by the Group in 2019 was significantly decreased
by approximately HK$420 million when compared to 2018.

No interim dividend was declared or paid during 2019 (2018: Nil).
The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: nil).

The gross profit margin for the year decreased to approximately
8.1% (2018: 9.5%) and net profit margin for the year attributable to
owners of the Company increased to 2.5% (2018: 0.4%). Decrease
in gross profit margin was mainly affected by the keen competition
for the smartphone business in 2019 and the net allowance for
inventory being made during the year.

* for identification purpose only

AEBASTESZAEEFHRITHARFREBDLE
RIEgR =R NERERZ — - AEEZEEX
BRBEERHERRRETRER (BRBIEFE
m)REFHEER  SREMIAKER  5B8G
AR EARBRERNEFRE -

E 0] ]

BEEEFUTEN S NFERBETEH 2T
EEHERBATETHRESKE - BAEE
Zi‘%ﬁ%iﬁ:%—/\iiﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁzaﬁ%ﬁﬁ
e REEBR T —NFHEB 2 REA L= -
#) A 22518 /E,7'E<—7 —N\F 198EEL) &=
T N\FHEMN14.0% °

AN TR N FE(R AN S % F R I 12 049 658.1%
EH562EBIL(ZZE—/N\F : 90.7418% L) °
RNEFEGREARBFIH T —N\F223681IK
BIBE1718M - T2HRNEAEEB 2T 2B
NEMEF (BN BB~ BR AR ([EFEIM D)
RIZE-NFLUBERBRBRELS Fe2F%
—N\FFERAAHEEE 2B K(i) AREBER
RZZ-NAFHEERE M- N\FRERK
BEE - EAEMNcHBRBESUNEMSRE - £
TRAAEEEBEE NS EERE R HERE
EQNAMOLEDF RN ERER - AEBRZF
—NEFEHERRBEBR - N\NFEZRD
#4208 7T -

R-E-NFUETKIORNP RS (ZF—
FBE) BEFETESENBE_T-NEFT+=A
=+ HUEFERNAREES(ZE—N\F : §) -

AFEEEFNETRENSIR(ZT—/\F:
95%)  MARAHE ABEAFELMLFER E
AZE25%(ZF—N\F :04%)°c EFET®KE
R NFEEFRESRF IR ARE
EEL T EREFEMTE -

*EHBS

—NFFH o FRNERARIA 1



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EH B

B 73 th

The Group’s LCD business including touch products was about
65% of the Group revenue in 2019 (2018: 61%). The increase in
LCD business in 2019 was due to the significant increase in touch
related products sales for smartphone related products business.
Other businesses of the Group including the sales of compact
camera modules, fingerprint identification products and printed
circuit board were 35% of the Group’s revenue in 2019 (2018:
39%). The growth in LCD business segment of the Group in 2019
was due to the sales growth in touch related products for
smartphone related products business in 2019. LCD business
would continue to be the core business of the Group in coming
few years.

Both of the Group’s smartphone related products revenue and non-
smartphone related products revenue increased in 2019 when
compared to 2018. The management would still tend to
continuously enhance the development of non-smartphone related
products business and improving the profit margin in coming years.
The ultimate target of the Group’'s revenue mix is 50% of
smartphone related products revenue and 50% of non-smartphone
related products revenue.

The Group continues to put resources in the Group's research and
development by spending around HK$809 million in 2019 (2018:
HK$666 million). During the year, the Group continued to register
many patents related manufacturing process of the PRC factories
of the Group.

Segment Information

Information reported to the Board of Directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of performance focuses on the
sales of different types of products. Inter-segment sales are
charged at prevailing market rates. Thus the Group is currently
organised into two operating segments which are sales of LCD
products and electronic consumer products. The information for
each operating segment is as follows:

manufacture and distribution of LCD
products and touch panel products

LCD products —

manufacture and distribution of
electronic consumer products such
as compact camera module,
fingerprint identification modules,
personal health care products and
electrical devices

Electronic consumer —
products

12 Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THBEFWE S

Segment revenues and results TERERESE
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results by N6 EIZE 4 &R E D BEI DU R EE DT
operating and reportable segments: (1N
For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—E—NF+-A=1T—HIFE
Electronic
LCD consumer Segment
products products total  Eliminations Consolidated
REE ETHE
BREEm Em PEAE E3f RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TER
REVENUE e
External sales 4gH 14,581,528 7,950,971 22,532,499 - 22,532,499
Inter-segment sales HEREE - 238,247 238,247 (238,247 -
14,581,528 8,189,218 22,770,746 (238,247) 22,532,499
RESULT ES
Segment result PEERE 878,094 338,395 1,216,489 (11,162) 1,205,327
Finance costs BMSEBR (419,129)
Share of results of associates ~ DMEE SRR ELE (23,968)
Unallocated other expenses  ARABEMFE L (17,782)
Unallocated other losses ROMEMER (7,591)
Profit before tax Tl 736,857

“E-NEFFR o ERNEBERAE 13



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THEFWE S

For the year ended 31 December 2018

BE=T—N\F+-AZ+—HILFE

Electronic
LCD consumer Segment
products products total  Eliminations Consolidated
R EFHE
BRREM Em PEBE By ]
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FET FET THER TER
REVENUE 1§
External sales S 12,070,050 7,692,392 19,762,442 - 19,762,442
Inter-segment sales SHEfEHEE - 239,302 239,302 (239,302) -
12,070,050 7,931,694 20,001,744 (239,302) 19,762,442
RESULT ES
Segment result GECES 686,423 377,164 1,063,587 (14,738) 1,048,849
Finance costs GRER (353,679)
Share of results of associates D 5EE& A R £4E (444,172)
Unallocated other expense AOBEEMES (18,984)
Unallocated other gain Ao EMKE 21,305
Profit before tax AR 253,319

Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment
without allocation of central administration costs, directors’
salaries, gain (loss) on fair value changes of derivative financial
instruments, finance costs and share of results of associates. This
is the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for
the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

14 Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THBEFWE S

Geographical information HEE R

The following table sets out information about (i) the Group’s ~ NRE () AEBIEE S A E D EHIINEE
revenue from external customers by location of customers and (i)  PUE M () AN EBIREBEREME D ENIERS
the Group's non-current assets by location of assets. BENER -

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets
IEBEF W FkREEE
2019 2018 2019 2018
—E-hE -EF-N\F ZB-AF T )F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT F#ExT FHET
PRC F 15,631,008 14,731,111 13,801,607 13,959,915
South Korea ELE 2,544,518 1,274,048 - -
Europe M 1,272,751 1,352,908 - -
Hong Kong (country of &
domicile) (A $E1h) 576,667 655,161 96,190 94,314
Japan AR 484,406 466,045 - -
Others Hih 2,023,149 1,283,169 - -
22,532,499 19,762,442 13,897,797 14,054,229
Notes: e -
(i) Regarding revenue arising from sales to external customers in Europe and (i) MR EEMN R EMEIN TR EERSTE - 5
others, no individual countries are material and hence separate disclosure EEANBREEERNE WU E2IBIFEEE
is not required. e
(i) Non-current assets exclude financial assets at fair value through profit or (i) ERBEETBIERERUATEBEIEZ SREE
loss and deferred tax assets. FBEEFIEEE ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Outlook

Under the current situation of the worldwide outbreak of COVID-19,
2020 is very difficult year to all industries and full of variables.
However, COVID-19 in China is under control now and the virus
daily infection confirmed case has been reducing. Besides,
International Data Corporation recently estimates that mobile
phone sales expected to decrease by 2.3% in 2020 after
consideration of the effect of COVID-19. Furthermore, many
countries government now implement many financial measures to
alleviate the COVID-19 on economy. 5G smartphones has been
launched by different major brands to the markets since 2019 and
the 5G network has been continuously developing in China. It is
positive to the mobile phone sales in 2020. Sino-US trade frictions
would still be very important and uncertain to the global economy
in 2020.

All in all, the management has still confident to have growth on
both of the Group’s revenue and profit attributable to the owners
of the Company in 2020. The management would continue to
implement tight cost and expenditure control. Besides, the
management expects that (i) entering mass production in early
2020 by the 5th generation TFT-LCD production plant in Shanwei
can start to contribute to the Group by reducing the cost of TFT-
LCD panels for production of LCD modules and touch modules;
and (ii) the major associate, Truly Huizhou, of the Group would turn
to profit in 2020.

Proposed Spin-off Update

The management is still considering to submit a new application to
CSRC within 2020 after the application not approved by the Public
Offering Review Committee of CSRC in January 2019. Further
announcement will be made by the Company as and when
appropriate in compliance with the Listing Rules.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHBF RS

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group's revenue for the year ended 31 December 2019 (the
“Year") was approximately HK$22.5 billion, representing an
increase of approximately 14.0% or approximately HK$2.7 billion
year on year. The increase in the Group’s revenue for the Year was
mainly attributable to (i) the increase in market share of smartphone
related products business under the situation of 6.2% year-over-
year drop in the PRC domestic mobile phone shipment in 2019
(according to the report from China Academy of Information and
Communication Technology) and (ii) continuing growth in non-
smartphone related products business particular for industrial,
medical and internet of things related products.

Gross Profit and Margin

The Group's gross profit for the Year was approximately HK$1,825
million (2018: HK$1,886 million) and the gross profit margin was
approximately 8.1% (2018: 9.5%), which was approximately 1.4%
lower than that for 2018.

The gross profit margin of the Group has been decreased from
9.5% in 2018 to 8.1% in 2019, because it was mainly affected by
very keen competition on smartphone related products business
and net allowance for inventory being made during the Year. The
gross profit margin for the Year has been narrowed and particular
in the fourth quarter.

Furthermore, the 5th generation TFT-LCD production line in the
Shanwei of the Group was in the final trial production period during
the Year, some indirect factory overheads were increased
accordingly in the year. The gross profit and margin during the Year
were affected also.

Other Income

The Group's other income for the Year was approximately HK$146
million, representing an increase of approximately 42% or
approximately HK$43 million when compared with 2018. The
increase in other income was mainly because the government
grant of approximately HK$76 million received in 2019 but only
approximately HK$29 million in 2018.
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THEFWE S

Other Gains or Losses

The Group’s other gains or losses for the Year was approximately
HK$20 million net other losses, representing a decrease of
approximately 81% or approximately HK$88 million when
compared with 2018. The decrease in net other losses was mainly
because of net foreign exchange loss in 2019 being significantly
decreased by approximately HK$110 million when compared to
2018.

Distribution and Selling Expenses

The Group's distribution and selling expenses for the Year has
been slightly decreased by approximately 3.0% or approximately
HK$13 million to approximately HK$430 million when compared to
2018. The decrease in distribution and selling expenses under the
situation of revenue being increased by 14% in 2019 was mainly
attributable to the continuing tight expenditure control by the
management.

Administrative Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses for the Year has been
significantly decreased by approximately 19.4% or approximately
HK$77 million to approximately HK$319 million when compared to
2018. The decrease in administrative expenses was mainly
attributable to the continuing tight expenditure control being
implemented since 2018.

Finance costs

The Group's finance costs for the Year has been significantly
increased by approximately 18.5% or approximately HK$65 million
to approximately HK$419 million when compared to 2018. The
increase in finance costs was mainly attributable to the increase in
interest rate of HIBOR and LIBOR in 2019 and the Group had some
new higher fixed interest rate PRC loans during the Year.

Share of results of associates

The Group's share of loss of associates for the Year has been
significantly decreased by approximately 95% or approximately
HK$420 million to approximately HK$24 million when compared to
2018. The significant decrease in share of loss of associates was
mainly attributable to the management'’s appropriate change of
production strategy and sales strategy of the Group's major
associate, Truly Huizhou, to focus on AMOLED wearable products
application.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHBE WS

Income Tax Expenses

Pursuant to the relevant law and regulations in the PRC, two of the
Company’s PRC major subsidiaries were continuously approved as
Hi-Tech Enterprise and entitled to 15% PRC enterprise income tax
for three years from 2018 to 2020. Accordingly, PRC Enterprise
Income Tax is provided at 15% for the year ended 31 December
2019 for these two major PRC subsidiaries.

Profit for the Year Attributable to Owners of the
Company

Profit for the Year attributable to owners of the Company was
significantly increased to approximately HK$562 million by
approximately of 658% or HK$488 million when compared to 2018.
It was mainly because (i) the significant improvement on the
financial performance in 2019 of the major associate, Truly
Huizhou, of the Group as expectation of the management stated in
2018 annual report and (i) the relatively stable renminbi exchange
rate in 2019 when compared to a significant drop in 2018. The
successful financial improvement of Truly Huizhou is mainly
because the management’'s appropriate change of production
strategy and sales strategy to focus on AMOLED wearable
products application. Share of losses from associates by the Group
in 2019 was significantly decreased by HK$420 million when
compared to 2018.

Significant Investments, Acquisitions, Assets and
Liabilities

Update on investment in a major associate — Truly Huizhou

Truly Huizhou has incurred operating loss approximately of HK$25
million in 2019, which 59.7039% loss shared by the Group for the
Year. It was significantly decreased by 96.5% or HK$722 million
when compared to 2018, which is mainly because the
management’s appropriate change of production strategy and sales
strategy to focus on AMOLED wearable products application. The
management expected that Truly Huizhou could turn to operating
profit in 2020.

For the bank loans obtained by Truly Huizhou under the full
guarantee provided by the Group in November 2015, the associate
has started to repay by semi-annually instalments in November
2017. As at 31 December 2019, the relevant syndicated loan
amount of Truly Huizhou under the Group’s corporate guarantee
has been reduced to approximately HK$1.80 billion.
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B 73 th

Update on the 5th generation TFT-LCD Production Plant in Shanwei

The 5th generation TFT-LCD production plant in Shanwei has been
completed in the final trial production period in 2019 and started
the mass production in the first quarter of 2020. The management
expects that this TFT-LCD production plant can contribute to the
Group by reducing the cost of TFT-LCD panels for production of
LCD modules and touch modules since mass production. This TFT-
LCD production plant has been verified by the Group's major
customers in 2019.

Litigation update in relation to Investment in Leshi Zhixin

In February 2017, Truly Electronics Manufacturing Limited ({2 %]E
F B BB A &) (“Truly Electronics”), an indirectly wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an investment agreement,
pursuant to which Truly Electronics conditionally agreed to acquire
in an aggregate of 2.3438% equity interest in Leshi Zhixin
Electronic Technology (Tianjin) Limited* (4448 80371 € 7 BHEZ (K2)
BBR/AF]) (“Leshi Zhixin") at a consideration of RMB720,000,000.
The first instalment of the consideration in the amount of RMB240
million was paid in March 2017. Subsequently, as the Company's
management considered that a condition of the relevant
investment agreement has been breached by Leshi Zhixin and/or
Leshi Holding (Beijing) Co., Ltd.* (23R 42h% (3L =) R A &]) (“Leshi
Holding”), Truly Electronics suspended the payment of the
remaining instalments of the consideration in the amount of
RMB480 million and terminated the said investment agreement in
July 2017. In August 2017, Truly Electronics (as plaintiff) filed a civil
complaint against Leshi Zhixin and Leshi Holding (as defendants) to
seek rectification of the breach by Leshi Zhixin and Leshi Holding
and refund of the first instalment of RMB240 million paid by Truly
Electronics. For further details, please refer to the Company's
announcements dated 29 August 2017, 23 March 2018, and the
2018 Annual Report of the Company.

The Group has been informed by the Group's PRC lawyer that a
decision letter issued by the court of first instance has been
received in early November 2019, which the court of first instance
decided to turn down the Group’s civil complaint in relation to the
dispute on the investment agreement. Subsequently, the Group
has lodged an objection to the high court in Beijing on 15
November 2019 and the Group is waiting for the hearing by the
Beijing High Court.

Further announcements will be made by the Company as and
when appropriate in compliance with the Listing Rules.

* for identification purpose only
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Update on investment in an associate, Truly (Renshou) High-end Display
Technology Limited* ({5 (=8 ) S B R AR A F) (“Truly
Renshou”)

The Group has contributed RMB500 million by cash to Truly
Renshou during 2017 according to the relevant agreements. Truly
Renshou has completed the building construction of the fifth
generation of TFT-LCD factory in Renshou in 2018 and has been
entered partially trial run in 2019. The full installation of the
machineries would be completed in 2020 and the full trial
production of the factory would be started in late 2020 or early
2021 by the management’s estimation.

Update on Major Transaction Formation of the AMOLED JV Company

On 14 July 2017, Truly Electronics Manufacturing Limited ({5 #I%E
FABMRAA]), a company incorporated in the PRC and an indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
AMOLED JV agreement in relation to the formation of the
AMOLED JV Company in Renshou County, Meishan City, Sichuan
Province, the PRC as the project company for the AMOLED
Project. The total investment of the AMOLED JV Company will be
RMB27,900 million and production facilities for the sixth generation
of AMOLED will be established. The Group will contribute
RMB2,000 million for 13.3% equity interest. For detail of it, please
refer to the announcement of the Company, Major Transaction
Formation of the AMOLED JV Company, dated 14 July 2017.

As additional time is required for preparing and finalizing certain
information to be included in the Circular, the dispatch of the
Circular has been further delayed to a date on or before 29 May
2020. For detail of it, please refer to the announcement of the
Company, Further Delay in Despatch of Circular in Relation to A
Major Transaction for the Formation of the AMOLED JV Company,
dated 28 February 2020.

Further announcements will be made by the Company as and
when appropriate in compliance with the Listing Rules.
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Potential Breaching and Breaching of Certain Banks and
Other Borrowings Agreements (matured on 20 June
2020) and New Club Loan for Refinancing Initiated

In early June 2019, the Company has estimated that the Group
might potentially breach certain financial covenants in relation to
certain ratios of net borrowings of some bank loan agreements for
the testing date on 30 June 2019. It was mainly because the
relevant financial covenants are tightened up gradually from 2018
to 2020 and particularly after 31 December 2018. Therefore, the
Group had written to lenders requesting for a waiver for complying
with these financial covenants (i.e. the requirement of the ratio of
the adjusted consolidated net borrowings (excluding (to the extent
included) the related party contingent liabilities) of the Group to its
consolidated tangible net worth and the ratio of the consolidated
net borrowings of the Group to its consolidated tangible net worth
be no more than 0.5 and 0.75, respectively) for the testing date on
30 June 2019 as mentioned above in early June 2019 and had
successfully received the lenders’ consent before 30 June 2019.

Besides, in November 2019, the Company has estimated that the
Group might potentially breach certain financial covenants in
relation to certain ratios of net borrowings and EBITDA to Interest
expense of some bank loan agreements for the testing date on 31
December 2019. The Company has delivered the waiver request to
the relevant banks accordingly in November 2019 and received the
lenders’ waiver approval before 31 December 2019.

A new club loan invitation for refinancing of the outstanding
balance HK$2.25 billion of the syndicated bank loan has been
initiated in the fourth quarter of 2019, the Group has received some
banks’ commitments to participate the new club loan. The
management expected that the Group would receive more
commitments from other invited banks to participate the new club
loan and the new club loan could be completed in the second
quarter of 2020.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group's assets have been decreased by approximately HK$68
million and liabilities have been decreased by approximately
HK$830 million during the year.

As at 31 December 2019, the outstanding lease liabilities, bonds
payable and bank and other borrowings, net of restricted bank
deposits, cash and bank balances, were approximately HK$5,657
million (2018: approximately HK$6,821 million). It was decreased
by approximately 17.1% or HK$1,164 million when compared to
these net borrowings as at 31 December 2018. These borrowing
bear interest at prevailing market rate and their maturity profiles are
shown in the financial statements. For non-current portion of these
borrowings were matured within 5 years.
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As at 31 December 2019, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$3,840 million (as at 31 December 2018, net
current liabilities of approximately HK$4,927 million) and its current
ratio increased to 0.74 times as at 31 December 2019 from 0.69
times as at 31 December 2018. The major reason for the decrease
in net current liabilities position as at 31 December 2019 was
because the Group has reduced debts and new capital
expenditures during the year, implemented some cost control
measures and co-operations from customers and suppliers. The
management would continue to improve the Group’s net current
liabilities position.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has restricted bank deposits,
cash and bank balances approximately HK$638 million together
with adequate unutilized banking facilities. The Group’s working
capital is mainly financed by internal cash flow generated from its
operation and banking facilities granted by financial institutions. The
gearing ratio based on total interest bearing debts, net of restricted
bank deposits, cash and bank balances was approximately 70%,
which has decreased from 89% at 31 December 2018.

Deemed Disposals of Shareholding Interest in A
Subsidiary

First Equity Investment Agreement

On 31 May 2019, Truly Opto-Electronics Limited ({ZF| 3¢ BN B
R ®]) (“Truly Opto”), an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into the First Equity Investment Agreement
to issue new shares (approximately 5.53% of the enlarged
registered capital of Truly Opto after the First Equity Investment) to
an independent third party at the consideration of RMB290 million.
After the First Equity Investment, the shareholding interests of the
Company in Truly Opto has been decreased from approximately
85.42% to approximately 80.70%. For details of it, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 31 May 2019.

Second Equity Investment Agreement

On 24 October 2019, Truly Opto entered into the Second Equity
Investment Agreement to issue new shares (approximately 2.40%
of the enlarged registered capital of Truly Opto after the Second
Equity Investment) to an independent third party at the
consideration of RMB120 million. After the Second Equity
Investment, the shareholding interests of the Company in Truly
Opto has been decreased from approximately 80.70% to
approximately 78.76%. For details of it, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 24 October 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Material Acquisitions and Disposals

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group had no material
acquisitions or disposal of subsidiaries and associated companies
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

General

The state of the Group’s current order books is strong. Additions to
fixed assets mainly in construction in progress, furniture, fixture
and equipment and plant and machinery were approximately
HK$1,198 million. As at 31 December 2019, the Group had no
pledge or mortgage on its fixed assets.

Around 16,000 workers and staff are currently employed in Shan
Wei factories of the Company in the PRC and around 100 personnel
in the Group’s Hong Kong office. Total staff costs for 2019 were
approximately HK$1,592 million.

Capital Commitments

Capital expenditure commitment of around HK$400 million in
respect of acquisition of property, plant and equipment was
contracted for but not provided as at 31 December 2019.

Contingent Liabilities

(1) At 31 December 2019, the Group has given corporate
guarantee for certain bank borrowings granted to the
associate, Truly Huizhou, with the borrowing limit at
approximately HK$3.37 billion (2018: approximately HK$3.42
billion) and the bank loans with the amount of approximately
HK$1.80 billion (2018: approximately HK$2.43 billion) were
utilised by the associate.

Besides, at 31 December 2019, the other shareholder of the
associate provided corporate guarantee to the above bank
borrowings in proportion to its respective ownership interest
amounting to approximately HK$792 million (2018:
approximately HK$804 million). A counter-indemnity in favour
of the other shareholder is executed pursuant to which the
Group undertakes to indemnify the other shareholder
approximately 23.5% (2018: approximately 23.5%) of the
liabilities arising from the bank borrowings.

The directors assess the risk of default of the associate at the
end of reporting period and consider the risk to be
insignificant and it is less likely that any guaranteed amount
will be claimed by the counterparties.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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(2)

Furthermore, the Company has received three notices of
response to action from the Court according to which, on 31
October 2018, 6 November 2018 and 7 November 2018, the
Claimant, Shenzhen Goodix Technology Co., Ltd. CFIIIFETE
L # B % A R A 7)) filed three civil complaints (the “Civil
Complaints”) against the Defendants including a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, namely, TruIy Opto-
Electronics Limited* ({5 # ¢ & & 9 B R 2 7]) (as 2nd
defendant) (“Truly Opto”, together with the 1st defendant
and 3rd defendant in the Civil Complaint, the “Defendants”).
The Claimant alleged that the acts of the Defendants such as
production, sale and promise to sale of optical fingerprint
identification modules, lens components and chips without
authorization from the Claimant caused an infringement upon
the Claimant’s patents.

In each of the Civil Complaints, the Claimant sought a
judgment from the Court to order that:

(i) the Defendants shall immediately cease all acts of
patent infringement including but not limited to ceasing
production, sale and promise to sale of all products
which are subject to the alleged infringement;

(i)  the Defendants shall immediately destroy the
abovementioned products;

(i)~ Truly Opto and the 1st defendant shall be jointly liable
for compensating the economic loss suffered by the
Claimant in the sum of RMB50,000,000 (three civil
compliants in aggregate of RMB150 million), and the
reasonable expenses incurred by the Claimant in
seeking an injunction against the infringement acts in
the sum of RMB500,000 (three civil compliants in
aggregate of RMB1,500,000); and

(iv)  the Defendants shall be liable for the litigation expenses
in relation to the Civil Complaint.

For details of these three litigations, please refer to the
Announcements of the Company dated 20 November 2018
and 13 December 2018.

* for identification purpose only

(2)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The Three Civil Complaints were turned down by the
decisions of the relevant court on 30 December 2019 and 3
March 2020 respectively. Therefore, the Group need not pay
any compensation to the Claimant. For detail of it, please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 18
February 2020 and 4 March 2020.

Exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates will be considered to
hedge, if any.

OTHER INFORMATION
Dividends

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend
(2018: nil) for the year ended 31 December 2019.

No interim dividend (2018: nil) was declared during 2019.

The total dividend payout ratio for the year was zero.

Closure of Register of Members

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the 2020
Annual General Meeting, the Register of Members will be closed
from Wednesday, 3 June 2020 to Friday, 5 June 2020, during the
period no transfer of shares can be registered. In order to be
eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers accompanied
by relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
Branch Share Registrar, Tricor Secretaries Limited, at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’'s Road East, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 2 June 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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COVID-19

Since the Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) outbreak in the PRC in
January 2020, the Chinese government have imposed various
emergency measures and actions across multiple provinces and
municipalities in the PRC to suppress the spread of the COVID-19,
including delaying the return to work date after the Chinese Lunar
New Year holiday.

As at the date of the announcement of the 2019 unaudited annual
results of the Company, the Group’s major production bases are
located in Shanwei City and Huizhou City of Guangdong Province,
and Renshou County, Meishan City of Sichuan Province,
respectively. All these production bases are not in the regions
seriously affected by the COVID-19, such as Hubei Province.

On 22 January 2020, the Group has activated the highest level of
emergency plan, which was executed under the leadership of the
Chairman Mr. Lam Wai Wah and the General Manager of the
Group’s Human Resources and Administrative Department Mr.
Chen Shengneng, formulated the “Working Plan of Emergency
Response Organizations and Management Groups for Epidemic
Prevention”, and established 9 teams covering overall coordination,
temperature measurement, sterilization, canteen, dormitory,
procurement, quarantine, monitoring and outreach publicity in order
to make deliberate arrangement and deployment for the epidemic
prevention and strictly implement various prevention and control
measures. The Group received the city government in charge of
the deputy mayor of industry personally led the team special class
service, and invited the city CDC infectious disease prevention and
control section chief as a consultant to provide professional medical
guidance on the epidemic prevention to effectively protect the
health of staff and production safety. The Group is based on local
employees as the main workforce, and a higher degree of
mechanical automation to achieve the advantages of ensuring an
orderly progress of the resumption of production.

As at the date of the announcement of the 2019 unaudited annual
results of the Company, the Group’s capacity utilization has
resumed normal. In March 2020, the COVID-19 outbreak has
occurred in Europe and North America at high speed. Nevertheless,
provided the inherent unpredictable nature and rapid spread relating
to COVID-19 globally, the Group's business might be affected and
the Directors of the Company will continue to closely monitor in
this regard. Looking ahead, the Group will further improve the
emergency response plan and conduct practical trainings to
enhance the risk management and improve the internal control
systems.
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Customers and suppliers

In the year under review, sales to the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 50% of the total sales of the Group
and purchases from the five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 25% of the total purchases of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, our largest customer
accounted for approximately 16% of the total sales of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, our largest supplier
accounted for approximately 11% of the total purchases of the
Group.

As at 31 December 2019, none of the directors, their associates, or
any shareholders which to the knowledge of the directors owned
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital had any
beneficial interests in the Group's five largest customers and/or
five largest suppliers mentioned in the preceding paragraph.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and senior
management of the Group are set out as follows:

Mr. Lam Wai Wah, aged 67, is the Chairman and Managing
Director of the Company. He is the founder of the Group and has
over 40 years of experience in the electronics industry. He is
primarily responsible for the formulation of the Group’s overall
strategic planning and business development.

Mr. Wong Pong Chun, James, aged 61, is an Executive Director of
the Company and the Chief Operating Officers of the Group. He is
responsible for the Group’s operations in respect of internal
controls and risk management, investors’ relationship and external
affairs. He joined the Group in 1987.

Mr. Ma Wai Tong, aged 48, is an Executive Director of the
Company, the Chief Financial Officer and the Company Secretary
of the Group and the Company respectively since he joined the
Group in January 2011. He is primarily responsible for financial and
accounting management affairs of the Group. Mr. Ma is also a vice
chairman and deputy general manager of a subsidiary of the
Company. He had more than 20 years of auditing, accounting and
financing experience and had been an independent Non-executive
Director of a company listed in Hong Kong. Mr. Ma is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He holds a
Bachelor's degree in Accountancy and a Master's degree of
Professional Accounting from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University.
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Mr. Song Bei Bei, age 43, is an Executive Director of the Company,
a senior vice president and the purchasing and procurement
director of the Group. He is responsible for the Group's raw
material purchase affairs. Mr. Song is also a director of a subsidiary
of the Company. Mr. Song joined the Group in 2001 as a design
engineer in research and development department and was
promoted to project manager and senior project manager during
2005 to 2013. During the period from 2014 to 2018, Mr. Song was
further promoted to a senior management position of the Group.
He graduated from the North China Institute of Technology with a
Bachelor’s Degree in Mechatronic Engineering.

Mr. Dai Cheng Yun, age 46, is an Executive Director of the
Company, a vice president of the Group. He is responsible for the
Group's panel factory operating affairs. Mr. Dai is also a director of
a subsidiary and a vice chairman of an associate of the Company.
He graduated from the Hunan University of Technology (formerly
known as Hunan University of Commerce) with a Bachelor of
Marketing Degree. Mr. Dai joined the Group in 2000 as a team
head of technicians and was promoted to a senior management
position during the period from 2006 to 2018.

Mr. Cheung Wing Cheung, age 49, is an Executive Director of the
Company. He holds a Master of Philosophy Degree and a Bachelor
of Engineering Degree from The University of Hong Kong, and a
Bachelor of Laws Degree from the University of London. He is
responsible for overseas sales and marketing affairs (excluding
handheld phone products) of the Group. Mr. Cheung Wing Cheung
has been serving the Group since year 2000 and in the senior
management position for more than 10 years. Before joining the
Group, he worked for the technical position from a multi-national
technology company.

Mr. Chung Kam Kwong, aged 62, is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company and the Chairman of the Group's Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination Committees. He is a practising
Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong, fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, fellow
member of Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants
and a member of the Macau Society of Certified Practising
Accountants. Mr. Chung has extensive experience in accounting
and financial management and has been the independent Non-
executive Director, management consultant and Company
Secretary of a number of listed companies in Hong Kong.
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Mr. Ip Cho Ting, Spencer, aged 61, is an Independent Non-
executive Director and members of the Group's Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination Committees. He is the holder of a
Bachelor of Science degree from the University of Wisconsin,
Green Bay, U.S.A. Mr. Ip is a Fellow Chartered Financial
Practitioner. He is the Senior Financial Planning Consultant of a
professional insurance company in Hong Kong. Mr. Ip is also an
Accredited Mediator of the Hong Kong International Arbitration
Centre.

Mr. Heung Kai Sing, aged 71, is an Independent Non-executive

Director and members of the Group’s Audit, Remuneration and
Nomination Committees. He has experience in textile industry.

By order of the Board
Lam Wai Wah
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 April 2020
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EFEREE

The directors present their annual report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of
liquid crystal display products including touch panel products and
electronic consumer products including compact camera module,
fingerprint identification modules, personal health care products
and electrical devices.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 57.

No interim dividend has been paid or declared during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

The directors do not propose the payment of the final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2019.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired plant and machinery amounting
to HK$498,758,000 and furniture, fixtures and equipment
amounting to HK$109,881,000 for the purpose of expanding its
manufacturing capacity in Shan Wei City, Guangdong Province in
the People’s Republic of China.

Details of these and other movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 17 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the issued share capital of
the Company are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT

EFEREE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The Company's reserves available for distribution to shareholders
as at 31 December 2019 were as follows:

F LB S kR

RZT-NE+=A=+—0 AAATHET
B3 BRI

2019 2018

—ZE-hF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Share premium &1 R IE 1,395,441 1,395,441
Special reserve ERIGEE 17,410 17,410
Retained profits IR & A 224,923 185,068
1,637,774 1,597,919

Under the applicable laws of the Cayman lIslands, the share
premium of the Company is available for distributions or paying
dividends to shareholders subject to the provisions of its
Memorandum or Articles of Association and provided that
immediate following the distribution or paying dividend the
Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

The special reserve of the Company represents the difference
between the net book values of the underlying assets of the
Company'’s subsidiaries acquired at the date on which the shares
of these companies were acquired by the Company, and the
nominal amount of the Company’s shares issued for the
acquisitions.
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Directors

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive directors:

Lam Wai Wah

Wong Pong Chun, James
Ma Wai Tong

Song Bei Bei

Dai Cheng Yun

Cheung Wing Cheung

Independent non-executive directors:

Chung Kam Kwong
Ip Cho Ting, Spencer
Heung Kai Sing

In accordance with Articles 100 and 120 of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Lam Wai Wah, Ip Cho Ting, Spencer and Heung Kai
Sing retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The independent non-executive directors are subject to retirement
by rotation in accordance with the above articles.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting has a service contract with the Company or its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND EFEZRREREGDER
UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 December 2019, the interests of the directors and their WZZT—AF+_A=+—H BELAQFBRE
associates in the shares and underlying shares of the Company and 5% N BA & 1605 352 (& AR 1E 2 B sC M Frac 8%
its associated corporations, as recorded in the register maintained S(iRIE LT AR EFEITEF L HIEETE|AE
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities and M@ KRB REBHAXLSHER AR ZER -
Futures Ordinance, or as otherwise notified to the Company and E=ENRHEBME AHE 2K QT K AR EE 2%
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited pursuant to the Model 15 &AM (D REZRLO T -

Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies,

were as follows:

Long positions R
(a) Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each of the Company (a) AATEREEO2EBTZ2EER

Percentage of

Number of issued the issued share
ordinary shares capital of
Name of director Capacity held the Company
Fris 2 847 (ER NI ARY- Ly
EEHE &1 ZERHE BRAEBFDL
%
Lam Wai Wah Beneficial owner 1,441,852,000 43.84
MEE E=AA
Held by spouse (note 1) 74,844,000 2.28
M ERA (1)
1,616,696,000 46.11
Wong Pong Chun, James Held by spouse (note 2) 1,650,000 0.05
=|HAE Ml E#EEE (FEE2)
Song Bei Bei Beneficial owner 822,000 0.02
REE Emia A
Dai Cheng Yun Beneficial owner 202,000 0.01
HKE EmBAA
Cheung Wing Cheung Beneficial owner 566,000 0.02
RERTE EnEA
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(b) Registered capital of the associated corporation of
the Company

Truly Opto-Electronics Limited (“Truly Opto”) (Note 3)

(b) AADFEEEEZEMEAR

BERAERMBARAB (EFEED (M3

Percentage of
paid up registered

Registered capital capital of Truly

Name of director Capacity contributed (RMB) Opto

REFMELR HEFMXEZHE

EEnA 14 (AR EMELABSL

%

Lam Wai Wah Beneficial owner 647,360 0.1755
MEE EmBEAA

Wong Pong Chun, James Beneficial owner 2,590,120 0.7024
|mAE E=BEAA

Ma Wai Tong Beneficial owner 396,100 0.1074
BEE EmBEAA

Cheung Wing Cheung Beneficial owner 324,020 0.0879
SRERFE Emia A

Notes: 5T

1. Lam Wai Wah is deemed to be interested in 74,844,000 ordinary
shares of the Company, being the interests held beneficially by his
spouse, Chung King Yee, Cecilia.

2. Wong Pong Chun, James is deemed to be interested in 1,650,000
ordinary shares of the Company, being the interests held
beneficially by his spouse, Lai Ching Mui, Stella.

3. Truly Opto-Electronics Limited, a company registered in the
People’'s Republic of China, is an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the directors nor their
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares and
underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations as at 31 December 2019.

1. WRE ZE AR B 7 G 74,844,000 I8 B H BC (B 4E
BRERBEZARR LB -

2. = PR B A 1,650,000 i HEEZE
BERFE Z AR R LA -

3. EFREERMARAFDRHEARKMEGE
Mz AR RAARZEEIFZEMBARF -

BREXEEESN  R-T-NF+_A=+—8"
EEFHEBRAMEEAANQ R S HE AR
EB Z AE I RARRER D 2 (s SRR -
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SHARE OPTIONS

During the year, the Company has not adopted any share option
scheme.

ARRANGEMENT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed above under the heading “Directors’
Interests in Shares and Underlying Shares”, at no time during the
year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2019, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance shows that other than the
interests disclosed above in respect of Lam Wai Wah, the
Company has not been notified of any other relevant interests or
short positions in the issued share capital of the Company.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified
of any other relevant interests or short positions in the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31 December 2019.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by
the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by
the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

The Company has not yet adopted new share option scheme
during the year.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Articles of Association, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.

PURCHASES, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 December 2019.

MODEL CODE

None of the Directors of the Company is aware of information that
would reasonably indicate that the Company was not in the year
under review in compliance with the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
10 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an Audit Committee which was established in
accordance with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code (the “"Code"”) for the purposes of reviewing and providing
supervision over the Group's financial reporting matters, risk
management and internal controls. The annual results of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2019 has been reviewed by the
Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee comprises Mr. Chung Kam Kwong, Mr. Ip
Cho Ting, Spencer and Mr. Heung Kai Sing, with Mr. Chung Kam
Kwong as chairman of the Audit Committee. They meet at least
four times a year.

The Group has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive directors are independent.

ZEmEE

ARAZEHMERARXFASHE LG ERR
BEABEEZGX  SEARBEZLIARE
PRE SR -
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BHE_Z-NF+_RA=+T—HILEFE KQF
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EfR EHRES -

REEFA

REARTDESMAE  XEEHNSEBRRIAR
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EHx EHRA (T EMRE D) M8+ M# .z £
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AREEERAZEE AT TR 2 RIEX
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REMUNERATION AND NOMINATION
COMMITTEES

The Company has a Remuneration Committee and a Nomination
Committee respectively which were established in accordance
with the relevant requirements of the Code. The two Committees
are chaired by Mr. Chung Kam Kwong, an independent non-
executive director and comprise three other members, namely Mr.
Ip Cho Ting, Spencer and Mr. Heung Kai Sing, being independent
non-executive directors and Mr. Wong Pong Chun, James, an
executive director of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board considers that good corporate governance of the
Company is essential to safeguarding the interests of the
shareholders and enhancing the performance of the Group. The
Board is committed to maintain and ensure high standards of
corporate governance. We have complied with all the applicable
code provisions set out in the “Corporate Governance Code”
contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules throughout the year
ended 31 December 2019, except for a major deviation as below:

o Code Provision A.2.1 — The roles of the Chairman and the
Chief Executive are not separated and are performed by the
same individual, Mr. Lam Wai Wah. The Board will meet
regularly to consider major matters affecting the operations
of the Company. The Board considers that this structure will
not impair the balance of power and authority between the
Board and the Company’s management and believes that this
structure will enable us to make and implement decisions
promptly and efficiently.

° Code Provision E.1.2 — The Chairman did not attend the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 30 May 2019
due to unexpected important business meeting.

The Board will continuously review and improve the corporate
governance practices and standards of the Company to ensure that
business activities and decision-making processes are regulated in
a proper and prudent manner. More details are contained in the
separate Corporate Governance Report on pages 40 to 49.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout
the year ended 31 December 2019.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to HK$2,495,000.

AUDITORS

A resolution will be submitted to the Annual General Meeting of
the Company to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as
auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lam Wai Wah
CHAIRMAN

Hong Kong, 27 April 2020

LRERETHEE

ARRRBE-F-NET A=+ RLFE
A—EEBRIZARHRE -
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board

The Board was responsible for the Company’'s corporate
governance, and was ultimately accountable for the Company’s
activities, strategies and financial performance.

The Board was mainly responsible for formulating and approving
the business strategies, objectives, policies and plans of the
Company, and monitoring the execution of the Company's
strategies. It was also responsible for overseeing the operating and
financial performance of the Company and establishing appropriate
risk control policies and procedures in order to ensure that the
strategic objectives of the Company are materialized. In addition,
the Board was also responsible for improving the corporate
governance structure and enhancing communications with
shareholders.

The Board has delegated the responsibilities for the execution of
strategies and decision-making for day-to-day operation of the
Company to the management team headed by the Managing
Director, Mr. Lam Wai Wah.

The management reported regularly to the Board on the operating
and financial performance of the Company. Development,
expansion and other major capital expenditure and commitment, as
well as major financing decisions were all reviewed and approved
by the Board.

Connections between members of the Board

None of the members of the Board have any connections (including
financial, business, family relationship and other material/related
relationships) with each other during the period under review.

Director’s dealing in securities

Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, the Company
confirmed that all Directors had complied with their obligations
regarding dealings in securities under the Model Code set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules during the period under review.

Non-executive directors

The non-executive Directors were not appointed for a specific term
but were subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the
Company'’s Articles of Association.
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Independent non-executive Directors

The Company has received confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors as regards his independence
to the Company and considered that each of the independent non-
executive Directors was independent to the Company during the
period under review.

Directors’ Training

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. All directors are encouraged to attend relevant training
courses at the Company's expenses. The Company has been
encouraging the directors to participate continuous professional
development courses and seminars organized by professional
institutions or professional firms and reading materials on relevant
topics so that they can continuously update and further improve
their relevant knowledge and skills.

In addition, the Company Secretary reports from time to time the
latest changes and development of the Listing Rules, corporate
governance practices and other regulatory regime to the Directors
with written materials.

Board committees

The Board was supported by three Board Committees. Each Board
Committee has its own responsibilities, power and functions. The
chairman of the respective Board Committees reported to the
Board from time to time and made recommendations on matters
discussed when appropriate.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) in compliance with the Listing Rules.
The Remuneration Committee is governed by its terms of
reference, which have been revised by the Board on 26 March
2012 pursuant to the CG Code, setting out the Remuneration
Committee’s authority, duties and responsibilities are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Chung Kam
Kwong, an independent non-executive director and comprise three
other members, namely Mr. Ip Cho Ting, Spencer and Mr. Heung
Kai Sing, being independent non-executive directors and Mr. Wong
Pong Chun, James, an executive director of the Company.
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The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’'s policy and
structure of the remuneration of the directors and senior
management and the specific remuneration packages of all
executive directors and senior management. Details of the
remuneration of each of the directors for the year are set out in
Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

Four meetings were held during the year by the Remuneration
Committee to review the remuneration packages and assess the
performance of executive directors and the director’s fees of the
independent non-executive directors. All members of the
Remuneration Committee attended the said meeting.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the nomination committee (the
Nomination Committee”) in compliance with the Listing Rules. The
Nomination Committee is governed by its terms of reference,
which have been revised by the Board on 26 March 2012 and 20
August 2014 pursuant to the CG Code, setting out the Nomination
Committee's authority, duties and responsibilities are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. Chung Kam Kwong,
an independent non-executive director and comprise three other
members, namely Mr. Ip Cho Ting, Spencer and Mr. Heung Kai
Sing, being independent non-executive directors and Mr. Wong
Pong Chun, James, an executive director of the Company.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular basis and
to make recommendations to the Board on matters relating to any
proposed changes.

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
its approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order
to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

Four meetings were held during the year by the Nomination
Committee to review the nomination procedures and the current
composition of the Board. All members of the Nomination
Committee attended the said meeting.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) in compliance with the Listing Rules. The Audit
Committee is governed by its terms of reference, which have been
revised by the Board on 26 March 2012 and 18 November 2015
pursuant to the CG Code, setting out the Audit Committee’s
authority, duties and responsibilities are available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
provide supervision over the Group's financial reporting matters,
internal controls and the system of risk management.

The Audit Committee comprises Mr. Chung Kam Kwong, Mr. Ip
Cho Ting, Spencer and Mr. Heung Kai Sing, with Mr. Chung Kam
Kwong as chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year. All
members of the Audit Committee attended the said meeting.

The Board Meetings, Board Committees Meetings and
General Meetings

The Directors’ attendances at the Board Meetings, the Board
Committees Meetings and General Meetings for the year ended 31
December 2019 were as follows:

ERZBEZIERERTHRERASENS
FHEE  AMEEMERERRS

ERZEemERLEL  REFEEREMM
SEAEMRK - MERIAEREERZBEER

FRBERZEERTOAEE - 2REXRZE
EREHEHFE Ll g -

Exees EZESZEEgBRRRAE
REBE-ZFT-NAF+_A=t—HLFE EF

REFEERZ EFSZEEeRMBRREZ
HEBRMT

Number of meetings attended

HESFBRE
General

Board Board Committees Meetings

=g EEgZEE BRAE
Director Audit Remuneration Nomination
= B Fri RE
Executive directors:
BITES:
Lam Wai Wah 4/4 n/a n/a n/a 0N
MEZE T EA N iE A TiEA
Wong Pong Chun, James 4/4 n/a 4/4 4/4 m
=HIE T3 A
Ma Wai Tong 4/4 n/a n/a n/a 11
HBEE T EA N iE A TiEA
Song Bei Bei 4/4 n/a n/a n/a 01
KRER T EA T E A TiEA
Dai Cheng Yun 4/4 n/a n/a n/a 0/1
FAKE T EA N iE A TiEA
Cheung Wing Cheung 4/4 n/a n/a n/a 11
SRR FE T E A N iE A TiEA
Independent non-executive directors:
BYFHTES:
Chung Kam Kwong 4/4 4/4 4/4 4/4 mnm
BB
Heung Kai Sing 4/4 4/4 4/4 4/4 /1
Ip Cho Ting, Spencer 4/4 4/4 4/4 4/4 11
2H=F
Total number of meeting(s) held 4 4 4 4 1
BITEREH
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the fees paid to the
Company'’s external auditors amounted to HK$4,000,000.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company and reviewing their effectiveness.
The Board oversees the overall risk management of the Group and
endeavours to identify, control impact of the identified risks and
facilitate implementation of coordinated mitigating measures. The
risk management and internal control systems of the Company are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failures to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
Throughout the year from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019,
the Board conducted reviews of the effectiveness of the internal
control system in all material respects including but not limited to
operational, financial, risk management and compliance controls.
The Group's system of internal control comprised a well-defined
organizational and management structure with levels and limits of
authority which was established to help achieve business
objectives, safeguard assets against unauthorized access or
disposal, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting records to
produce reliable management and financial information for internal
use and for publication purpose, help management mitigate
potential risk factors and ensure compliance with relevant rules and
regulations. The system was designed to provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and
to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in operational
systems so as to achieve the Group's objectives and long-term
goals.

The process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification
° Identifies risks that may potentially affect the Group's
business and operations.

Risk Assessment
o Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment criteria

developed by the management; and

o Considers the impact and consequence on the business and
the likelihood of their occurrence.
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Risk Response
o Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

° Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

° Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place;

o Revises the risk management strategies and internal control
processes in case of any significant change of situation; and

° Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management
and the Board regularly.

The main features of the risk management and internal
control systems

Control procedures have been designed to safeguard assets
against misappropriation and disposition; ensure compliance with
relevant laws, rules and regulations; ensure proper maintenance of
accounting records for provision of reliable financial information
used within the business or for publication; and to provide
reasonable assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.

The process used to review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems and to
resolve material internal control defects

The Board would be directly responsible for internal control of the
Group and for reviewing its effectiveness.

The Board has engaged an external compliance consultancy and
Internal control services limited as its risk management and internal
control review adviser (“the Adviser”) to conduct the annual review
of the risk management and internal control systems for the year
ended 31 December 2019. Such review is conducted annually and
cycles reviewed are under rotation basis. The scope of review was
previously determined and approved by the Board. The Adviser has
reported findings and areas for improvement to the Audit
Committee and management. The Board and Audit Committee are
of the view that there are no material internal control defeats
noted. All recommendations from the Adviser are properly followed
up by the Group to ensure that they are implemented within a
reasonable period of time. The Board therefore considered that the
risk management and internal control systems are effective and
adequate.
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ERELIRS

The procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information

The Board assesses the likely impact of any unexpected and
significant event that may impact the price of the Shares or their
trading volume and decides whether the relevant information is
considered inside information and needs to be disclosed as soon
as reasonably practicable pursuant to Rules 13.09 and 13.10 of the
Listing Rules and the Inside Information Provisions under Part XIVA
of the SFO. Executive Directors and the legal advisor also may
have responsibility for approving certain announcements and/or
circulars to be issued by the Company under powers delegated by
the Board from time to time.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial
statements for the year 2019. The Management also provides all
directors with monthly updates giving them a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Company's performance,
position and prospects in sufficient detail to enable the Board as a
whole and each director to discharge their duties under Rule 3.08
and Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The position of Company Secretary is held by Mr. Ma Wai Tong, an
Executive Director of the Company and the CFO of the Group. The
Company Secretary reported to the Board chairman from time to
time. All directors have access to the advice and services of the
company secretary to ensure that board procedures, and all
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed.

Since Mr. Ma was appointed in 2011, he has to take no less than
15 hours of relevant professional training for the financing year
commencing on or after 1 January 2012 and he has fulfilled the
requirement during the year under review.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EREINRE

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at shareholder

meetings,

including the election of individual directors. All

resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after
each shareholder meeting.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

(1)

(2)

(3)

Communication with Shareholders and Procedures
for putting forward proposals at general meetings

All published information, including financial statements,
results announcements, circulars and notices of general
meetings and associated explanatory documents
are promptly posted on the Group's website at
www.truly.com.hk. Viewers can also send enquiries and
proposals putting forward for shareholders’ consideration at
shareholder meetings to the Board or senior management by
email at enquiry@truly.com.hk or directly by raising questions
at the general meeting of the Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting

Shareholders shall have the right to request the Board to
convene an extraordinary general meeting ("EGM") of the
Company. Shareholders holding in aggregate of not less than
one-tenth (10%) of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the right of voting at the general meeting of the
Company may send a written request to the Board of the
Company to request for a EGM. The written requisition, duly
sighed by the shareholders concerned, must state the
purposes of the meeting and must be deposited at the
Company’s principle place of business in Hong Kong.

Shareholders who wish to move a resolution at general
meetings may follow the procedures set out in the preceding
paragraph.

Constitutional Documents

There was no change to the Company’'s Memorandum and
Articles of Association during the financial year 2019. A copy
of the Memorandum and Articles of Association is posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

Under the dividend policy adopted by the Company with effect
from 28 March 2019, the Board may consider declaring and paying
dividends to the Shareholders out of the Company’s distributable
reserves. Such declaration and payment of dividends shall remain
to be determined at the sole discretion of the Board, subject to the
requirements of all applicable laws and the memorandum and
articles of association of the Company.

Under the dividend policy, in deciding whether to propose or
declare a dividend and in determining the dividend amount and
means of payment, the Board shall take into account, among
others:

(i) the actual and expected financial performance of the Group;

(i) the Group's liquidity position;

(i)  the capital and debt level of the Group;

(iv)  retained profits and distributable reserves of the Company
and major subsidiaries of the Group; and

(v) the working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future development plans of the Group.

The Board shall endeavor to strike a balance between providing
immediate return to the shareholders through the payment of
dividends whilst retaining adequate reserves as the Group's
working capital and for the Group's future growth. There can be no
assurance that dividends will be proposed, declared or paid by the
Company in any particular amount at any time or from time to time.

The Board will from time to time review the dividend policy and
may exercise at its absolute and sole discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the Dividend Policy at any time as the Board deems
fit and necessary. Details of the Company's dividend policy are set
out in the announcement of the Company dated 28 March 2019.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EREINRE

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises the importance of diversity to corporate
governance and the board effectiveness.

The purpose of this policy is to set out the basic principles to be
followed to ensure that the board of directors (the “Board”) has
the appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives necessary to enhance the effectiveness of the Board
and to maintain high standards of corporate governance.

Board nomination and appointments will continue to be made on
merit basis based on its business needs from time to time while
taking into account diversity.

Selection of board candidates shall be based on a range of diversity
perspectives with reference to the Company's business model and
specific needs, including but not limited to gender, race, language,
cultural background, educational background, industry experience
and professional experience.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BIAZBENRES

Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
TRULY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Truly
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 57 to 180,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BIUZLMENRES

Key audit matters

BRETEE

Impairment assessment of interest in an associate

BB E L A 2 B EF

We identified the impairment assessment of interest in
an associate, Truly (Hui Zhou) Smart Display Limited
(“Truly HZ"), as a key audit matter due to its significance
in the context of the Group s consolidated financial
statements.
REEERREN(EMN) BB RERAB ([EREIM]D)
a2 REN LY BEXRBEEMBERRBEEKN K
RITRZ R ETEIE

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group is required to assess at the end of
each reporting period whether there is any indication that
the carrying amount of interests in associates may be
impaired. Since impairment indications exist, the Group
assessed the interest in Truly HZ for impairment and
considered no impairment of interest in Truly HZ is
necessary as at 31 December 2019. As disclosed in note
21 to the consolidated financial statements, as at 31
December 2019, the carrying amount of interest in Truly
HZ amounted to approximately HK$608 million.
WINGEE M B RERMTAFTEE - EEEARNSHREH
R BB E A RETREE AR 2 RMER R
WE - ARFERETSR - EEEHNEHEMNATEE
sSETTRER G URBREMNEIMNAEERR T — 1
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EEBRENSEE

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment
of interest in Truly HZ included:

AITREHE A BN S P ERERHEETT 22 F 81

° Obtaining an understanding and evaluating the
appropriateness of the Group’ s accounting policy
in assessing impairment for interests in associates;

e  THMEIE EEEMYEEQRESETRER
HATERAETEREERE

o Assessing the Group management’ s process for
identifying the existence of impairment indicators
for the interests in associates;

e i EEETEEH#HIMERATERESFER
BEIRZBERE

o Where indicators of impairment have been
identified, assessing the reasonableness of the
recoverable amount of the associate and obtaining
an understanding from the management about the
financial position and future prospects of the
associate;

e  MEBRBRETR  FEBEAFZAIKEEER
BEBWRERE T M E QR M BARR &R
RATS

o Assessing the reasonableness of key inputs and
assumptions used by the management in their
estimation of recoverable amount, including
projections of cash flows and growth rate applied,;

o  MEEEEN A AIMEEERMRAEERAH
BERRHZ(PEREREEARMERAKRERE)

ERAE

° Involvement of internal expert to assess the
reasonableness of discount rate applied in the
discounted cash flow model; and

e FARBERZEFENTRBRSREREEA 2
REZFEE: &

o Comparing cash flow projections to supporting
evidence, such as projection of sales volume, and
evaluating the reasonableness of the projection
with reference to the future prospect of the
associate as well as our knowledge of the industry
and business.
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Key audit matters

BRETEE

Assessment of the appropriateness of the going

concern basis

R E B EZ B

We identified the assessment of the appropriateness of
the going concern basis as a key audit matter as it
involves subjective management judgements and
estimates based on management’ s assessment of the
Group '’ s operations in the future, availability of future
financing and market conditions.

R ERELEEE BN P REBRBEREY &
SERARZEE B ZIRRBERMRMIELZE
MREBHEMGE  NMTEHERELEEE @M
Bl BERESEE -

As set out in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, although the Group has generated a net
profit of approximately HK$608 million and positive
operating cash flows of approximately HK$2,205 million
during the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group's
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by

approximately HK$3,840 million as at 31 December 2019.
WS MBRERMT2ME - & ESEREBE_Z
—NE+A=+—-BLEFEESHEFL6.08EETL
EHEERMELN2205EET EEER-_Z—N
FHZA=+—HzZRBABEMNBLEEREEEL38.40

BT

The management of the Group believes that the Group
will continue to generate positive operating cash flows in
the coming twelve months. Taking into account the
Group ' s cash balance of approximately HK$504 million,
unutilised bank facilities which amounted to
approximately HK$1,859 million as at 31 December 2019
and an additional bank facility amounted to HK$1,520
million obtained subsequent to the year end, the
management of the Group concluded that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EERRETEE

Our procedures in relation to the assessment of the
appropriateness of the going concern basis of the Group
included:
TR
B

BB ARECEREZBYIMMET IR

o Obtaining an understanding of management’ s
liquidity assessment including the preparation of
cash flow forecast by management;

e THEEEUHRDESETZAML BREEEER
R mETEA

° Comparing the cash flow forecast against the
budget approved by the Board of Directors of the
Group and checking the accuracy of the calculation
of the cash flow forecast;

e HBEHeNREWAE BEXEEEGMMAETREET
LR - WIER &R ETEA L2 EHE

° Challenging the key assumptions in management’ s
cash flow forecast for the next twelve months
against historical performance, economic and
industry indicators, and other publicly available
information;

o REBAERR - BERTEESEUREMBARAR
AR REEBARART —EAARERERAZ
TERRBHER

o Checking the details of loan repayments in the cash
flow forecast to supporting documents, such as
borrowing agreements and repayment schedules;

e REReREVAZEHXHANERABEER 2T
& ERIBERERREE

° Agreeing the amount of unutilised bank facilities to
borrowing agreements and bank confirmations; and

. SR E) A IRTTRNE R ER(E SR pp e SRR TRERR LK —
B} R

° Assessing the appropriateness of the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.

o RESAMBREMREBRE AN -

52 Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2019



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BIAXBENRES

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. \We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BB ERES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal
control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and

the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BIAXBENRES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’'s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BB ERES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Keung To Wai, David.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
27 April 2020

56 Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2019

BB BFHGEMERRARRBZIRE

(&

E

WREREBBZEHT » ATHEWLERY
TG AV BBRRZBIRAEE - AMBKE
REFFE - NMTERBWBEEPHAZEE
B BRIFRRIERTAFACHARBEZETER
SEHRERNBERLT - IRAEBRELRITHR
THEBRFHAER ARRREBELEZ AR
M AMTRETEERETBBLFEER -

ABUCBMBREE 2 ETBEABARE

o
3y

i EE

mE e FAEMRL EETEIIT
HEEATAD

BB
Sy e S =



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ReiRakAMEEkaR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 « HZE=—ZE—hFE+-A=1+—HILLFE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
NOTES HK$°000 HK$'000
Ff & FHET T
Revenue Wzs 6 22,532,499 19,762,442
Cost of sales SHEMA (20,707,088) (17,876,889)
Gross profit EF 1,825,411 1,885,553
Other income E AU A 8 145,866 103,002
Other gains and losses Emigam 9 (20,165) (108,594)
Impairment losses under expected TEEERBERERXT 2
credit loss model, net of reversal SERE - FOkREEE (22,395) 10,073
Distribution and selling expenses D8 N B (430,027) (443,334)
Administrative expenses THEMR (318,736) (395,530)
Finance costs B E R 10 (419,129) (353,679)
Share of results of associates DR E R R FEE (23,968) (444,172)
Profit before tax TANGEF 736,857 253,319
Income tax expense FriS®if X 1 (128,693) (105,106)
Profit for the year N JE 5% ) 12 608,164 148,213
Other comprehensive expense AEEHEHMEHEAX
for the year
Items that may be reclassified AJEEREE B D EE
subsequently to profit or loss: BamIEE
Exchange differences arising on MERINEREEXZ
translation of foreign operations HNE Z=EB (222,562) (532,728)
Share of other comprehensive S AR AR AT
expense of associates (1,771) (1,654)
Other comprehensive expense REFEMPERAX
for the year (224,333) (534,382)
Total comprehensive income AEE2ENE (X)) B
(expense) for the year 383,831 (386,169)
Profit for the year attributable to: REEBAEN :
Owners of the Company FiN/NEIETZ SN 562,456 74,190
Non-controlling interests FEPERE A 2R 45,708 74,023
608,164 148,213
Total comprehensive income AFEEZEKA (BX)
(expense) for the year EERREAL
attributable to:
Owners of the Company FiN/NEIEZ SN 350,076 (431,177)
Non-controlling interests FEPERS R 33,755 45,008
383,831 (386,169)
Earnings per share BREN 16
Basic (HK cents per share) AR (FRA) 17.10 2.36
TE-NFFHR o SREBRERAA 57



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FaMBIKAR

At31December2019 « A=E—hE+=-A=+—H

NOTES
Bt

2019
—E-NEF
HK$'000
THET

2018
—F-N\EF
HK$'000
FHET

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment WE - WENERE 17 12,123,153 12,307,604
Right-of-use assets EREEE 18 521,420 -
Prepaid lease payments A FAERIE 19 - 383,123
Intangible assets EREE 20 - -
Goodwill Ba 413 413
Interests in associates RE SN AR 21 1,179,815 1,231,064
Financial assets at fair value through RE&E A AT EET R
profit or loss ZEMEE 22 5,549 10,316
Deferred tax assets EERIEEE 35 75,432 90,402
Deposits paid for acquisition of HUEDE - BRFE R
property, plant and equipment BELNETE 72,996 132,025
13,978,778 14,154,947
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories FE 23 3,974,828 3,132,622
Prepaid lease payments AN FERIE 19 - 8,685
Loan receivable FEWE X 24 - -
Trade and other receivables JRE UK BR TE % L At i R TE 25 3,735,030 5,020,366
Trade receivables at fair value through A E {th 2 W 25 LA D FEE S BR
other comprehensive income ZEWERTE 26 1,293,194 168,813
Amount due from an associate JE Uk B 2 N R R IE 28 1,348,250 1,346,194
Tax recoverable A Yk [al F T8 18,412 391
Restricted bank deposits SR IR TIF X 29 134,064 132,104
Bank balances and cash RITEGERIRS 29 503,680 1,090,379
11,007,458 10,899,554
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Trade and other payables FEATBRIE I B Ath FE AT RUIR 30 9,178,327 8,547,580
Tax payable e B 18 54,342 48,149
Bank and other borrowings, unsecured $R7T R E fthfEax - MK 32 5,215,550 7,118,297
Amount due to an associate [N A=UNSIESE] 28 129,214 -
Contract liabilities BHEE 31 251,017 112,491
Lease liabilities HEAE 33 19,048 -
Derivative financial instruments PTESBMTA 27 283 -
14,847,781 15,826,517
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEETFHE (3,840,323) (4,926,963)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEAERRBEE
LIABILITIES 10,138,455 9,227,984
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
meMEKRAR

At31December2019 « R=ZE—AF+=_A=+—8H

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TFETT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBERS
Bank and other borrowings, unsecured 4847 R EH g2k « MK 32 607,066 75,000
Bonds payable FERHES 34 373,731 850,265
Lease liabilities HEaE 33 79,813 -
Deferred tax liabilities FREFRIEEE 35 70,146 56,692
1,130,756 981,957
NET ASSETS EEFE 9,007,699 8,246,027
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXR#E
Share capital & A 36 65,785 65,785
Share premium and other reserves B& 15 % (B M B e 7,990,236 7,570,791
Equity attributable to owners of the KRARVHEE AEE#ER
Company 8,056,021 7,636,576
Non-controlling interests VAR 951,678 609,451
TOTAL EQUITY DA 9,007,699 8,246,027

The consolidated financial statements on pages 57 to 180 were EH R FES7E2 180 B LG M BWMEC R T =F
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 FHA -+t HEESFSHF RTETE - WH

April 2020 and are signed on its behalf by: ATATREEE
Lam Wai Wah Wong Pong Chun, James
MEE e
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF =
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
ReHEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 « BZE_ZE—AF+=A=+—HILLFE

Total equity
Capital attributable to Non-
Share Share Special  redemption Exchange Other Retained  ownersof  controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserves profits the Company interests
Y|
- e REAEL
e R EE RRIRE 11 SHERE Hftrte REER REEE  FEREE Ch
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T TiEn ThT TR T ThT ThL AL
(note ) (note b)
(Ffztb)
At 1 January 2018 W=F-/\§-HA-A 62,409 1,200,575 990 867 508,356 1,447,733 4,648,581 7,869,511 564,443 8433954
Profit for the year KEEHRT - - - - - - 74,190 74,190 74,023 148213
Other comprehensive expense RSB EM2ERX
for the year
— Exchange differences arising ~ — AEENERFES
on translation of foreign LIHEER
operations - - - - (503,713) - - (503,713 (29,015) (532,728
— Share of other comprehensive  — HIEEE AT R
expense of associates 2ERY - - - - (1,654) - - 1,654) - (1,654)
Total comprehensive (expense) ~ REE2TE (B WARE
income for the year - - - - (505,367) - 74190 #31177) 45,008 (386,169)
Transfer & - - - - - 28,749 (28,749) - - -
Issue of new shares BOHRG 3376 195,808 - - - - - 199,184 - 199,184
Cost of issuance of new shares ~ FTRHE/ A - (942) - - - - - (942) - (942)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\ETZA=1+-8 65,785 1,395,441 990 867 2,989 1,476,482 4,694,022 7,636,576 609,451 8,246,027
Adjustment (see note 3) EEAGER)) - - - - - - (502) (502) (15) (517)
At 1 January 2019 (restated) R-Z-NE-B-A(BES]) 65,785 1,395,441 990 867 2,989 1,476,482 4,693,520 7,636,074 609,436 8,245,510
Profit for the year TERRT o = = - - - 562,456 562,456 45,708 608,164
Other comprehensive expense  AEEHMAERT
for the year
— Exchange differences arising  — BE 5N ETRHAEE
on translation of foreign IHNEEE
operations - - - - (210,609) - - (210,609) (11,953) (222,562)
— Share of other comprehensive  — A IEB A AT
expense of associates 2ERY - - - - (1,m) - - (1.171) - (1,m)
Total comprehensive (expense) A E2M () MALE
income for the year - - - - (212,380) - 562,456 350,076 33,755 383,831

Deemed disposal of partialinterest 4 {EtE—HHBAT
in a subsidiary without losing BOREMIREE

control (see note 46} 18 (3% 46(a)) - - - - 23701 306,490 (260,320) 69,871 387,219 457,150
Transfer b - - - - - 29,544 (29,544) - - -
Dividends paid to noncontrolling 2 {32k ER RS

interests - - - - - - - - (78,792) (78,792)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NET-A=1+-8 65,785 1,395,441 990 867 (185,690) 1,812,516 4,966,112 8,056,021 951,678 9,007,699
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FeHRERR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 « HZE=—ZE—hFE+-A=1+—HILLFE

Notes:

(a)

(b)

The special reserve represents the difference between the nominal value
of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired and the nominal value of the
Company's shares issued for the acquisitions.

Other reserves comprise:

(i) the statutory surplus reserve and the enterprise expansion reserve
of the subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC") other than Hong Kong. According to the Articles of
Association of the PRC subsidiaries, a percentage of net profit as
reported in the PRC statutory accounts should be transferred to
the statutory surplus reserve and the enterprise expansion reserve
determined at the discretion of the board of directors of these
companies. The statutory surplus reserve can be set off against
accumulated losses whilst the enterprise expansion reserve can be
used for expansion of production facilities or an increase in
registered capital; and

(ii) difference between the carrying amount of interest in a subsidiary
disposed of and the consideration received arising from the
decrease in equity interest in a subsidiary.

GEX

(a)

(b)

R R A E P U BE B B A B 2 IR ) B BE AR X R RE UL
BMET 2RO EEME R ZH8E -

HiHEEE

0]

(ii)

FEhEARAMBE ([HE ) (TREEE) KL
2 M AR 2R TE B R R -
RETGEMBERARZABERAA - hEIEE
FRENERZANETAS L AEBEEEAER
BEBREERRRE  ZAOLDEZER
AZEZEMBERE A ERBRHETIEER
R MEXERFEHITANEREER
TSR I EA R

6 — B8 A B R a2 PR 1D {8 BB /B8 2 AR
AR DEEZ EWIMARERE 2 Z5HE -

“E-NEFFR o ERNEBERAE 61



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RelaRER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 « HE—ZE—hE+-A=1+—HIEFE

2019
—2—hE
HK$’000
FHT

AONES]
—E—N\F
HK$'000
F&T

OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETR
Profit before tax FRTEF 736,857 253,319
Adjustments for: R
Interest income B A (6,910) (16,842)
Interest income from an associate B & N R 2 BB A (39,621) (32,395)
Impairment losses under expected JEUBRTETE B B E 1A
credit loss model on trade receivables, TRERE - HkREE
net of reversal 33,159 1,807
Allowance for inventories, net GTEREFE 149,644 16,085
Impairment losses under expected JENE Iz BBk ERIE
credit loss model on loan receivable, TORERE - MR ER
net of reversal (10,764) (11,880)
Recovery of other receivables W [B138 1 F i3 2 Ho b
written off in previous years R FRIE - (2,851)
Depreciation of property, WE  BMENMIETE
plant and equipment 1,115,593 1,151,632
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 16,770 -
Release of prepaid lease payments FRRTER I EKIE - 6,534
Loss on disposal/write-off of property, HEMEDE - BER
plant and equipment By op- 10,449 20,665
Loss (gain) from changes in fair value of REREUAAFEENE S
financial assets at fair value through ERMEENTEE
profit or loss BEpEsia () 4,767 (4,142)
Loss (gain) on fair value changes of MESMIEQNTEE
derivative financial instruments, net BE)EE (Kx) F5E 2,824 (17,163)
Government grants AT B, (75,670) (28,767)
Share of results of associates DIREE R R FEE 23,968 444172
Finance costs B1 7% & 419,129 353,679
Dividend income from financial assets at RIBEUATEEYERZ
fair value through profit or loss TRIEEZREWA (1,563) -
Operating cash flows before movements in KRzt EEE S E A2
working capital KERERE 2,378,632 2,133,853
Increase in inventories FEEM (1,057,858) (647,257)
Decrease in trade and other receivables JiE s BR 18 1% B R U FRIE R 1,039,963 204,078
(Increase) decrease in trade receivables at fair R H M2 E AR FEBESE
value through other comprehensive income 2 FEUBRTE (3&0) J5i (1,127,267) 238,292
Increase in amount due from an associate JE Wi B i R BRI S AN (218,189) (186,222)
Increase in trade and other payables JE A BR T8 K At JRE A< R IE I 0N 974,042 81,431
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities SRBEEMCHED) 138,526 (3,180)
Increase in amount due to an associate JE (B R B SRIEIE AN 115,518 -
Government grants received for BT R B AR A S
operating activities 74,712 27,618
Settlement of derivative financial instruments &E4T4 SR T A (2,541) (105,907)
Cash generated from operations ETEEN TR 2 R 2,315,538 1,742,706
PRC withholding tax paid B8 BB (5,235) (5,203)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid B REPEREH (105,246) (107,421)
Tax paid for other jurisdictions Hitv el AR 2T (419) (916)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETHBESEE 2,204,638 1,629,166
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
ReLeaRER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 « HE_—ZE—AF+-_A=+—HLLEE

2019
—E-hE
HK$'000
FEx

2018
—F-N\F
HK$'000
THAT

INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETEE
Dividend income from financial asset at fair ~ AEZE AN FBESIR

value through profit or loss TREEZREMA 1,563 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE - BER&E (1,231,436) (1,887,896)
Advance to an associate [ElEENEIE= (73,710) (653,400)
Repayment from an associate B N BRI 300,510 47,620
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, PUIEYZE - BE K

plant and equipment BB (72,996) (132,025)
Additions of prepaid lease payments TR & FRIE L N = (45,033)
Interest received B2 UCFE 56,437 21,268
Payments for right-of-use assets HEREEEMNK (47,212) -
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEME - BEK

plant and equipment RBATE A 41,776 9,385
Placement of restricted bank deposits T ZBR IR TIER (479,715) (376,140)
Release of restricted bank deposits fRBR Z PR HIERTTIE X 477,755 374,432
Repayment of loan receivable EWEFER 10,764 11,880
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES #BEZEFFARESEE (1,016,264) (2,630,009)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEEE
Repayment of bank and other borrowings EBIRIT R EMIER (9,809,471)  (10,526,784)
Repayment of loans from an associate EEBENRIER (963,900) -
Repayment of lease liabilities EEMHERE (6,108) -
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests BRI E (78,792) -
Interest paid for bank and other borrowings B {J4R1T & E At {& 5151 & (364,368) (297,746)
Interest paid for loans from an associate BB E AR ERFE (23,311) -
Interest paid for bonds payable B EAESFE (34,731) (561,678)
Interest paid for lease liabilities ENHEGENE (260) -
New bank and other borrowings raised FriERIT R EALE R 8,562,619 9,349,994
New loans from an associate s E AR ERK 963,900 -
Repayments of bonds payable BEEMNES (807,868) -
Proceeds on issue of bonds payable BTN BARS A 337,312 -
Proceeds from deemed disposal of partial BIEHE B ARZ DR

interest in a subsidiary without losing control ] Bt 5k & 1258 HI| BEFT 15 2018 457,150 -
Proceeds from issue of new shares BTN TS RUR = 199,184
Cost of issuance of new shares D BT - (942)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEZEFFARES T (1,767,828) (1,327,972)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERBEEEREARND FHE

EQUIVALENTS (579,454) (2,328,815)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FHzReRASEEER

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 1,090,379 3,465,844
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE ERSEH X

RATE CHANGES (7,245) (46,650)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZ2ESRRESEHEER -

AT END OF THE YEAR,

represented by bank balances and cash BIRTEFELIRES 503,680 1,090,379
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M EHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 « HE—ZE—hE+-A=1+—HIEFE

64

GENERAL

Truly International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands as an exempted company. The
Company is a public limited company with its shares listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its ultimate controlling party is Mr. Lam Wai
Wah, who is also the Chairman and Managing Director of the
Company. The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the section
headed "“General Information” to the annual report.

The functional currency of the Company is United States
dollars (“US$"”). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") which is different
from the functional currency of the Company, as the directors
of the Company (the “Directors”) consider that HK$ is the
most appropriate presentation currency in view of its place of
listing.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the business of
manufacture and sale of liquid crystal display (“LCD")
products including touch panel products and electronic
consumer products including compact camera module,
fingerprint identification modules, personal health care
products and electrical devices.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In preparing the consolidated financial statements of the
Company, the Directors have given careful consideration to
the future liquidity of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) in light of the fact
that the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets
by approximately HK$3,840 million as at 31 December 2019.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group generated
a net profit of approximately HK$608 million and generated
operating cash flows of approximately HK$2,205 million. As
at 31 December 2019, total cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$504 million were held by the Group and
unutilised bank facilities amounted to approximately
HK$1,859 million were available. Subsequent to the year end,
the Group obtained an additional bank facility amounted to
approximately HK$1,520 million. In the opinion of the
Directors, the Group expects to continue to generate positive
operating cash flows in the coming twelve months.

Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 » BEZ=—ZE—h&E+=-A=+—HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Based on the aforesaid factors, the Directors are satisfied
that the Group will have sufficient financial resources to meet
in full its financial obligations as and when they fall due for
the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“"HKICPA") for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 16 Leases
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation
Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement
Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint
Ventures
Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRSs

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group's financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 “Leases”
("HKAS 17"), and the related interpretations.

FEMBRREREE 2

AERNERE  EFEMAKEKEBTR
875 B IR BB LA A) L AS SR B 2 B 7%
A Bl SRAMBHRRCRBELEE

ERHMIIEEMEREEN(FE-Y
W EER ) REERT

RAEFERFERZHITEBUBREE
B R BAERT

RAFE  AEBECERERATHEES
SHEAE ([EEGTEAR D BEM IR
B EER REERT -

BRHHREER HE

F169%
BE (BRI B®RE FrigBimig v
ZREZE®) THEE1E
— REFE23%
BBk AR BEEemERTEY
E 95 (153]) TERTFRIE
ERGEERE 199 FFEUSET - @Rk
(1&857) we
EBSTERFE 285 HREERAK
(1830 AERAZ
RHEEZ
BB kS AR BB SRS AR
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—E—+FRH
2 FEoHE

BRI EN  RAFEEBH B BN R
SREAREETHAREEANFE BEFE
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply
HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified as
leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 “Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease” and not apply
this standard to contracts that were not previously identified
as containing a lease. Therefore, the Group has not
reassessed contracts which already existed prior to the date
of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1 January
2019, the Group applies the definition of a lease in
accordance with the requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in
assessing whether a contract contains a lease.

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial application,
1 January 2019.

As at 1 January 2019, the Group recognised additional lease
liabilities and measured right-of-use assets at the carrying
amounts as if HKFRS 16 had been applied since
commencement dates, but discounted using the incremental
borrowing rates of the relevant group entities at the date of
initial application by applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(i) transition. Any
difference at the date of initial application is recognised in the
opening retained profits and comparative information has not
been restated.

When applying the modified retrospective approach under
HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the following
practical expedients to leases previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17, on lease-by-lease basis, to
the extent relevant to the respective lease contracts:

i elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for leases with lease term ends within twelve
months of the date of initial application; and

i. applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases

with a similar remaining terms for similar class of
underlying assets in similar economic environment.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously
classified as operating leases, the Group has applied
incremental borrowing rates of the relevant group entities at
the date of initial application. The weighted average
incremental borrowing rates applied by the relevant group

3. ERWMIEEMEBREEN(ETEM
HWEERN ) RAEET (&)

BERVBREENE 1657 [HEI(E)

1ERRBEA (E)
MEAMDBAKEHEZHERRBERE
- REBERAR YGRS B HEEEE
ERZEREENX - HRSEEEMER
Z KRR EEN KN F368%E
4.56% -

entities range from 3.68% 10 4.56%.

At

1 January
2019
R=ZE-—h#F

—A—H
HK$'000
Tt

Operating lease commitments disclosed as at RZZE-NF+ZA=+—HEEZ
31 December 2018 R E A 8,510
Lease liabilities discounted at relevant incremental ZMEEREEENRITECHEEE
borrowing rates 8,466
Less: Recognition exemption — short-term leases ¥ : #2290 — MR E (504)
Practical expedient — leases with lease AI{TREE 70 — HEFHRBTS
term ending within twelve months from JERABEET T EARNERZ
the date of initial application HE (1,290)
Lease liabilities relating to operating leases AR —E—NF—A—HERBEY®
recognised upon application of HKFRS 16 as at HEAF16EHERILEHE L
1 January 2019 HEaE 6,672
Analysed as DT B
Current mED 4,638
Non-current FETRED 2,034
6,672
ZE-NFFH o FEFEBERLTE 67
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 3.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

As a lessee (continued)
The carrying amount of right-of-use assets as at 1 January
2019 comprises the following:

Right-of-use assets relating to operating leases

FERBBIMGHR

ERHMIIEEMEREEN (TR
HWEERN ) RAEET (&)

BERVRREENE 165 [HEI(E)

1ERRBA (E)
EREEEN _T—NF—A—HZE@EE

LUNN

LESERI

(= AN

Right-of-
use assets

EREEE

HK$'000
TAT

|56 16 AT RE RS

recognised upon application of HKFRS 16 KEHE 2 FAEEE 6,155
Reclassified from prepaid lease payments (Note i) BB ERIBEF 54 (KHEi) 391,808
Adjustments on rental deposit at RZZE-NF—-—A—RAgHEERe

1 January 2019 (Note ii) FHEE (PHEED 57

398,020

Notes:

(i) Upfront payments for leasehold lands in the PRC were classified as
prepaid lease payments as at 31 December 2018. Upon application
of HKFRS 16, the current and non-current portion of prepaid lease
payments amounting to HK$8,685,000 and HK$383,123,000
respectively were reclassified to right-of-use assets.

(i) Before the application of HKFRS 16, the Group considered
refundable rental deposits paid as right and obligations under
leases to which HKAS 17 applied under other receivables. Based
on the definition of lease payments under HKFRS 16, such
deposits are not payments relating to the right to use of the
underlying assets and were adjusted to reflect the discounting
effect at transition. Accordingly, HK$57,000 was adjusted to
refundable rental deposits paid and right-of-use assets.
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GEE

(i)

(ii)

FEAELH MR S \F+_A
=+ BSEAMBERENE REREEY
BREEAE 165N BANBAERBEBZ RS
RIERBE D (275 7l /48,685,000 7t &
383,123,000/87L) EH DB AFEBREEE -

EREBMBHRELAFE 165 NEHE
B2 REAE RS R AR MERTIER
EBCTERF V7S ER 2 AEE NEF &
BT REEBUBRELANF16HTHE
REZEE  ZEREVIERFERAABEEZ
ER A2 A - WL AR B
ZHEFE - At ENARERERS RIE
FAHEE E % 57,0008 7T °
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 3. ERHMIIFEMBBEEN(EFEM

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING BREER ) REERT (&)
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)
HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued) ERAMEBREERE 165 [HE](£E)
Interests in associates RS AR R
The application of HKFRS 16 does not have material impact JER BB B WmEERE 1655~ & H 0B
on the carrying amount of interests in associates. AR  FEEENERTE -
The following table summarises the impact of transition of TRBMEEEE B EREERE 165
HKFRS 16 on retained profits and non-controlling interests at HRZE—NF—A—B2RE G RIEE
1 January 2019. PtEmz & -
Impact of
adopting
HKFRS 16
at 1 January
2019
R=Z—h#F
—H—H
BRE BT
2R
E165 2
ge
HK$'000
FEx
|
Recognition of the difference between BREARLERTNEAERNERECEE
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
— Retained profits — REBEF 502
— Non-controlling interests — JEIERR i 15
Impact at 1 January 2019 RZE—NF-—A—RAZ¥E 517

T NEFHR o EHEBRERAF 69
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 3.
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

ERHMIIEEMEREEN (TR
HWEERN ) RAEET (&)

BERVRREENE 165 [HEI(E)

R-T-NF-A-RAZHEEFBIRERA
R ESBEOAE TN IHAR - UM BEIXE
FEZDE -

The following adjustments were made to the amounts
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at 1 January 2019. Line items that were not affected by the
changes have not been included.

Carrying
amounts
previously
reported

at 31 December
2018

Carrying
amounts
under
HKFRS 16

at 1 January
2019

BB BT
HEEA

Adjustments

70

—E—N\F
+=A
=—[E2Z
AREA
HK$'000
TET

F165ER
—E-NF
—B—B2

BREE

HK$’' 000

F&xT

HK$'000
T

Non-current assets IRBEE

Right-of-use assets EREEE - 398,020 398,020
Prepaid lease payments B EERIA 383,123 (383,123) -
Current assets RBEE

Prepaid lease payments T HERIE 8,685 (8,685) -
Trade and other receivables JE U BR T8 I B Ath FE UL SR IE 5,020,366 (57) 5,020,309
Current liabilities REBAE

Lease liabilities HEaE - 4,638 4,638
Non-current liabilities FRBEE

Lease liabilities HEaE - 2,034 2,034
Capital and reserves BEARR#E

Share premium and other reserves %17 & (8 K E fib & 7,570,791 (502) 7,570,289
Non-controlling interests FEPE R = 609,451 (15) 609,436

For the purpose of reporting cash flows from operating
activities under indirect method for the year ended 31
December 2019, movements in working capital have been
computed based on opening consolidated statement of
financial position as at 1 January 2019 as disclosed above.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'’
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?

Amendments to HKFRS 10  Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material*

and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 9,  Interest Rate Benchmark
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Reform*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for
which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs, a
revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting was
issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in
HKFRS Standards, will be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs and the revised
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting mentioned
below, the Directors anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

ERHIEEMBREERN([FEM
HWEER ) REBRT (&)

CHEMEMRERZHTEBUBREE
B R HASET

AREBEYW BIRFRA TS EME M REK
IR BB U RE R R EAERT -

BRMBREEAF 17 RRAL

BRAMBREEA EHZER?
F 35 (B7])
ERMBREEANE 105 REEAHBENT
LEB G AERE LR
F 2858 (£7]) ZEEHERIE®
BRI ERE1RR EAZER!
ARG LA
F 83 (B7])

ERMBREERFIN - FIREERF
BEGERE 9

REBRBREES
FTHIERT

' R-ZB-—F—A— R &R FEHH
EXve

2 BRARNKBHEBA T _TF ARz
Rz BEFEHRARRERZEBAMHE
AEWHE -

¢ A E RISk 2 R Fth 2 FEHR AR o

¢ MNIZ-ZFE—-A B2 &AR 2 FEHRE
EXve

B B ¥R BB WS LR KBRS -
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R HMRER] [EFT BB HREEA+
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of
material by including additional guidance and explanations in
making materiality judgments. In particular, the amendments:

° include the concept of “obscuring” material information
in which the effect is similar to omitting or misstating
the information;

° replace threshold for materiality influencing users from
“could influence” to “could reasonably be expected to
influence"”; and

° include the use of the phrase “primary users” rather
than simply referring to “users” which was considered
too broad when deciding what information to disclose
in the financial statements.

The amendments also align the definition across all HKFRSs
and will be mandatorily effective for the Group's annual
period beginning on 1 January 2020. The application of the
amendments is not expected to have significant impact on
the financial position and performance of the Group but may
affect the presentation and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the “New
Framework”) and the Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRS Standards

The New Framework:

° reintroduces the terms stewardship and prudence;

o introduces a new asset definition that focuses on rights
and a new liability definition that is likely to be broader
than the definition it replaces, but does not change the

distinction between a liability and an equity instrument;

o discusses historical cost and current value measures,

3.

ERHIEEMBREERN([FEM
HWEER ) REBRT (&)

EREMEEREM I EBUBRESE
IR ELAER] (&)

TE-\FMBERERSER(HERD R
EREEMBRELENPHBEIER ZRE

TIESR -

° EFSIAEEMEESHE

e SIALUBMNAEH I HEEER KA
BELHFRRC EREE 2 BE
T ETEXZFEEERATAR
EHzRA

o WMEBELRANBRERE WRHA

and provides additional guidance on how to select a BN ANTEEXBBERENER
measurement basis for a particular asset or liability; 47 BINES)

o states that the primary measure of financial
performance is profit or loss, and that only in
exceptional circumstances other comprehensive
income will be used and only for income or expenses
that arise from a change in the current value of an asset

e FIMBRAZIBFERB=m X
ERFRBER T A SEAEMEEK
w REAREEXARZREE
PREEAE Z AR «

or liability; and
e  discusses uncertainty, derecognition, unit of account, o HIANHEEM C RILHER - @FHEAL
the reporting entity and combined financial statements. MEFENAHIHBRE -

Consequential amendments have been made so that
references in certain HKFRSs have been updated to the New
Framework, whilst some HKFRSs are still referred to the
previous versions of the framework. These amendments are
effective for the Group's annual period beginning on or after
1 January 2020. Other than specific standards which still refer
to the previous versions of the framework, the Group will rely
on the New Framework on its effective date in determining
the accounting policies especially for transactions, events or
conditions that are not otherwise dealt with under the
accounting standards.

EEHAERERIREE TEEMEHREE
hZ IR B RFER - AT EEMER
SEAMBEZERZER - ZFEITABZ
FoEF A BIZRRARIAREFE
HEER - BRID2RERER ZFELER
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO").

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 "Share-based Payment”,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16 (since 1 January 2019) or HKAS 17 “Leases”
(before application of HKFRS 16), and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “/Inventories” or value in
use in HKAS 36 " Impairment of Assets”.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be
used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition
the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee

if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group’s relevant components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including re-
attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and the
non-controlling interests according to the Group's and the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
associates used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group’s
share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group's interest
in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate,
any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments in associates (continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with
the associate is recognised in the Group's consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of
cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest
level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Goodwiill (continued)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount is less than
its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the
other assets on a pro rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of the
cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating
units, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the cash-
generating unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group of
cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill disposed of is
measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation
(or the cash-generating unit) disposed of and the portion of
the cash-generating unit (or the group of cash-generating
units) retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of
an associate is described above.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land and
buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes (other than
construction in progress as described below), are stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply
or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in a manner
intended by management and, for qualifying assets,
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 4. FEEEEIBR(£Z)
Property, plant and equipment (continued) M - RERREE (&)
Ownership interests in leasehold land and building REELHREFZHEERER

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented as
“right-of-use assets” (upon application of HKFRS 16) or
"prepaid lease payments” (before application of HKFRS 16)
in the consolidated statement of financial position. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease
building element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as property,
plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets (other than construction in progress) less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the reducing
balance/straight-line methods. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases

Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance
with transitions in note 3)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the
terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance
with transitions in note 3)

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of buildings that have a lease term of twelve
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term
leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance
with transitions in note 3) (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease
term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 "Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9"”) and initially measured
at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in the
cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance
with transitions in note 3) (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever the lease term has changed, in which case the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of
reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance
with transitions in note 3) (continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

° the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of
the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at
the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-
use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group as a lessee (prior to 1 January 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring
land held under operating leases, are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract
is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified
as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as a lessor (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance
with transitions in note 3)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments from lessees.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at
the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, (i) the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into US$; (i) the assets and liabilities
of the Group denominated or translated into US$ are then
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end
of the reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of the exchange reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the
related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included
in the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation
rate on general borrowings. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets
are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss
on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the
related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the state-managed retirement benefit scheme
and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as
an expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries and annual leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwvill.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits
of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Taxation (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
“Income Taxes” requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial
recognition of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised due to application of the initial
recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising from
subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of
lease liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject to
initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets including acquired technical know-how with
finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 4. FEEEEIBR(£Z)
Intangible assets (continued) BREE (&)

Internally — generated intangible assets — research and
development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development phase of an
internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the
followings have been demonstrated:

° the technical feasibility of completing the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

o the intention to complete the intangible asset and use
or sell it;

° the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

° how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

o the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or
sell the intangible asset; and

o the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

The amount initially recognised for an internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from
the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition
criteria listed above. Where no internally-generated intangible
asset can be recognised, development expenditure is
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible asset is measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any), on
the same basis as intangible assets acquired separately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-
out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)

(i)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and trade receivables
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Trade receivables classified as at FVTOCI/

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for trade
receivables classified as at FVTOCI as a result of
interest income calculated using the effective interest
method are recognised in profit or loss. All other
changes in the carrying amount of these receivables are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated under the heading of FVTOCI reserve.
Impairment allowances are recognised in profit or loss
with corresponding adjustment to other comprehensive
income without reducing the carrying amounts of these
receivables. When these receivables are derecognised,
the cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)

(iii)  Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated
as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend
earned on the financial asset and is included in the
"“other gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee contract
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade
and other receivables, trade receivables at FVTOCI, loan
receivable, amount due from an associate, restricted bank
deposits and bank balances) and financial guarantee contract
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually for debtors with significant balance and/or
collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings for the remaining trade receivables.

FESHBE @)
eWMIA(E)

EMEE(E)
EHEEZHBEREHNE (E)

(i) PEmUA AN FEEIIRS 2MEE
T ERBHEKAFTEIERE M2
A EA R FEEIIRAEREES
REMEPEREARNFEEIIEZ
BMEERNER AR FEEIRTE -

RERERAR  RBRARFEET
RzemMEERAFEEE  ME
A FEERRERERANBRHER -
RIEEERAZRRABRFETRRE
SREEMRIMZEMBRE @ Lt A
[Efb e e EE ] BAR -

RIRE BRI ER E IV ALEAT R (B FF
B2 EMEEREMEREAHE
AEEBRBE BV HRELERE R HEER
BB 2 REE (BREEIRE K E MR
FIE - REMmEERSAATFEEIIRZE
WERTA - RUE R - EURE & A RIFR - R
RERITERERITET) RMBRERELD
WIEHERBRAEAFERE - BRERE
REBENSHMEAEH - AR B 76 HER
ARz (ZEERBRES -

RS E B R IER AR T AESHFHRA
e BEENEHMEL 2 BHERIBL -
R 12 ATERERBL(121E A B
ERBX]EERENBREAK12EAR
AREBEENEHMESZ2HEHEAR
KEBD o FHE BB AREEBEEHBAL
BR(MEBAZBETARELARE) « BEL
AR TIA R A R R A 2 BB AR R R 3R
AR TR T H#ETT o

AEE-BEREURBEER 2 HBEHERE
Ko RFEEZRHRERBARGHRENZ
FEMBRIEE 1T 18 B AT A K, St H SR B U BR
ERAAREE D EZ BEEREITRER
ft7 o

“E-NEFFR o ERNEBERAE 95



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M EHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 « HE—ZE—hE+-A=1+—HIEFE

96

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee contract
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 4. FESHFEE &)
Financial instruments (continued) ERTR(E)

Financial assets (continued) EREE(B)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee contract RIBEBMBRE LR EIFAETHETT
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued) GZEHEERSHIERESHHE (F)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued) )  1EEERBEEENE)

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally
understood definitions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee contract

subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
For financial guarantee contract, the date that the Group
becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment is
considered to be the date of initial recognition for the
purposes of assessing impairment. In assessing
whether there has been a significant increase in the
credit risk for financial guarantee contract, the Group
considers the changes in the risk that the specified
debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(i) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee contract
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(a)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event,

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower'’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over three years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee contract

subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument
that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the expected losses is
the present value of the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less
any amounts that the Group expects to receive from
the holder, the debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contract for which the
effective interest rate cannot be determined, the Group
will apply a discount rate that reflects the current
market assessment of the time value of money and the
risks that are specific to the cash flows but only if, and
to the extent that, the risks are taken into account by
adjusting the discount rate instead of adjusting the cash
shortfalls being discounted.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee contract

subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater
for cases where evidence at the individual instrument
level may not yet be available, the financial instruments
are grouped on the following basis:

° Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s
trade and other receivables, restricted bank
deposits and bank balances are each assessed as
a separate group. Loan receivable and amount
due from an associate is assessed for expected
credit losses on an individual basis);

. Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

For financial guarantee contract, the loss allowances are
recognised at the higher of the amount of the loss
allowance determined in accordance with HKFRS 9; and
the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised over the
guarantee period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee contract

subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
Except for trade receivables that are measured at
FVTOCI and financial guarantee contract, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade and other
receivables and loan receivable where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account. For trade receivables that are
measured at FVTOCI, the loss allowance is recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
FVTOCI reserve without reducing the carrying amount
of these receivables. Such amount represents the
changes in the FVTOCI reserve in relation to
accumulated loss allowance.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfer the financial asset and substantially all the
risk and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of trade receivables classified as at FVTOCI,

the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
FVTOCI reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 4. FESBE &)
Financial instruments (continued) E@MITE(E)
Financial liabilities and equity SHEBERER
Classification as debt or equity NEREBHRER

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables, bank
and other borrowings, amount due to an associate and bonds
payable) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contract

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. Financial guarantee contract liabilities are initially
measured at their fair values. It is subsequently measured at
the higher of:

(i) the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

(i) the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date
when derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect of
goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication
that corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication
exists, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect of
goodwill above) (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the
Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units or the group of
cash-generating unit. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
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impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash generating unit or a group
of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which
are described in note 4, the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Critical judgment in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those
involving estimation (see below), that the Directors have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Classification of Truly (Hui Zhou) Smart Display Limited (“Truly HZ")
as an associate

Note 21 describes that Truly HZ is an associate of the Group
although the Group has 59.7% ownership interest and voting
rights in Truly HZ. Other than the Group, there are two other
shareholders in Truly HZ. The Directors assessed whether or
not the Group has control over Truly HZ based on whether
the Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of Truly HZ unilaterally. Resolutions for relevant
activities of Truly HZ require approval in shareholders’
meetings as stated in the Articles of Association of Truly HZ.
In making their judgement, the Directors considered the
requirements for shareholders’ meeting as stated in the
Articles of Association of Truly HZ, in which it states a
shareholders’ meeting cannot be held without the presence
of either one of the other two shareholders. On this basis,
the Directors concluded that the Group does not have control
but significant influence over Truly HZ because any
resolutions to be passed in shareholders’ meetings shall have
the consent from either one of the other shareholders
demonstrated by their action of being present in the
meetings. Accordingly, Truly HZ is classified as an associate
of the Group.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND 5. MBEYERAETTEENNEE
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION iR (&)

UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty HErTEEMENEERR

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Credit-impaired trade receivables are assessed for ECL
individually. In addition, the Group uses provision matrix to
calculate ECL for the not credit-impaired trade receivables
which have similar credit risk characteristics. The provision
rates are based on internal credit ratings as groupings of
various debtors that have similar loss patterns. The provision
matrix is based on the Group's historical default rates taking
into consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or
effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the Group's trade receivables and the
ECL are disclosed in notes 25 and 38(b).

AT BRHRERARGAEEREERABLZ
REER TEMBFEEAELERARZR
KA ZBER LA TABAERZEMmE
ERIR

P RRIR 2 TREAfE MR KB

IR EERE 2 B ARE T E R FHE B
K « sl - NEE(ERBERERE(E
PR\ B i AR o T 3 S RS BORUE 2 TR
FRIBZBHERER - BEXTRAGRUE
BRI TREBKAAR 2 AEME SR ARG
B BERENAEEFELENERSESE
EPET RBAMN DTS EKALE R E
BAEAERKIEZATEIEER - REHRE
REFFGEELBRMFEOEX  WEER
RHEERZ & -

FEHEREBAREBERZ GIEHTE - 5
REBEUIRE RIEERIBR ZERRH
5T 25 % 38(b) # & ©
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6.

108

REVENUE

Disaggregation of revenue from contract with customers by
types of products is analysed as follows:

W
RERBNEID 2EPEHNKEIITIT -

2019 2018
—E-hE —TN\F
HK$'000
FET

HK$°000
FERT

Sales of LCD products HERMBE T SERD 14,581,528 12,070,050
Sales of electronic consumer products HEEFHEED 7,950,971 7,692,392
22,532,499 19,762,442

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and
distribution of LCD products and electronic consumer
products. The Group recognises the revenue at a point in
time when the control of products is transferred to the
customer, i.e. when the goods have been delivered to
customer's specific location. A receivable is recognised by
the Group when the goods are delivered to the customer’s
premises as this represents the point in time at which the
right to consideration becomes unconditional, as only the
passage of time is required before payment is due. The
customers have neither rights of return nor rights to defer or
avoid payment for the goods once they are accepted by the
customers. The normal credit period is 30 to 90 days upon
delivery.

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, all
performance obligations for sales of LCD products and
electronic consumer products are for period of one year or
less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to unsatisfied performance obligations as at 31
December 2019 and 31 December 2018 are not disclosed.

Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2019
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. SEEHE
Information reported to the Company’s executive directors, RARBMITES (EBLERRE) RS
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of UHREREFERROBEEREFRRT
resource allocation and assessment of performance focuses FERIE RHEE - D EREETIRIBITH
on the sales of different types of products. Inter-segment B At - XEBEATD AMELE S
sales are charged at prevailing market rates. Thus the Group B N ERREERRELNEFEEE
is currently organised into two operating segments which are me FEENENERNT

sales of LCD products and electronic consumer products. The
information for each operating segment is as follows:

LCD products —  manufacture and distribution of LCD BEREEFEREES — HERDIHRRE
products and touch panel products FResEm M
BEERE M
Electronic — manufacture and distribution of
consumer electronic consumer products ETHEESR — BERDHETHE
products such as compact camera module, = o (Flanfi A+
fingerprint identification modules, B - FBEET
personal health care products and B - EARRE
electrical devices mREFHE)
Segment revenues and results DERFEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and REBIZEENREDHESI DS MEE
results by operating and reportable segments: DT
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE_F—-AFE+-A=+—HLEE

Electronic
LCD consumer Segment
products products total Eliminations Consolidated
] BT

BREREm HEEm PERE H )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRR TRR TRR TRR TRR

REVENUE I
External sales ANGH 14,581,528 7,950,971 22,532,499 - 22,532,499
Inter-segment sales SEREE - 238,247 238,247 (238,247) =
14,581,528 8,189,218 22,770,746 (238,247) 22,532,499
RESULT E4
Segment result NEEE 878,094 338395 1,216,489 (11,162) 1,205,327
Finance costs BHRER (419,129)
Share of results of associates D EHE4 A TS (23,968)
Unallocated expenses AOEAZ (17,782)
Unallocated other losses ROMEMER (7,591)
Profit before tax B AT Al 736,857
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. SEAEHEE)
Segment revenues and results (continued) PTEWRREE(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2018 B5E_F—/\&+_A=+—HLHEE
Electronic
LCD consumer Segment
products products total  Eliminations  Consolidated
BT
BTRER HEEM vl Eafi
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT BT THBT BT
REVENUE e
External sales ANEH 12,070,050 7,692,392 19,762,442 - 19,762,442
Inter-segment sales DEEREE - 239,302 239,302 (239,302) -
12,070,050 7,931,694 20,001,744 (239,302) 19,762,442
RESULT E+
Segment result R ES 686,423 377,164 1,063,587 (14,738) 1,048,849
Finance costs g s (353,679)
Share of results of associates D EEE& N A2 4E (444,172)
Unallocated expenses FOEHEY (18,984)
Unallocated other gains ROBEEMME 21,305
Profit before tax AR A 253,319
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the KED IR 2 GFTBUR R sT 4 it 2 R & H
same as the Group's accounting policies described in note 4. SEHBERR - SIEHEFERS A RITHR
Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment BENE  BEESEHe WBKER 916
without allocation of central administration cost including BE N NREETESR T ENFEEES (&
directors’ salaries, finance costs, share of results of BIWE MR BEUNATFEBYERZemME
associates, (loss) gain on fair value changes of derivative ENTFEEEZS (F8) ez S5 EAmHE
financial instruments and (loss) gain from changes in fair S A e fhAmEBEERREREUADEE
value of financial assets at FVTPL. This is the measure BRRFHERRZFE R E °

reported to the chief operating decision maker for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. 9BEHE A
Other information Hib &R
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE_F—N&E+_-_A=+—HLEEE

Electronic

LCD consumer
products products Consolidated

] g7

BrRBER HEEM ma
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FERT FERT FExT

Amounts included in the measure sFE D EHEFIFTELE

of segment profits: KT -
Allowance for inventories, net FERE  FHE

(included in cost of sales) (FFASHERA) 130,377 19,267 149,644
Depreciation (including amounts  #T& (BEREFEEERL

capitalised in inventories) 2 &58) 1,055,252 60,341 1,115,593
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {fHEEEITE 13,245 3,525 16,770
Loss on disposal/write off of B MEE - BE

property, plant and equipment K &iE 2 B8 9,169 1,280 10,449
Impairment losses under EEERBAEATZ

expected credit loss model, BEEE - MR ED

net of reversal 21,468 927 22,395

For the year ended 31 December 2018 BE_F—-/\F+_-_A=+—HLEE

Electronic
LCD consumer
products products  Consolidated

BEREE BF

FURNEREEm HEREM ma
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT THAT THAT

Amounts included in the measure sTE D EREFIFTEIE

of segment profits: S -
Allowance for inventories, net GFEEE F58
(included in lost of sales) (FrASHEMA) 7,871 8,214 16,085
Depreciation (including amounts ~ #TE (BEREFEEE R
capitalised in inventories) -} 876,659 274,973 1,151,632
Loss on disposal/write off of HEMEYE - BE
property, plant and equipment rEEZEE 18,178 2,487 20,665
Impairment losses under TEEEREBEERERXTZ
expected credit loss model, WIEEE - HkREE
net of reversal (10,793) 720 (10,073)
Segment assets and liabilities are not disclosed as they are HROBEERBEYIFRFEEERRSE
not regularly reviewed by chief operating decision maker. TFHIER MU EFEZSEENNEE -
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. SEAEHEE)
Geographical information wEER
The following table sets out information about (i) the Group's TR () AEEIRZEFAEE D EAIN
revenue from external customers by location of customers ERP WS K (i) AN EEILZE EFTEME 5 8
and (i) the Group's non-current assets by location of assets. RIEmEBEEMELR -

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets
SHEBEF W IREBEE
2019 2018 2019 2018

—E-hE ZT-N\F ZEBE-hE —ZT-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FABT FTER FAT

The PRC M 15,631,008 14,731,111 13,801,607 13,959,915
South Korea e 2,544,518 1,274,048 = -
Hong Kong aBH

(place of domicile) (A EE1h) 576,667 655,161 96,190 94,314
Japan =N 484,406 466,045 - -
Europe BN 1,272,751 1,352,908 = -
Others HAith 2,023,149 1,283,169 - -

22,532,499 19,762,442 13,897,797 14,054,229

Notes: Mz -

(i) Regarding revenue arising from sales to external customers in (i) SRR B EOM R E b @AM R B S E W T
Europe and others, no individual countries are material and hence = BMEMANBRKEEERGRE MU ELZT
separate disclosure is not required. T HEER o

(i) Non-current assets exclude financial assets at FVTPL and deferred (i)  SERBEETBEMERUAFEBEYIEZ €
tax assets. BMEERELERIBEELE ©

Information about major customers FEEXFEH

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years RIEFEE S A EEBEEBRERIBE10%

contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group are as ZEPIZENT

follows:

2019 2018
=E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FH FHT
|
Customer A BRI 3,594,108 4,565,832
Customer B' BE LT 3,413,367 3,255,104
1 Revenue from LCD products and electronic consumer products ! RERBBEATRERREFHEBEM I WG
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8. OTHER INCOME 8. HfkA
2019 2018
—ZE—-hEF —ZT—N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T
Other income includes: Emg AR :
Government grants (see note 42) BT ERE (RF5E42) 75,670 28,767
Compensation income BFEWA 4,846 11,372
Interest income FE U A 6,910 16,842
Interest income from an associate REBE QR ZFBWA 39,621 32,395
Rental income HeWA 9,150 11,5643
Dividend income from financial REZNAFEEYER 2
assets at FVTPL EMEEZRBIWA 1,563 -
Consultation income from an associate KA E QR ZEABA 4,996 -
Sundry income FETE LA 3,110 2,083
145,866 103,002
9. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 9. HfER

2019 2018
—B-hE —T-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000
Tz FiB

Loss on disposal/write-off of property, HEIEE - R &

plant and equipment By Sp=| 10,449 20,665
Loss (gain) from changes in fair value of ~ RIBELA AT BEETIREZ
financial assets at FVTPL CREEATEER
gEEE (W) 4,767 (4,142)
Loss (gain) on fair value changes of MESMIAEQNFEER
derivative financial instruments, net BHEE (&) F8E 2,824 (17,163)
Net foreign exchange loss HINGE 518 S 5 2,125 112,085
Recovery of other receivables written WEIRBEFEREZ
off in previous years H A U GRIB - (2,851)
20,165 108,594
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10. FINANCE COSTS 10. BM¥%EH
2019 2018
—E-hE —ZT—N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T
Interest on bank and other borrowings IRITREMERZFE 356,703 300,542
Interest on bonds payable ERMESH 2 FE 38,855 53,137
Interest on loans from an associate HENBERZAE 23,311 -
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBZNE 260 -
419,129 353,679
11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11. FRiSMBAX
2019 2018
—E-hE —ZE—N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T
Current tax: ZREAFRIE

PRC Enterprise Income Tax A1 B FTIS A 81,114 114,547
Other jurisdictions HEfba) AR 419 400
81,533 114,947
Withholding tax FEEL 11,450 14,455
92,983 129,402

Under(over)provision in prior years: BAEFERETE GBREEME)
Hong Kong a5 - (101)
The PRC =s) 7,286 (6,115)
7,286 (6,216)
Deferred tax (see note 35) EIERETE (R F7E35) 28,424 (18,080)
Income tax expense for the year KEEMEFHEX 128,693 105,106
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11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and
was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the
qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.
The Directors consider the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as
insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong
Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

Income tax arising in the PRC and other jurisdictions is
calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Pursuant to the relevant law and regulations in the PRC, PRC
subsidiaries qualified as Hi-Tech Enterprise are entitled to
15% PRC enterprise income tax. The tax rate of the other
PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

Pursuant to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law (the “EIT
Law of PRC") and the Detailed Implementation Rules,
distribution of the profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries
since 1 January 2008 to holding companies incorporated in
Hong Kong is subject to the PRC withholding tax at the
applicable tax rates of 5% to 10%.

1. FRRRAX (&)

RZBE-NF=ZA-+—HB FELEGE
BT EFHRHBER]) (F75%) GHIESR
(MEPIFEZ]) - SIAMBBIFISHEHE -
BOERER —_T-NF=ZA-+\BREX
RERYNBATEER - REMAHIFGE
HMEGE fEREEERE2ARE LA
M128.26% < iR EH - MEBE2HEL
T2 MR 16.6% 2 REHH - TRHAEM
RFEFEHEFEER ZEEER 28N
HEIZ165% 28— THERB - EERR
EiemAGINSREGEMESSBEGRE
PBHREMELTERN - BENGH I
EFEAE RS IZH R16 5% °

R B R B BUA R R E L Z P S TR AR
AVERER 2 RITHRGTE

RIEFREREENIER  FEammEit
FXEWRPENBRARIMZERETEMG
HEAE15% HFBEWEB AR 2B XA
25% °

BRETPHRCEMFRE(HEEEMRSH
R RERGHAR B -FTENF-A—
B - AR E ML ZER AR DK
BB A R REVZ S A BIR 6% E10% 2
R R G BRI
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 11. FABRAXZ (&)
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the REEFZHEHAYEGSEZMEMEE
profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or Wz 2 MADE A2 EARIAT -

loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2019 AONRS]
—E-hEF —FE-N\EF
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Profit before tax A& A 736,857 253,319
Add: share of results of associates mn: DI E N R EE 23,968 444172
760,825 697,491
Tax at the average income tax rate of RIS E15.35%
15.35% (2018: 14.52%) (Note i) (ZE—N\F  14.52%) iRHH
(B3ED) 116,822 101,276
Tax effect of expenses not deductible DA H 2 BRI &
for tax purpose 48,220 48,053
Tax effect of income not taxable DARBRBRAZ BB 2
for tax purpose (24,953) (14,701)
Under{over)provision in respect of BEFERETR (BREERE)
prior years 7,286 (6,216)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIERTRIG R 2 G & 218 834
Utilisation of tax losses not recognised B ARERT IS EE (3,953) (26,929)
Withholding tax on undistributed earnings 1 BIMi B A 5k 2R &F| 2 FEMNFEL
of PRC subsidiaries 11,850 10,239
Withholding tax on interest income FEWA 2 B 9,365 14,455
Underprovision of withholding tax in FEfBARBEFED DIRAT
respect of PRC subsidiaries on ZIEMBREETE
distributed earnings in prior years 2,085 -
Tax relief related to additional tax deduction 3 K 5t Ffr 2 4= B 95 B L 45
on research expenses incurred (Note ii) BEHMOTL 2 RIS B (HT =) (39,084) (19,017)
Others Hity 837 (2,888)
Income tax expense for the year KEEMEFRHEXL 128,693 105,106

Notes: PiE -

(i) The average income tax rate for the year ended 31 December 2019 (i) BE_Z—hEr_Z-N\F+-_A=+—H
and 2018 represents the weighted average tax rate of the 1\EFE 2 FH RS T R AR R T % F AR 3
operations in different jurisdictions on the basis of the relevant BERFARBEEBIBERFE 2 TRRNARERER
amounts of profit before tax and the tax rate of the relevant entities EB 2 METHTEX -

for the year.

(i) Pursuant to relevant law and regulations, the PRC subsidiaries are (i)  REBEEAEEZRER BE_ZT-—NER=T
entitled to additional tax deduction on qualifying research and —NE+ZA=+—HILFE  FRWBLAF
development costs expenditures for the year ended 31 December BESREERMERAFAZZH BB
2019 and 2018. e
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12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 12. FEERF

Profit for the year has been arrived at
after charging:

RER G M IIRNGE AT
BIRRER

2019
—E-NF

HK$'000
TET

2018
—ET-N\EF
HK$'000
T

Auditor’s remuneration 1% EREN N & 4,000 3,200
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses TR B Y 7 T &M A 19,748,404 17,194,741
Allowance for inventories, net FEREFEGIAHEERAN)
(included in cost of sales) 149,644 16,085
Research expenses (included in TR (B ASEERA)
cost of sales) 809,040 666,063
Depreciation of property, plant and WE - BEMRETE
equipment (including amounts (BERFEERNbz28)
capitalised in inventories) 1,115,593 1,151,632
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 16,770 -
Expenses related to short-term leases WREHEE Y 12,621 -
Operating lease rental in respect of HEMEZLLHEHNES
rented premises - 13,299
Release of prepaid lease payments BEBRTE(T IR EFIE - 6,534
Staff costs, inclusive of directors’ BT
remuneration (note 13): BIEESEHE (HiE13)
Salaries and other benefits e MEMBEF 1,479,348 1,704,709
Contributions to retirement benefit RINEAFT BT
scheme 112,319 135,441
1,591,667 1,840,150
Impairment losses under expected credit ~ ¥&H#{Z B &R X I8 TREEE
loss model, net of reversal R #E (O]
Trade receivables FEUBR 1B 33,159 1,807
Loan receivable FEME K (10,764) (11,880)
22,395 (10,073)
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 13. EERTTHARME
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, BIEBA LTBRAEARIEHIFEEENES
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and CO, is RITHBEE 2w T
as follows:
2019 —E-hE
(a) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (a) BITE=

Wong Cheung
Lam Pong Chun, Ma Song Dai Wing
Wai Wah James Wai Tong BeiBei Cheng Yun  Cheung Total

i Bk KRE RAR WARE RE# A
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TEn TEr TEx FEx TEx  FEr  TEx

Fees ws = = - - - - -
Other emoluments: Hidg
Salaries and other benefits R ] 3,999 1,919 1,803 1,066 137 1,053 10,577
Performance related incentive ~ BXBEH 7 #4
payments (note) (Fir3E) 23 312 290 - - 85 930
Contributions to retirement RINEFIE BT
benefit scheme - 36 18 12 12 18 96
Sub-total gt 4,242 2,267 2,111 1,078 749 1156 11,603
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above LT ATEE M T ZERES
were mainly for their services in connection with the ERARRD A R A S B EHEFR R
management of the affairs of the Company and the Bze o
Group.
(b) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (b) BWIAFHMITESE
Chung Ip Cho
Kam Ting, Heung
Kwong Spencer Kai Sing Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TER TERT THET
|
Fees ok 264 132 132 528
Other emoluments: Hitnf ¢ -
Salaries and other benefits & K EMEF| - - - -
Performance related MERBH S

incentive payments = = - -
Contributions to retirement  R{KIEHET 2%
benefit scheme = - - _

Sub-total INET 264 132 132 528
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 13. EERTTREREME &)
REMUNERATION (continued)
2019 (continued) —E-hF#E)
(b) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued) (b) BILEMITEE(E)
The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments FHATREYINTEE M EE
shown above were mainly for their services as AEEMETEERIERRE M -
Directors.
HK$°000
FE T
Total for all directors in 2019 ZE-NFRRBEEEE 12,131
2018 —E-N\EF
(a) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (a) BITE=E

Wong Cheung
Lam PongChun,  Cheung Ma Song Dai Wing
Wai Wah James  TatSang  WaiTong BeiBei ChengYun  Cheung

BAR  ®EE  BBE  RER EAE BRE

ANR=
HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HKS'000  HK$'00

Tin  TEn ‘ . TEr T T T
(Note i) (Note i
(FrEi)
Fees e - - - - - - - -
Other emoluments: Hidi4
Salaries and other benefits EeRAMER 3995 1,914 2,159 256 148 106 141 8719
Performance related incentive BRERN 78S (W)
payments (note) 1,780 156 175 21 - - 24 2,156
Contributions to retirement RIVRTI &R
benefit scheme 6 36 31 3 2 1 3 82
Sub-total et 5,781 2,106 2,365 280 150 107 168 10,957
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above FHATRATEE NS TEARES
were mainly for their services in connection with the HERARARAKEEEHRRER
management of the affairs of the Company and the Hze o
Group.
Notes: Mg
(i) Mr. Cheung Tat Sang resigned as an executive director of (i REAEER_ZT-N\F+—ANBE
the Company on 8 November 2018. ERARRITES -
(i)~ Mr. Ma Wai Tong, Mr. Song Bei Bei, Mr. Dai Cheng Yun and iy BEELE REBX4E BREALE
Mr. Cheung Wing Cheung were appointed as executive MREHEEERZT—\F+—ANR
directors of the Company on 8 November 2018. BETRBRNARNITES °
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION (continued)

2018 (continued)
(b)

13.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

EERTHARNS &)
—B-N\F#E)
(b) FEHTES

Li Jian Hua
iR

Total
kL]
HK$'000
T

HK$'000
THETT

Fees we - -
Other emoluments: HEme -
Salaries and other benefits HeMEMEF 1,930 1,930
Performance related incentive BRI 7 e (fF)
payments (note) - -
Contributions to retirement RIREFIFTEI AR
benefit scheme 8 8
Sub-total N 1,938 1,938

The non-executive director's emolument shown above
was mainly for his service as Director of the Company
or its subsidiary. Mr. Li Jian Hua resigned as a non-
executive director of the Company on 8 November

LARRFERATEFTCHMEEZ /K
REFRARBFXEMBRAREERIR
TR 2ME FTREEEN_-Z
—N\F+—ANBBEARBIIERTT

2018. BFo
(c) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS () HIIEMITEE
Chung Ip Cho
Kam Ting, Heung
Kwong Spencer Kai Sing
kb EH= BRI
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT FHET
Fees we 264 132 132 528
Other emoluments: HEme -
Salaries and other benefits ~ ¥7¢ R E A 1@F| - - - -
Performance related MERIBEEZ #E
incentive payments - - - -
Contributions to retirement R K@ FIEH 2 2
benefit scheme - - - -
Sub-total /Net 264 132 132 528
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13.

14.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION (continued)

2018 (continued)

(c) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)
The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were mainly for their services as
Directors.

13.

EFRTTHEEME (&)

—E-NF(#E)

(c) WUFNTES(H)
ERMARBIFRTEEIMETE
REEFRETESHRERB 2B -

HK$'000
THETT

Total for all directors in 2018

—E-N\FEREFE

13,423

Note: The performance related incentive payments are based on
the remuneration approved by the remuneration committee
for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

Mr. Lam Wai Wah is also the Chief Executive of the Company
and his emoluments disclosed above include those for
services rendered by him as the Chief Executive.

Neither the Chief Executive nor any of the Directors waived
any emoluments during the years ended 31 December 2019
and 2018.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year
included three (2018: two) directors and the chief executive,
details of whose remunerations are set out in note 13 above.
Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining two
(2018: three) highest paid employees who is neither a director
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

14.

HiSE  ERBMG Y B HREBE -2 N
ER-FB—\F+-A=t—RILER
FHMEBRIEZ MEEE -

MEEREMASRNRBITRAE - TR LEX
BT e BB RIERITRAE R RHIR
ZBE -

BE_T - NER-F\F+-A=1—
AIEFE - BETRAAITMESHER
BUEAIE -

LEEETHER

FA - ARERERSFHEESRE=R(Z
T-N\F: MREFRITRES  HHE
FHBEEN EXMEE13 FR - BRTIWRA(Z
T-N\F: ZR)RFEFTFARATR
mEzREHREEZMEFBENOT -

2019
—E-hF

2018
—F-N\F
HK$'000
THAT

HK$"000
FERT

Salaries and other benefits e MEMmETR 7,331 6,606
Performance related incentive payments  EEFRIFHME ~ 4 136 350
Contributions to retirement benefit scheme & /i@ Fll 5+ 24 2 28 63
7,495 7,019
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14. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000

1,500,001 8 7L 2,000,000 7 7T
2,000,001 /7T % 2,500,000 78 7T
2,500,001 /7T E 3,000,000 %8 7T

14. hEREHFMER &)
EHEEME 22BN T ¢

2019
—E-NEF

Number of

employee
EEHE

- ]

2018
—F-N\F
Number of

employee

BEZH

HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 /87T E 3,500,000 7T -
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 /87T % 4,000,000 7T - -
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 8 7% 4,500,000 % 7T 1 -

15. IR

ARRWER —F - NFIRNREIRMEM
B BREHRUARTEZREMRE (=
TN\FE) -

15. DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company for
2019, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of
the reporting period (2018: nil).

16. EARNINGS PER SHARE 16. BSEREF
BREAERNTIRE T BIRE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on
the following data:

Earnings B

2019 2018
—E-NEF

—E—)N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#xT FHTT

Earnings for the purposes of basic RUGTESRERZF 2 ZF
earnings per share
Profit for the year attributable to

owners of the Company

ARRIEE ARG E 5T
562,456 74,190

Number of shares BHEE

RN ESRERRN 2
it SO SRS) e S

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purposes of
basic earnings per share

3,289,229 3,145,896

MR REFE L EEED BT B - 8
B2)|SREEAT -

No diluted earnings per share is presented as there were no
potential ordinary shares in issue for both years.
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

17.

WE - BEREMR

Leasehold Furniture,
land and fixtures and ETEN Motor Construction
buildings  equipment  machinery vehicles in progress Total
HELH HR - £E
RkEF K#fE HERES bt hRIE ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TET TET TET TET
cosT KA
At 1 January 2018 n-Z-\E—-F—-H 1,656,926 1,720,424 13,851,113 38,818 1,866,455 19,123,736
Currency realignment B (71,446) (86,749) (767,822) (1.431) (135,967)  (1,063,415)
Additions RE 54,877 114,272 1,030,293 9,229 1,068,592 2,267,263
Disposalsfwrite off e/ - - 91,504) 1,076) - (92,580)
Transfers R - - 116,095 - (116,095) -
At 31 December 2018 WZB-ET-A=t-8 1640367 1747947 14138175 45540 2,662,985 20,235,004
Currency realignment ERRR (27,891) (36,097) (307,300) 451) (19,613) (391,352)
Additions RE 1,060 109,881 498,758 1,812 586,877 1,198,388
Disposalsfwrite off HE /i - ) 159,901 (10,355) - (170,259)
Transfers R - - 138,151 - (138,151) -
At 31 December 2019 WZE-AF+-F=+t—-H 1613526 1,821,728 14,307,883 36,546 3,092,098 20,871,781
DEPRECIATION wE
At 1 January 2018 W_E-\E-A—H 411,637 861,517 5,929,186 31,688 - 7,233,928
Currency realignment EBRE (15,571) (46,702) (332,291) (1,066) - (395,630)
Provided for the year FERE 42,567 124,291 979,961 4813 - 1,151,632
Eliminated on disposals/ write off 1 /4 3543 - - (61,717) (813) - (62,530)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F+-A=1-H 438,533 939,106 6,515,139 34,622 - 7,927,400
Currency realignment EBRE (7,167) (21,086) (147,697) (381) - (176,331)
Provided for the year FERE 4414 149,172 920,685 1,595 - 1,115,593
Eliminated on disposals/ write off 1€ /#3543 - 2) (113,925) (4,107) - (118,034)
At 31 December 2019 R-Z-NE+-F=1-H 475,507 1,067,190 7,174,202 31,729 - 8,748,628
CARRYING VALUES EHE
At 31 December 2019 RZE-AF+ZF=+—-H8 1138019 754,538 7,133,681 4817 3,092,098 12,123,153
At 31 December 2018 WZE-)\F+ZA=+t—-8 1201,824 808,841 7,623,036 10,918 2,662,985 12,307,604

The cost of leasehold land and buildings is depreciated over
forty years or the terms of the respective leases, whichever
is the shorter, using the straight-line method.

The other items of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are depreciated on a reducing
balance method at the following rates per annum:

10% to 20%
11% to 15%
25% to 30%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Plant and machinery
Motor vehicles

- =
—=

MET BT ZRAABREADL+F4
PR X HEFHUUBEERE)NE -

Hib¥% - BELRERE (EETRERN)
ABRERIRIRUE - AT FRAEITE -

BRI BB NERE 10% %= 20%
= K i 2 1% ZE15%
RE 25% = 30%
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18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. ERERE

Leasehold Land and Plant and
land buildings  machinery Total

METH LTHRET RS

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FTAT FAT FAET
As at 1 January 2019 R=-Z-h&—-HA—AH
Carrying amount REE 391,808 6,212 - 398,020
As at 31 December 2019 R-B-AE+=-A=+—8H
Carrying amount REE 418,207 5,324 97,889 521,420
For the year ended HEZ-_E-NE+=A
31 December 2019 =t+—HILEEE
Depreciation charge meEx 11,537 4,423 810 16,770
Expense relating to short-term WREHBAE R
leases and other leases R ERAE A B ®RE
with lease terms end within #ERIE 1650 E B st
twelve months of the ToERAKLE L
date of initial application of HifE Y
HKFRS 16 12,621
Total cash outflow for leases BEZ@ASRN (66,201)
Additions to right-of-use NEFAREE
assets 150,698
For both years, the Group leases various offices and plant and REZMEFE  NEEHEBZENQER#E
machinery for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into RELEME I HEGOZEAEFHA
for fixed term of 13 months to 5 years. Lease terms are 1I3AAESFAIE - MEGR IR ERIE%E
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of R - BEE— RITRGR G - £
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term EHEF ARG AT HEEHREE - AEE
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the EAEHNs TR WETHRGATEHNZ
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the HAfE o

period for which the contract is enforceable.
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18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) 18. (EHEESEE &)
In addition, the Group owns several industrial buildings where N REBHEELZETIEEF(EAER
its manufacturing facilities are primarily located and office WFTFEML) Rt AKIE - KREBAZSEME
buildings. The Group is the registered owner of these BN (PERERE L) 2 5B HEA A - %
property interests, including the underlying leasehold lands. EEEMEIHET IO BB A
The leasehold land components of these owned properties Al SEN B Z MK e

are presented separately as the payments made can be
allocated reliably.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for various AEFTFTHRZERAEARKE R#S:T
offices and plant and machinery. As at 31 December 2019, VEHEE - R_E—hLhE+_A=+—
the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of B RHAEHREs R AHEERI N2
short-term leases to which the short-term lease expense REXEBEZEHAEAESHESE -

disclosed in note 12 and above.

19. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 19. MfHHEAREA

2018
—ZE—)N\F

HK$'000
TAT

The Group's prepaid lease payments comprise: NEFBENEEFTIBERTE

Land use rights in the PRC ERRE 2 - A 391,808

Analysed for reporting purposes as: PIEREMDITAOT
Non-current asset EREEE 383,123
Current asset REVEE 8,685
391,808
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20.

21.

126

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. EEEE
Technical
know-how
HK$'000
TFETT
cosT B
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018 and RZZE-—NFE—H—A8"
31 December 2019 —2-N\F+ZA=+—HBK
—E-AF+-HA=+—H 23,230
AMORTISATION #eH
At 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018 and RZZE-—NF—HA—AK
31 December 2019 —2-N\F+ZA=+—HBK
—E-NE+-_A=+—H 23,230
CARRYING VALUES FREE
At 31 December 2019 RZE—hhEF+=-A=+—H” -
At 31 December 2018 RZE—-N\F+_A=1+—H -
Technical know-how are amortised on a straight-line basis WMTE RS T A B G LS - A E AN
over four years. F o
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 21. REBEATINIES
2019 AONES]
—E-hEF —EFE-N\EF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TFETT
Cost of investments — unlisted WEKA —IELET 2,574,599 2,574,599
Share of results and other comprehensive &5 248 Mk E b 2 M
expense (1,274,575) (1,248,836)
Exchange difference arising on translation 1R & & 4~ HMNE =8 (120,209) (94,699)
1,179,815 1,231,064
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21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 21. RERRELTFINER &)
Details of the Group's associates at the end of the reporting REBNHEBR ZBE AT BN :

period are as follows:

Place of Principal Proportion of
Form of incorporation/ place of Class of ownership interest
Name of entity entity registration  operation shares held by the Group Principal activities

AMEL, IREE AEERALZ

RRLR L1 520 BRuE R RGEH Fre R IERH
2019 2018

Truly HZ Incorporated The PRC The PRC Registered 59.7%* 59.7%*  Development and production
EREM i1z i i capital (Note i) [Note)  of active-matrix organic
FREE (&) (M) light-emitting diode and
LCD products
FEREERRERAR
BR_BERARE
BREEm
MMBIAEAERRE  Incoporated  The PRC The PRC Registered 11.8%* 11.8%*  Development and production
(MMl Ry i i capital (Note ii) (Notei)  of intelligent camera
HMER (Wagin)  (FeEi) HEREERSAK
Truly (Renshou) High-end Incorporated The PRC The PRC Registered 7.1%* 7.1%*  Development and production
Display Technology & ffAX iz i # capital (Noteiii)  (Noteii)  of LCD products
Limited (“Truly RS") AR (Wiakiii)  (PaEiil) HEREERRBENE
BH(CR) BRBRRHR Em
BRRA(ENCES))
* Rounded to one decimal point for disclosure purpose. * BLEE B LS RAZSNEEE —EA -
Notes: BT
(i) According to the Articles of Association of Truly HZ, shareholders’ (i) WEEMNEMNBESIZME] - TN EEHAR
meeting cannot be held without the presence of either one of the ZRBEEA—ZHENER TRITIREARE -
other two shareholders. The Directors consider that the Group BEEREAEZGERT  REBESH NI &
does not have control but only significant influence over Truly HZ e BEEATE S REMREREAS
under such a term because any resolutions to be passed in AR R ERESRREER —ZEE
shareholders’ meetings shall have the consent from either one of @HLKRAE - Bt - EREMNSEARE
the other shareholders demonstrated by their action of being B /NI

present in the meetings. Truly HZ is therefore classified as an
associate of the Group.

(il The Group is able to exercise significant influence over 41/ & 4T &} i) ARAREARRENNELF 2 AMEE
1 because it has the power to appoint one out of five directors of MART - RESERXZARAEESEZ
UM & ST BHE under the Articles of Association of 471 )i 2 4T B 4% BARRE R M B AR T R AR ES -
where the relevant activities of i /I & #I %} #% is directed by the AN B R RSB EF R £ -

board of directors.
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21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) . REEAFNER &)

Notes: (continued) MisE : (48)

(i)~ The Group has significant influence over Truly RS by virtue of the (i) WAEFCER RS $§@¥‘ﬂ§ﬂﬁ
substantial voting right of 67.1% granted to the Group in the first EEEAYES  BEEEALEGEFC
ten years since the incorporation of Truly RS in 2017, as stated in MA S+ F 67 1%Ej§&mﬁé °
the shareholders’ agreement of Truly RS. Other than the Group, BAREEI - ERCEEEEMRLIRE - 1B
there are two other shareholders in Truly RS. According to the BEFCENASSIRME  TEEESRME
Articles of Association of Truly RS, shareholders’ meeting cannot REER—ZHENER TRTREAS - &
be held without the presence of either one of the other two ERAEZIESRT  NEESH{EF S e
shareholders. The Directors consider that the Group does not have IR BB ATE S ERBAATEEE
control but only significant influence over Truly RS under such a BEBREASTERFARNKREAS HE
term because relevant activities of the associate is directed BHASRARESRREE R —ZEYFEeS
through shareholder’s meeting and any resolutions to be passed in KERES - Fitt 0 SFCE5H 5 AN E @
shareholders’ meetings shall have the consent from either one of BT o

the other shareholders demonstrated by their action of being
present in the meetings. Truly RS is therefore classified as an
associate of the Group.

Summarised financial information of material EABREQRTANUBENHRE
associates
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's BRAAEBEREE NN BEREE
material associates is set out below. The summarised §IJZZEI‘|T o T ERME BI5RBE B
financial information below represents amounts shown in the MEERFT R & QRS wMER AT RE
associates’ financial statements prepared in accordance with o
HKFRSs.
All of these associates are accounted for using the equity s SN T AR AR
method in these consolidated financial statements. SEPIEHRERALR -
Truly HZ ERE M
2019 2018
—E-hF  —F\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T
|
Current assets MEEE 893,061 762,538
Non-current assets ERBEE 4,967,503 5,358,061
Current liabilities mEAE 3,678,099 2,704,731
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 1,307,474 2,493,696
Revenue s 1,753,802 826,806
Loss for the year NEEFBE (25,256) (747,252)
Other comprehensive expense for the year A FE 12X (2,967) (2,771)
Total comprehensive expense for the year AN € &M 2% (28,223) (750,023)
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21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 21. RERRELTFINER &)
Summarised financial information of material EABEQNTNMEERBE &)
associates (continued)
Truly HZ (continued) f=REM(E)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information LB E R B RS WIS RRANERR
to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate B AR REESEREAT

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-N\EF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET TFETT

Net assets of Truly HZ EH =N E EFE 874,991 922,172
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 7R B A R =M B

interest in Truly HZ FFr 78 1 e 7 tE 171 59.7% 59.7%

522,404 550,573

Goodwvill EES 85,912 87,762
Carrying amount of the Group's interest RNEB R ZFEMNE

in Truly HZ EEAEREE 608,316 638,335

Truly RS BEHIZE

2019 AONKS]

—E-hEF —ET-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FETT

Current assets MEVE E 2,124,191 1,582,628

Non-current assets IERBEE 9,303,851 6,833,228

Current liabilities mEasE 1,333,953 449,854

Non-current liabilities IERBEE 2,315,332 -

Loss and total comprehensive AEEEIEBREEMAY B
expense for the year (19,723) (4,891)
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21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 21. RERRELTFINER &)
Summarised financial information of material EABEQNTNMEERBE &)
associates (continued)
Truly RS (continued) =R (&)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information LB E R B RS WIS RRANERR
to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate B AR REESEREAT

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2019 AONRS]
—E-hEF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FA&TT
Net assets of Truly RS ENCSEEFRE 7,778,757 7,966,002
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBREFCER
interest in Truly RS A ez L Bl 7.1% 71%
Carrying amount of the Group's REBREFCER
interest in Truly RS R EREE 555,626 569,000
Summarised financial information of an associate FEAEE QRN EERBE
which is not material
BN B MR M B TR

2019 AONRS]
—E-hE —T\F

HK$°000 HK$'000
FiB FBTT

The Group's share of (loss) profit and total NS B E(L (E5318) @7 &

comprehensive (expense) income 2H (FxX) WAL (7,481) 2,316
Carrying amount of the Group's REBRIEE A RN EZR
interest in the associate FRmEE 15,873 23,729
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22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 22. RIRBLUAFREIRZEMEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2019 2018

—g-hnE -2 )\F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET T

Listed equity shares in Hong Kong (Note) A& B F 2 x5 (BiEr) 5,549 10,316
Note: The investment represents equity interest in a company with its Py aE - EZ\&E?EE@*F‘%QETZHQZ}K%E& AP
shares listed on the Stock Exchange, which is stated at fair value. 1/7}?/\‘\#Xﬁﬁiﬁ7— ’ jﬁ;;@$f§1§@ﬁ§ o LK
The fair value of listed equity security is determined based on TﬁﬁZQ$EEE3§ﬁE§§#X%FﬁFﬁﬁZ
quoted market bid price available from the Stock Exchange. During T BREABEBE - Etf::g: NLEF+ :E
the year ended 31 December 2019, a fair value loss of f+_5¢$g ’ Q$E{EE§{?4767'000{%
HK$4,767,000 (2018: a fair value gain of HK$4,142,000) has been 7_E<:f§:{\f P AV (E{EYE4,142,00078

recognised in profit or loss. L) BRI R ©
23. INVENTORIES 23. 8

2019 2018

—®-nE —T-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET T

Raw materials R 1,857,128 1,273,907

Work in progress TR 685,787 1,156,674

Finished goods RIBK Sh 1,431,913 702,041

3,974,828 3,132,622

24. LOAN RECEIVABLE 24. WSS
2019 2018
—E-hEF —FN\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Interest-free loan receivable % BB E K - 10,764
Less: Allowance for credit losses B S RIB K EE - (10,764)
During the year ended 31 December 2019, an amount of HE_Z-—hhE+-_A=+—HIFE B2
approximately HK$10,764,000 (2018: HK$11,880,000) has W BN R IB 4910,764,0008 T ( =& — )\ £F :
been received and accordingly the amount is recognised in 11,880,000/87T) * Rtk BE N IERHE
profit or loss as a reversal of credit losses for loan receivable. RAREWER(ZABLRERD -
As at 31 December 2018, the loan receivable of R-ZZE—-—NF+_A=+—"8"' B¥
HK$10,764,000 had been past due 90 days or more and was 10,764,00078 7L 2 FE UK & 71 B #1 B3 90 H 5
considered as in default. The Directors considered the N ERRAEBEELN - EFREZNIEE IR
amount as credit-impaired. ZERE -
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25.

132

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

25. FEMIRRIA R R fihFE U R IR

2019
—E-NF

2018
—ZE—N\F
HK$'000
T

HK$'000
TET

Trade and bills receivables UL BRIE N R U ZE i 3,773,869 4,928,290
Less: Allowance for credit losses W ERBKEE (612,719) (586,447)
3,161,150 4,341,843

Other receivables, deposits and H W EIE - e RIBNRUE
prepayments 578,059 682,702
Less: Allowance for credit losses W EREKEE (4,179) (4,179)
573,880 678,523
Total trade and other receivables YRR T8 % E B W R IE 48 58 3,735,030 5,020,366

As at 31 December 2019, 31 December 2018 and 1 January
2018, the gross amount of trade receivables from contracts
with customers (including trade receivables at FVTOCI (note
26)) amounted to HK$5,067,063,000, HK$5,097,103,000 and
HK$4,969,619,000 respectively.

The Group allows a credit period ranging from 30 to 90 days
to its trade customers.

Included in the other receivables are other PRC tax
recoverable of HK$140,970,000 (2018: HK$172,532,000).

The Group's trade and bills receivables that are denominated
in currencies other than functional currencies of the relevant
group entities are set out below:

Denominated in HK$ LB TTEHE
Denominated in Euro AR TEHE

R-E-NF+-A=+—H —ZZT—N\F
+ZA=F+—BE=ZZE—N\F—A—H XK
BEEFEHNZEREE(BERNEMEMI
@A AT EESY R BRI (F13E26)) 42
B 9 Bl A5,067,063,000/8F T
5,097,103,000 7% 7t & 4,969,619,000 /& 7T °

AEEBRTHESEFZEEHNTI0E
90T EF -

Hfth & W SR TR 0 B2 4 L A R U Bl AR B IR
140,970,000 8 7T( = — \4F : 172,532,000
BIT) °

AEENABEEEBNREERAIINZER
B2 RUSRA R BN REHINT

2019 PAONES]
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THETT
3,934 14,932

37 37
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 25. BEWIRRR KEERIN (&)

The following is an aged analysis of trade and bills receivables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the
reporting period, net of the allowance for credit losses at the
reporting date:

K& B2 YRR & BRI (X s
RERBEZAHE7)) BIERBRBEEZ KK
DT

2019 2018

—2-hE —2-NF

Trade Bills Trade Bills
receivables receivables Total receivables receivables Total
ElERE EREE % FEUERITE  EWREE BET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE  TET  TER TR TAT TER
Within 60 days 60HA 2,100,297 5,789 2,106,086 2,989,436 - 2,989,486
61 to 90 days 61290H 713,932 - 713,932 968,389 - 968,389
More than 90 days #8890 H 341,132 - 341,132 383,968 - 383,968
3,155,361 5,789 3,161,150 4,341,843 - 4,341,843

As at 31 December 2019, included in the Group's trade NZEBE-NF+_A=1+—H0 A&EEfE

receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$569,149,000 (2018: HK$465,255,000) which
are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due
balance, HK$129,071,000 (2018: HK$192,242,000) has been
past due over 90 days or more and is not considered as in
default based on good repayment records for those
customers and continuous business relationship with the
Group.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in note 38.

U B T8 45 4 R B2 4E 42 BR T {E & 569,149,000
BT (= Z — )\ : 465,255,00078 7T) 2 E
R - ZEFERREAEBE - BB
4 82 H A 129,071,000 T( — & — )\ :
192,242,000 70) E i@ #BER @90 H A I
BERZSEP ZEFGHRIT RISEEA
SEAEFTREAE  WEERR AR
17 o

JFE Ui BR T8 % H At B U RUE 2 R B R s B &
RFE38 -
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26. TRADE RECEIVABLES AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

26. REMZEKGZLAFREIIRZE

W RRIR

2019 PAONES]

—®-nE —TN\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T

Trade receivables FEURBRTE 1,289,128 31,848
Bills receivables U= 4,066 136,965
1,293,194 168,813

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables at
FVTOCI presented based on the invoice date at the end of
the reporting year:

/7

RBEFRIZEEAH2NNE M2 EKR
AR FEES IR 2 I8 W AR IR 2 Bk ik 2 4T 10

e

=

2019 2018

—E-NF —E-N\F

Trade Bills Trade Bills
receivables receivables Total receivables receivables Total
FEkERE ERRE &% JEUERIE KRR B&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT THET FHET TR FHBT TR
Within 60 days 60 HIA 1,176,506 1,227 1,177,733 29,663 114,300 143,963
61-90 days 61£290H 111,430 488 111,918 2,185 10,053 12,238
More than 90 days  #3E90 H 1,192 2,351 3,543 - 12,612 12,612
1,289,128 4,066 1,293,194 31,848 136,965 168,813

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables at
FVTOCI are set out in note 38.
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27. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 27. TE&MTIR

Assets Liabilities
BE afE
2019 AONES] 2019 2018
—E-AF ZT)\F ZB-hAF ZZT)N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B E THET AT THET AT
Foreign currency forwards 4 iz A (i) - - 194 -
Structured foreign i N R 2R
currency forward (ii) - - 89 -
- - 283 -
Notes: ik -
(i) Foreign currency forwards (i) HNE 3= HA

(ii)

The Group had entered into certain foreign currency forward
contracts to hedge against the appreciation of Euro against
Renminbi (“RMB") for certain agreed periods of time. The Group
and the respective bank would settle with reference to the strike
price on the predetermined settlement date on a gross basis as per
the contract.

Structured foreign currency forward

The Group entered into a structured foreign currency forward
contract with a bank to hedge against the appreciation of US$
against HK$ for an agreed period of time. The Group and the bank
will settle on a net basis with reference to the difference between
the spot rate of US$ against HK$ and the strike price on the
predetermined settlement date as per the contract. The contract
includes a knock-out provision whereby the contract will
automatically be terminated in accordance with the terms set out
in this contract.

(i)

REEFTLETIHNERREL  URETHE
HENERRTEAARB ZTHE - AEEER(E
RITHSEBNENBEEEHEERZITE
BREBEEEH -

BB UINE R

AEEE-MRITE] L — B INERRS
%) AR BE NSRRI BT THE ©
AEBEZRITRIDFEERTLLELTTL
BLZREEXRENENALEEAEAZ
TREZEZHEE - ZANBEIVEES ¥
BRIFIRIBER DB BB B L -
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28.

29.

136

AMOUNT DUE FROM (TO) AN ASSOCIATE 28.

Except for the amount due from an associate of
approximately HK$747,050,000 (2018: HK$990,930,000) as at
31 December 2019 which is unsecured, interest bearing at
4.35% (2018: 4.35%) per annum and repayable on demand,
the remaining balances of amount due from an associate are
derived from normal business activities and are unsecured
and interest-free. The Group allows a credit period of 90 days
and there are no significant increase in credit risk of these
amounts since initial recognition.

Amount due to an associate as at 31 December 2019 is
derived from normal business activities and is unsecured and
interest-free. A credit period of 90 days is allowed. During the
year, loans from an associate of approximately
HK$964,000,000 with interest charged at rates from 7% to
8% per annum were advanced to and fully repaid by the
Group.

FEU (1) B E X R HRIA

BR_ZE—HRhE+-_A=+—HAHLY
747,050,000 7% 70(=Z — /\4F : 990,930,000
BIT) Z RIS R R FUE A EIRE - RF
FE435% (ZF—)\F : 435%) 5T B RAE
RESREEI - EpEIRE S AR FIEES
HRE—REBEE BBEKFRES -
AEBRHEZEEHA0B  MEBREZ
ZE R B VAR AR KRG N -

RZZE-NF+A=+—H ENBER
ARERE —REBEH LEERRLE
BMTZEEBHARVE FA- BEL
964,000,000 7 TR & F =T F 7% % 8% &t
BZBMERRERCRETAEE - YAHAK
SEEHEE -

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK 29. ZRHBTER RITRERRE
BALANCES AND CASH

2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —EF-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Cash on hand and in bank Re MIRTTER 503,680 879,425
Short-term bank deposits 52 ERERTTIF K = 210,954
503,680 1,090,379
Restricted bank deposits SRR B ERITIF K 134,064 132,104

637,744 1,222,483

The Group's bank balances and deposits that are
denominated in currencies other than the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities are set out below:

JPY
B

HK$'000
T

AEENAHEEERBNREER NI ZER
SMEZ RITRF REREHIIT

HK$ Us$ RMB
BT E N
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THETT THIT THETT

As at 31 December 2019 RZE—NEF

+ZA=+—H 3,645
As at 31 December 2018 RZZE—)\F
+-A=+—H 18,263

24,842 27,437 1,712

170,540 17,144 172,213
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29.

30.

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH (continued)

Bank deposits and bank balances carry interest at fixed and
variable rates respectively which ranged from 0.01% to
2.35% (2018: 0.01% to 2.27 %) per annum.

Restricted bank deposits is to secure bills payables and are
therefore classified as current assets. The restricted bank
deposits carry fixed interest rate ranged from 1.35% to 3%
(2018: 1.35%) per annum. The restricted bank deposits will
be released upon settlement of bills payables.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The following is an aged analysis of trade and bills payables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the
reporting period:

29. ERFBITHER RITRERRE W)

ROTEFERAMBOILEESNIZEE RN F
001%&E235%( =ZZF — \F:001% &
2.27%) 2 EFBFEFRETE o

SR HISRTTIF A DAIRK IR R 2205 - HE
DEERDEE - XRHBITFRIRETF
FIE135% E3% (ZZF— \4F : 1.35%) &t
B o ZRFIRIT TSR BB E SR
[ijé\ °

30. FE{FHRIA R Hfth FE 1 B IR

RBEMRIZEREAH27| 2 BARELE
NEBEZREDHTIT

2019 2018

—2-h%& =

Trade Bills Trade Bills
payables payables Total payables payables Total
BNRE EBARE aFt ENERE ENERE A&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT  THET  FER TET  THERT TER
Within 60 days 60 HIA 4,948,729 740,832 5,689,561 3,870,261 961,044 4,831,305
61 to 90 days 612 90H 765,278 142,978 908,256 527,891 237,012 764,903
More than 90 days #2:@90 H 806,835 331,246 1,138,081 812,813 86,926 899,739
6,520,842 1,215,056 7,735,898 5,210,965 1,284,982 6,495,947

The credit period on purchases of goods ranges from 60 to
90 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in
place to ensure that all payables are settled within the credit
time frame.

Included in other payables are deposits received with
aggregate carrying amount of HK$30,437,000 (2018:
HK$22,656,000), accruals of operating expenses with
aggregate carrying amount of HK$337,906,000 (2018:
HK$338,010,000), payables for the acquisition of property,
plant and equipment with aggregate amount of
HK$872,304,000 (2018: HK$1,054,299,000), government
grants of HK$8,291,000 (2018: HK$9,431,000) and dividend
payable of HK$1,258,000 (2018: HK$1,258,000).

REERNEEHNT60E90R - AEE
EFEEEVHRRERBER - AERNME
BEHAXNAE RN -

E e SOA B IE B IR E 4 30,437,000 78
JT(=Z— )\ : 22,656,000 7T) 2 B Uki%
% - IR {E A337,906,0008 T (ZZ— )\
F : 338,010,000 70) 2 JEETIEEER - 82
%8 /872,304,000 ;t( = T — )\ F:
1,054,299,0007 70) 2 S EE % - BE &
SR 2 ERTFRIE - 8,291,000 L (ZZ— )\
F 1 9,431,000/ 7T ) 2 BT 2L % 1,258,000
BT (=Z— \4F : 1,258,000/ 7T) 2 FEf
B8 -
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30.

31.

138

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

The Group's trade and bills payables that are denominated in
currencies other than functional currencies of the relevant
group entities are set out below:

Denominated in HK$ LA TTEHE
Denominated in JPY LAB E&HE

30

. BERARAEMBEMNRE (2

AEENAHAEEEBEER NI EE
B EAERERENREHIDT

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E—N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T 7T
37,664 59,349
167,967 261,126

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The amounts represent advance payment from customers.
The Group typically receives a 50% deposit on acceptance of
manufacturing order and remaining 50% deposit before
delivery of products for customers assessed to be lower
creditability.

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 December
2019 included the whole amount of contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year. There was no revenue recognised
during the year ended 31 December 2019 that related to
performance obligations that were satisfied in prior year.

As at 1 January 2018, contract liabilities amounted to
HK$115,671,000.

The increase in contract liabilities balance as at 31 December

2019 is mainly due to increase in advances received from
customers during the year.

Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2019

31.

alRRi

ZEFBEREPEMNKIE - AEE—B1E
REERERARIRERAREREZER
WERB0% 2 7] & + W 32 & fm AT 4R ER B4R
T50% °

WBE=S-NFT-A=+-BLFER
R2WHDEFNZ 2HANAMR - RBE
—E-nE A=+ ALEERBIK
0 EH R LR BB -

RZE—NF—HA—H AHEEA
115,671,000/ 7T ©

RZZE-NE+TZA=+—H aHAGE
BRI N B AN FARPTRERGC R P EFUE N -
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32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS, 32. BITRHEMERR - WK
UNSECURED
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZT—N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T
Bank loans IRITE 3,525,307 5,656,370
Bills discounted with recourse BiBZRE 7R SR 5,789 -
Trust receipt loans EREWIEER 1,064,454 1,351,089
Other loans HiE 1,227,066 185,838
5,822,616 7,193,297
The Group's bank and other borrowings ~ AEEEHEETEESE
that are denominated in currencies LASNz EHEEBIME 2 R1T &
other than the functional currencies HbEREH BT :
of the relevant group entities are
set out below:
Denominated in HK$ LABTTETE 3,420,798 6,190,837
Denominated in JPY LA HEHE 76,290 94,881
Denominated in Euro LAB TR E 91,064 -
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32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS, 32. |ITRAMMER X TWIER @)
UNSECURED (continued)

2019 AONRS]
—E-hEF —E-)N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T
Carrying amount repayable*: JERTRRMEIE * -
Within one year R—FR 5,215,550 1,901,820
More than one year, but not exceeding —FRERMFEAN
two years 60,716 62,500
More than two years, but not exceeding MFEZERTLFA
five years 546,350 12,500

5,822,616 1,976,820

Carrying amount of bank loans that contain R BEY| A SBEENK
a repayment on demand clause (shown BB IEFERER ZEMIRIT

under current liabilities) but repayable: ERZREE :
Within one year R—FR = 544,015
More than one year, but not exceeding —FREPMER

two years - 165,966
More than two years, but not exceeding  FFEEEBERAER

five years - -

5,822,616 2,686,801
The carrying amount of bank loans that are R BI B &S AR E N EREZHE

repayable on demand due to breach MAREREEZ RITER
of loan covenants (shown under ZERmEE
current liabilities) - 4,506,496
5,822,616 7,193,297
Less: Amount included under current B BIRRBN B ER 2 IR
liabilities (including bank loans (BIEEBRERER
with a repayable on demand 1R RITER)
clause) (5,215,550) (7,118,297)
Amount due after one year shown under RIERBIA &Y AN —F1%
non-current liabilities EIJH 2 FkI8 607,066 75,000
* The amount due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out * BIEASRIBRBE R B 2 B ER B H
in loan agreements. AT o
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32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS, 32. |ITRAMMER X TWIER @)

UNSECURED (continued)

The Group’s bank borrowings included fixed-rate borrowings
of approximately HK$2,128,867,000 (2018: HK$937,757,000)
which carry effective interest rates ranged from 2.03% to
7.13% per annum (2018: 2.22% to 5.22%) (which are also
equal to contracted interest rates). The remaining Group's
borrowings are variable-rate borrowings which carry interest
at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate ("HIBOR"), London
Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR"”) or Benchmark Loan Rate
issued by the National Interbank Funding Center (“Benchmark
Loan Rate”) plus certain basis points. Interest is repriced
every three months and the range of effective interest rates
is at 1.60% to 5.00% (2018: 1.43% to 5.00%) per annum.

33. LEASE LIABILITIES

33.

REBE ZRITEREIEAEHI2,128,867,000
BT (—Z— )\%F : 937,757,000/ 7T) Z FF
BfEH BRFFENF2083%E7.13% (=
T N\F 1 222%E5.22%) (IHEREH)
FIE) - REBZEBERHBZEBET
REBRITERERE - RBEETRAEREK
2 RRITERZEFREP OBHHERERF
EMETFEZFE - FIES=MAETE &
BRI R A F FF R1.60% E5.00% (= F
— N\ 1 1.43% £ 5.00%) °

HARRR

2019
—E-hE

HK$'000
T

Lease liabilities payable: ENEEAE
Within one year —FR 19,048
Within a period of more than one year but not —FZERMER
more than two years 30,832
Within a period of more than two years but not MEZBRATA
more than five years 48,981
98,861
Less: Amount due for settlement with twelve W oREBBEEMMTIN T @B RGN
months shown under current liabilities 4R R TE (19,048)
Amount due for settlement after twelve months FERBBERTINT AR EENZ
shown under non-current liabilities R FRIE 79,813
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34.

142

BONDS PAYABLE

In July 2016, 5 FIJ£ E R D B R 2 7l (the “Issuer”), a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, issued a tranche of
domestic corporate bonds (the “Bonds”) with an aggregate
principal amount of RMB750,000,000. The Bonds bear fixed
interest at 5.8% per annum and is payable annually each year.
The effective interest rate of the Bonds payable is 6% per
annum. At the end of the third year after issuance, the Issuer
has an option to adjust upward the interest rate of the Bonds
and bondholders can exercise retractable option.

On 29 July 2019, following the exercise of the retractable
option by the majority of the bondholders, the Issuer
repurchased the Bonds with principal amount of
RMB712,405,700 and paid the relevant interests. The
remaining Bonds with principal amount of RMB37,594,300
without exercising the retractable option by the relevant
investors would be held until maturity in July 2021 with the
unadjusted coupon rate at 5.8% per annum.

On 10 September 2019, the Issuer issued a tranche of Bonds
with an aggregate principal amount of RMB300,000,000. The
Bonds bear fixed interest at 5.2% per annum and is payable
annually each year. The effective interest rate of the Bonds
payable is 5.5% per annum. The Bonds will mature in
September 2022.

The Bonds are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
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34. EfEEH

RZT—RFLA AAREE2ENBRF
ERANERNOAR AR ([BITAL) BT
N4 4258 A AR ¥ 750,000,000 TTHIEA A
AEHF(ERFD BEBFZ2FMNEETER
58% BERBE— X - BNEFZERSE
FEREB6% - NETEREZFR  BITAA
BEFAGSANE  MEHFFEARTITE
ER=pc 3

—NWFEA-+hHB BRZHEFH
BAEANTEEEEEEER  BTAELREAS
BARYET712,405,700 T2 BEH TSN A/
FE - BT REEBIEEETELRERER
KR&5 A AR 37,694,300 7T 2 EHEIRR
BB EMNRE8% HIEAEE T~ —
FEAFBAL -

R-Z—AFRATE  BITARTHA
% %58 A A R 300,000,000 T2 &5 ° &

HFZEMEEERS2%  BFRE K-
ENESCBERFNER55% - EHFHR
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35. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 35 BRERRARE AR
For the purpose of presenting in the consolidated statement BREGEEBARRKRTEY BB EHm
of financial position, the following is the analysis of the FBRERIBEHONAT ¢

deferred tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

2019 2018
—E-hE T N\%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx THET
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE 70,146 56,692
Deferred tax assets RIERIAE & (75,432) (90,402)
(5,286) (33,710)
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) EAFERBFEFERNEZRN T BIELERE
recognised and movements thereon during the current and BEEE)RHEEEFHNT -
prior years:
Loss Allowance
available forloan  Undistributed
for offsetting Accelerated receivables profits
against future tax and of the PRC
taxable profit depreciation inventories subsidiaries
TR
RRERB ElxER  HEREAR
wAZER  NERERE FERR KA RA Az
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT TAL TAL TATL TAL
At 1 January 2018 RZZ-NE-A-H (45,191) 8744 (17,798) 38,615 (15,630)
[Credit) charge to profit or REEERT (H%)
loss for the year X3 (22,583 (906) (4,830) 10,239 (18,080)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\ET-A=t—H (67,774) 7,838 (22,628) 48,854 (33,710)
Charge (credit) to profit orloss ~ REE BT
for the year T (Ee) 22,190 1,604 (7,220) 11,850 28,424
At 31 December 2019 R-F-NFT-A=1-H (45,584) 9,442 (29,848) 60,704 (5,286)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax RI|EHFR NEB Y A HABEEIE
losses of HK$477,5657,000 (2018: HK$655,204,000) available 477,557,000 0.( == — )\fF : 655,204,000
for offset against future profits. Deferred tax asset has been BT A BYER S RS F o D RIFERA
recognised in respect of approximately HK$95,180,000 (2018: REBATESZEE1E495,180,00055 0( =
HK$73,708,000) of such losses arising from the PRC and = — J\4F : 73,708,000 7T ) & 132,068,000
HK$132,068,000 (2018: HK$299,094,000) arising from Hong BT (ZF— )\ F 299,094,000 7T ) R
Kong. Unused tax losses in the tax jurisdiction of PRC may be ERRIEEE - RPERBE R AR ER Y
carried forward for five years. No deferred tax asset has been FAMIEEBAEE RS - AR GG E
recognised in respect of the remaining Hong Kong and PRC FOHFHR - A Egt A LR ER
tax losses of approximately HK$250,309,000 (2018: % E B A £ 49250,309,00008 T( —ZFE— )\
HK$282,402,000) in aggregate due to the unpredictability of £ 1 282,402,000 75 7T) MRELEFIB & E o
future profit streams.
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35. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (continued)  35. RERIAEE A\ (&)
Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on BIETRECEMERE B2 N\F—A8
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC —HE - BRPBENER BRI G AT E K
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. At 31 December B BENTENR - R=ZZE—hF+=A
2019, deferred taxation has not been provided for in the —1+—0  EELREUBIERERT - WERL R B
consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary BN B 2R 5% FI| 0 & i 2 %E 4,555,192,000
differences attributable to retained profits of the PRC BT (ZZ— )\ : 4,676,301,0007 7T ) 1E
subsidiaries amounting to HK$4,555,192,000 (2018: HIRER TBEE - RERANEB A HiEH
HK$4,676,301,000) as the Group is able to control the timing BOE R Z SRR TAEARTISENR
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable RIR RO B RS =58 o
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
36. SHARE CAPITAL 36. &
Number
of shares Amount
RBHE ©8
HK$'000
THET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 per share BREE0.02/8T 2 Lk
Authorised: ERE
Balance at 1 January 2018, 31 December RZE—-N\F—HA—H"
2018 and 31 December 2019 —E-N\F+-_A=+—HK
“T-NEFE+ZA=+—Hz## 5,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: EEITRHAT
Balance at 1 January 2018 R-FE-N\F—A—B 2R 3,120,429,398 62,409
Issue of new shares BITHRG 168,800,000 3,376
Balance at 31 December 2018 and RZB—-N\F+-_A=+—HBK
31 December 2019 —E-NEFE+-A=+—H
ZIEER 3,289,229,398 65,785
On 31 July 2018, the Company and Mr. Lam Wai Wah R-EBE—NE+A=+—H  AQF)EKE
entered into a subscription agreement for the subscription of AT ZERS  IRAEEEIR1.18
168,800,000 new shares (“Subscription Shares 2018") at the #7032 5% 168,800,000 R ¥ A% 15 ([ == — )\
subscription price of HK$1.18 per share. On 6 November FERERD D) c R—E—NE+—H<H
2018, the subscription was completed and 168,800,000 ZEEEIED A - W E4T 168,800,000 A% A%
shares, represented approximately 5.13% of the then issued B BERAD RS R 3T -5 — N\F
share capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment TEEAL IR A v E R B BTIRAR4)5.13%) ©
and issue of the Subscription Shares 2018. The gross and net AR ETAF S S IE4ARE N BB 2R EE 5 B
proceeds from the subscription amounted to approximately 5 #7199,184,000 % 7T & #3198,242,000 i
HK$199,184,000 and approximately HK$198,242,000, IT o
respectively.
The proceeds from subscription were used as general PR EIE Y FIESTED BEAER —RLE
working capital and to enhance the Group’s equity. B4H T INtaRE o
None of the Company’s subsidiaries purchased, sold or ER HEARNTHBEATIDEA « HE
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the O N/NCI R
year.
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37. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. AFERBEHE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes the borrowings, lease liabilities and bonds payable
disclosed in notes 32, 33 and 34 respectively, net of cash and
cash equivalents, and equity comprising issued share capital
and reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure periodically. The
Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associates
with the capital, and will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new share issues of the
Company and share buy-backs as well as raising of bank
borrowings.

The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from the
prior year.

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a. Categories of financial instruments

REBETERNERURRAEEANNER
BERELE  REEBRBERREERTY
RIRE R Z KB

AEENEARBHERFR(BEME
32 - BRIAMDHBERMER  HEARR
ENES  SNBRREIREFEER) R
Pt (B3R BT K@) K -

EXETHESHENRE -EREFEELK
AR EEREEZ AR - X KB BAK
B BITARRBHBA R BB AR EE
RITERFEEHRREANRERE -

&

J i

ZEBERE{DERN —FHER -

38. &#MTH
a. Z@MIEDE

2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —ZT—N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T
Financial assets THEE
Financial assets at amortised cost IREEA AR 2 e B E 5,433,676 7,260,113
Trade receivables at FVTOCI REMZEKRZARFEE
Pl BR 2 R AR TR 1,293,194 168,813
Financial assets at FVTPL RIBZARFEBEYIEZ
EEREE 5,549 10,316
6,732,419 7,439,242
Financial liabilities THEE
Amortised cost B SRR 15,057,824 15,677,170
Derivative financial instruments TEsmIA 283 -
15,058,107 15,677,170
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

146

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
restricted bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade
and other receivables, trade receivables at FVTOCI, loan
receivable, amount due from an associate, financial
assets at FVTPL, trade and other payables, bank and
other borrowings, amount due to an associate, bonds
payable, lease liabilities and derivative financial
instruments. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes.

The risks associated with these financial instruments
and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented in a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

The Group's activities expose primarily to the financial
risks of changes in interest rates, foreign currency
exchange rates and change in prices (see below).

(i)  Foreign currency risk
The Group undertakes certain transactions
denominated in foreign currencies which are
different from US$ and RMB, the functional
currency of the respective group entities.
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38. &£ TH &)

b.

CREMBEERBRRBE

AEEZTZSRITABEXREIR
TR RTEFERE  BRIREA
Ro B At B MR IR~ L A 2 T M LA
RFEEDRZ BKIRIR - BURER -
A HE = N R FIR - MIBIRARFE
BIRzeREE  BNRALEM
JERTFRIR ~ SRIT R EAM R - AT
BRRFA - BER HEREMN
ETAESRT A ZESRMTAZF
BREEMEEHEKE -

BT ITAZRARKEREZS
REOBREN T - BEEESEE
MERZERR NEREEAENE
MEEE N -

5 B

REE 2 RBEBAZH R RIMNEE
ZEHPZTREARIARERZHER
(B30 -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 38. £#MIR %)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. ¢RRAKREEBEEREXKE)

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued) i R (&)

(i) Foreign currency risk (continued) (i) ShEEER(E)
The carrying amount of the Group’'s monetary RiEH > UBBEEEEINE
assets, monetary liabilities and inter-group EEPINEBHEZ A AEREE
receivables and payables denominated in BE EEAGELREERRNATE
currencies other than the functional currency of FEW SR IE K FE 08 2 BEE{E N
the relevant group entities at the reporting date T

are as follows:

Liabilities Assets
af BE
2019 2019 2018
—E-NF T—\F “B-hE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THT THET THT
The Group rEH

HKS BT 3,465,897 6,252,587 37,558 219,089
JPY H 254,983 357,604 3,645 18,263
Euro BT 91,064 - 57 37
RMB AEE 6,189 - 1,712 172,218
AUD BT = - 28 29

Inter-company balances 7 7] &
HKS BT 3,085,058 2,556,678 3,023,779 2,525,826
JPY H 12,952 - 12,952 57
RMB ARE 91,866 87,912 4,258,347 4,887,413
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 38. &@MTIR(#)

148

b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2MEMRETEBEEREEK(E)
policies (continued)
Market risk (continued) Wiz A (&)
(i) Foreign currency risk (continued) (i) ShEEER(E)
Sensitivity analysis BRE 2T

The following table indicates the approximate
change in the Group's profit after tax for the year
in response to reasonably possible change in the
functional currency of the relevant group entities
i.e. US$ or RMB to the relevant currencies which
the Group has significant exposure at the
reporting date. Since HK$ are pegged to US$
under the Linked Exchange Rate System, the
management does not expect significant foreign
currency exposure in relation to the exchange rate
fluctuation between HK$ and US$. The Group
mainly exposes to foreign currency risks other
than USS.

TRETHENERESEER Y
BEEB (ARTHARKE) LK
SERHREAIYEARRZA
MERARERcAEES - M
B RS B A WO R P EE
EZBAOES - ANREBEHRE
RE|ERTEETHE  EEE
WA FER IR B RRE TR TTIE
KRB 2 BRINERRR - AEE
TEAZETTAINNE 2 B o

2019 2018
—B-hEF —E-NF

US$/RMB Increase US$/RMB Increase

strengthens (decrease) strengthens (decrease)

(weakens) in profit (weakens) in profit

Exn/ AR% RN ET AR i A N

FE (R1EH) (@ 2) FHE (B21E) O 2)

HK$’000 HK$'000

Fi#T T

JPY H 3% 6,383 3% 8,701
(3%) (6,383) (3%) (8,701)
Euro BT 3% 2,311 5% (2)
(3%) (2,311) (5%) 2
RMB NS 3% (105,694) 5% (212,491)
(3%) 105,694 (5%) 212,491
AUD RIT N/A RiE F N/A RiEF 10% (2)
N/AFRER N/ATREA (10%) 2

As set out in note 27, at the end of the reporting
period, the Group had foreign currency forwards
and structured foreign currency forward which
also expose the Group to currency fluctuation
risks.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

For the foreign currency forwards with
transactions denominated in Euro outstanding at
31 December 2019, if Euro was strengthened
against RMB by 5%, the post-tax profit for the
year ended 31 December 2019 would increase by
approximately HK$3,483,000, if Euro was
weakened against RMB by 5%, the post-tax profit
for the year ended 31 December 2019 would
decrease by approximately HK$4,125,000.

For structured foreign currency forward with
transactions denominated in US$ outstanding at
31 December 2019, if US$ was strengthened
against HK$ by 3%, the post-tax profit for the year
ended 31 December 2019 would increase by
HK$25,000, if US$ was weakened against HK$ by
3%, the post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2019 would decrease by
HK$4,808,000.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis
is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign
exchange risk as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the year.

38. &£ TH &)

b. LHREAREEBSEREE#E)

5 Bk ()
(i) SMEEER ()
BREE W ()

PR —F-NF+-A=+—H
ZARFREITINEER - BT
RAR®ITENY% BE_F
—NE+TZA=+—HLFEZ
T8 1& 4 ) 7 18 0 49 3,483,000 78
T BT ARBRZES%
BE_T-NF+-A=t—H
1EF B Z B & A R 2 4
4,125,000 & 7T °

BR=ZZE—NF+=ZA=+—8
ZERFRETLEBAINERS -
WETHEBTHEI%  HEZ
E-hE+-_A=+—HILFE
2 B8 5 ) #3850 25,000 4 7T
WMETHBILEBEIR BEZ
E-hFE+-_A=1+—HIFE
2 B & % ) B 4 4,808,000 7%
ﬁ: °

ERERA ARFRZARE

EERRAFERNZER  BERED
A 1 [ A SMNE BB AN AR ME ©
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 38. &@MIR#)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2MEMRETEBEEREEK(E)

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued) 5 R ()

(ii)  Interest rate risk (i) FIEE R
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate AREBEBAEQNFLBENEKE
risk in relation to fixed-rate bank deposits, amount & A ET BRI - JE
due from an associate, fixed-rate bank borrowing, WEt S ANRIHIE - ERIRITE
lease liabilities and bonds payable. The Group is FoMHEBGBREMNESER -
also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk due to REEJERERSREFNRE
the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest b - AR KB RTET R Y
rate on bank balances and variable-rate bank and BIRITIEZR AR EME (S
other borrowings (see notes 29 and 32 for details). BM5E29 % 32) ZIBITHIBFR
The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly g o AEF RS REFNERE
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR and SR A REFBUE T EZE
LIBOR arising from the Group's HK$ denominated X BEANEERITRER
borrowings and the fluctuation of Benchmark BRGIERITRIERB &8
Loan Rate arising from the Group's RMB MmkEAREFBUARKSTBE &
denominated borrowings. The management = BT EBEERRNEREER X
considers the exposure to interest rate risk in 2B ARNTFERARKEE
relation to bank balances is insignificant due to the K ALEREEBRARITEFZ
low interest rate. The Group currently does not MHEMERRRIY AEA - NEEH
use any derivative contract to hedge its exposure IR (B ATAE S L LA S
to interest rate risk. However, the management of WENMERER - AR AAFE
the Company will consider hedging significant BEEREEERZEEEPEKR
interest rate exposure should the need arise. F= @ o
Sensitivity analysis R E ST
The sensitivity analyses below have been AT BURE DT TR S B SRTT
determined based on the exposure to interest B EREMET o 2O
rates for variable-rate bank borrowings. The IDBRERBREH2>FE7BERIE
analysis is prepared assuming the amount of MARWEmEE o &AAF JyE B
liability outstanding at the reporting period was 1008 F(=ZF— )\ : 100%+)
outstanding for the whole year. A 100 basis point ZEMSELD  REREEBEF
(2018: 100 basis point) increase or decrease is Ko H B A EEEEL 2 5F
used which represents management'’s & o

assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points (2018: HMAEEFH TEK1008F( =
100 basis point) higher/lower and all other FE—NF 1008F) MAEH
variables were held constant, the Group's post-tax fEEfEHIE  KEEREE
profit for the year ended 31 December 2019 —E—hhE+-_BA=+—8IFF
would decrease/increase by HK$30,843,000 BB %% 18
(2018: decrease/increase by HK$52,234,000). 30,843,000 L ( — & — N\ F ¢

A48 H052,234,000 % 7T) ©
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(iii) ~ Other price risks
The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising
from investments in listed equity securities
measured at FVTPL.

Price risk sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to equity price
risks at the reporting period.

If equity prices had been 15% (2018: 15%) higher/
lower, the post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2019 would increase/decrease by
HK$695,000 (2018: HK$1,292,000) as a result of
the changes in fair value of financial assets at
FVTPL.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss
to the Group due to failure to perform an obligation by
the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount
of the respective recognised financial assets as stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group had concentration of credit risk as 19%
(2018: 22%) of total trade receivables was due from the
Group's largest trade debtor, which is a company
located in the PRC.

In order to minimise credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model on
trade balances individually or based on provision matrix.
In this regard, the Directors consider that the Group's
credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with good reputation.

38. &£ TH &)
b. £RERESEEERBEEE)

5 AR (&)

(iii) H B A B
REBFARZIEERBEREARTE
Bift2 s FTRABSHEE R
AERRR

1B 15 2 2 SRR 2T
AT ERE DM TIREN TR E B
ZBRABERRERMETE -

AR AEE A T 15% (=
T—N\F:15%) BEE_-ZF
—NF+_A=+—BULEFEZ
B EFEERBEUNAFEE
PR SMEEZ A FEEED
ifi 42 40,35 4> 695,000 7% 7T.( —
T — \4F : 1,292,000/87T) °

EEEK R IEFT A
RZEBE—hE+=-A=+—H0 K&
ERYFHRERITESAMERA

SEHRYBERZEERR LR -
REHECEIEREENGA B BN
ARPHIZBREE -

REBEKKREWE S IR FRENGEKEER
TBEREZ19% (ZZF—)\F 1 22%) »
MAKREZz ZERBRES - AEE
BREWE SEFRE —H A E
227

REEERRBESEK AEEERE
BEZREREBEEEELR &
EME R EMERER - ARRRIR
BRETTEN R EIE IR TR - bLoh - ARN&
EERERERBERBRLURENEE
Ao e 35 7 MK B R A R 1T (B BB (B R
BBt E  EFERRAEKEZE
ERBREABRE -

MREFHHREEREEZRIT R
PETZEERBRBR -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Loan receivable was considered as credit-impaired and
full provision was made as of 31 December 2018.

With respect of credit risk arising from other
receivables, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model individually or based on
provision matrix by considering historical settlement
records, past experience, and also forward-looking
information, as appropriate, for example, the Group has
considered the consistently low historical default rate in
connection with payments, and concluded that credit
risk inherent in the Group's outstanding other
receivables is insignificant. In addition, other receivables
consist of a large number of counterparties which do
not give rise to significant concentration of credit risk.

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

38. &£ TH &)

b.

TRAREERBEREEE)

EEERRRERG(E)
EREFRFRESHREERE LR
“E-N\F+ A=+ -BERHIE
B -
SEMRUGREEL 2 EERRT
$$@ﬁﬁﬁ%@%%%ﬁfﬂ%m
HEN B BREETREN G AE
BESLSEEDE  BELRIATEE
BR(ER)  fln - XREEEEE
MRZBEENERFERE  #HRAS
7N E2 8] 1) R MR 2 At FE LUK OR 2 [
BEEERBRILTERK - thsh - HAhfE
WHRIBEREZ R L EHRAEXNEER

BETFBRHFT -
AEBEZ AR EERRFRFERE
AT R -

Internal Other financial
credit rating Description Trade receivables assets/other item
AMEETR FFE PR IE HttemEE HtER
|
Group A The counterparty has a low risk of default based on historical ~ Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL — not
repayment record and has a good reputation credit-impaired credit-impaired
A REBEEFRS  HFAzENERRE BAGRHEE 2HEBERABLX— 12ARBEREX—
BEERE BEERE
Group B The counterparty has higher creditability but sometime Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL — not
repays after due dates credit-impaired credit-impaired
B HFHEERREE KERERIER 2HBEHERELA— NEAEBEREX —
BEERE BEERE
Group C The counterparty usually settles after due date Lifetime ECL — not Lifetime ECL — not
with a higher risk of default credit-impaired credit-impaired
CE HFHBRERIBRRETRE  EOERERS PHREGERBLX— 2HEBCREX—
BEERE BEERE
Group D There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired credit-impaired
D AEBETAELREENE PHREGERBLX— 2HREBCREX—
BEERE BEERE
Group E There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off
difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery
Ef AEBETEBABRENBRE mASERE AR  HMEEHLHE miEEEEE

Yl
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 38. &I R &)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2MEMRETEBEEREEK(E)
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EEERRBETE(E)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the TEREM A EBBEETRBEH
Group's financial assets and financial guarantee contract BRIGZEMEERTBEREYD
which are subject to ECL assessment: &= 22 8RR :
External Internal Gross carrying
credit rating credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount
ShER 2%
FEFR H-BE 12EARZHEREREA REAE
2019 2018
“E-NF ZTN\F
HK$'000  HK$'000
FRT  TET
Trade receivables at FVTOCI
REMZENEUALEE
5k 2 W R IR
Trade receivables 26 N/A (Note iii) Lifetime ECL (provision matrix) 1,289,128 31,848
FEYERIR NEA (Faziii) 2 HRBEREX
(Bfarmm)
Bills receivables 26 A1-Bal N/A 12m ECL 4,066 136,965
EWRE NEfA NEAESREREX
Financial assets at
amortised cost
BEBMRAHEZERER
Loan receivable 24 NJ/A (Note i) Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) - 10,764
U E R TEm (F3aEi) 2 HRBEREX
(BEERE)
Amount due from an associate 28 N/A (Note i) 12m ECL 1,348,250 1,346,194
FE UiEsE & A R FRIR NEA GiED) NEAESRERER
Restricted bank deposits 29  A2-Baal N/A 12m ECL 134,064 132,104
RREIRITER THER 2ERBHREREX
Bank balances 29  A2-Bal N/A 12m ECL 503,680 1,090,379
RITETF N N2ERABHREREX
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 38. £#MIR %)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. ¢RRAKREEBEEREXKE)
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EEERRBETE(E)
External Internal Gross carrying
credit rating credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount
ShE g
EEFR EEFH 1282 HEHEABL IREAE
2019 2018
“E-1E ZT-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx THT
Trade receivables 25 N/A (Note iii) Lifetime ECL (provision matrix) 3,186,391 4,352,992
FEUERIE i (PrsEiin) 2HBHEREL
(B farEmE)
Group D Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 581,689 575,298
D FHEHERBX
(BEEHE)
Bills receivables 25 A2 N/A 12m ECL 5,789 -
FERE & N NEABHEREL
Other receivables 25 N/A (Note i) 12m ECL 23,111 80,412
Hit IR i (F3aED) NEABHEREL
Ba2 N/A Lifetime ECL 267,600 273,360

(not credit- impaired)
NEf 2HBHEREL

(BEERE)
Other item
HitER
Financial guarantee contract 47 N/A Group A 12m ECL 1,893,806 2,521,180
(Note ii)
BBERE (M) EA A% 2ERBHREREX
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Notes:

i For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the
Group uses past due information to assess whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition.

ii. For financial guarantee contract, the gross carrying amount
represents the maximum amount that the Group has
guaranteed under the respective contract amounting to
HK$1,893,806,000 as at 31 December 2019 (2018:
HK$2,521,180,000). At the end of the reporting periods, the
Directors have performed impairment assessment, and
concluded that there has been no significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition of the financial guarantee
contract. Accordingly, the loss allowance for financial
guarantee contract issued by the Group is measured at an
amount equal to 12m ECL. Based on the assessment of the
management, the ECL on financial guarantee contract is
insignificant.

iii. For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECL. Except for debtors which are credit-impaired,
the Group determines the expected credit losses on these
items by using a provision matrix, grouped by debtors’

aging.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for
its customers because these customers consist of a
large number of small customers with common risk
characteristics that are representative of the customers’
abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with the
contractual terms. The following table provides
information about the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables which are assessed based on provision
matrix as at 31 December 2019 within lifetime ECL (not
credit impaired). As at 31 December 2019, the debtors
with credit-impaired amounted to HK$581,689,000
(2018: HK$575,298,000) are assessed individually, and
the rest of debtors amounted to HK$3,186,391,000
(2018: HK$4,352,992,000) are assessed under a
provision matrix based on internal credit rating.

38. &£ TH &)
b. £RERESEEERBEEE)

ERER R ER G ()
B -

RABEERBERMS  AREEA
BRER T HERRR B TS HERIAR
BEREEM -

ii. MBERANFIE  FHLEEASE
R-E—-HFE+-A=+—BREER
ENEEERZERSEAR
1,893,806,0007% jL( = T — J\ F:
2,5621,180,0008 7T ) ° MR &HiAR - &
HEETRENE  IEEwbBENE
R IGERE HAREERBRI &8
FI80 o Ett - BAKE AT LI SE
RENVELZBEBEEBEHEHEREEN12
MAEMERBRZ SETE - RIEE
BE 2 Hh - BHIEREN ZTESRER
BRI TEK -

i.  BUCRESTE  ARECSRAEENH
BERNFE IR 2 BILEREHEME
REXFEEREE - BHRERRE
Z BRI - AR ER AR YRR
ZIRER DB BRBREREEZEREZ
TEREREX -

EAAEEEERRERBES IR
AEBBARKERCERRTGHER
FZRE RREAZSERFPHPEZE
BEBHARARBRFGZ NATE Mz
ERFHERRZEFRIEA HIERER
MRzl e TRIBHEBREWEER
EZZEERBRER  ZZFER IR
BR_Z-hF+-_A=+—HBF4A
>HEHEREBELX(EEERE) 2 &
HREEETTE - R hE+=
A=Z+—H " A&%581,689,000/8 7T
(=Z—)\4 : 575,298,000/ 7T) & H
RAEERE 2 FEUR T8 B 1T
FF - T E &R A 803,186,391,000 % 7T
—F— )\ : 4,352,992,0008 7T) 2
JFE U5 B % B B 5 P R4S B AT AR AR 4
BT o
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 38. &#MTIH#E)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2MEMRETEBEEREEK(E)
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EEERRBETE(E)
Gross carrying amount BREAEE
2019 2018
“E-hE —EN\E
Average Trade Loss Average Trade Loss
loss rate  receivables allowance lossrate  receivables allowance
THERE RS BERE TUBEX JEIERIE BakE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx AT TEx THT
Current (not past due) SN (Ra ) 0.51% 2,599,469 13,257 0.15% 3,882,412 5,824
1-60 days past due EeH1260H 1.47% 367,368 5,400 0.50% 263,368 1317
61-90 days past due EaH61£90H 4.50% 81,790 3,680 1.13% 11,087 125
More than 90 days past due  E#E90LA + 6.31% 137,764 8,693 1.98% 196,125 3,883
3,186,391 31,030 4,352,992 11,149
The estimated loss rates are estimated based on (HEt BB R IR EWRER T 5T F 5
historical observed default rates over the expected life NERFIEZBEFENRETEHE
of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking A7 gL BB R B AR 2% Bl a]
information that is available without undue cost or ESZAEHERELRAE - E1EE
effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by THR BB BURRENETEE
management to ensure relevant information about WEEZ 2 BB AR ER -

specific debtors is updated.

In the opinion of the Directors, the trade receivables at EERR RWMEHARSEEI0 A MU
the end of the reporting period which have been past P EWEEDERNZERRL Z BT
due over 90 days are not considered as in default based BEREHAEEENEEFE X
on good repayment records for those customers and ARBEEM TR BHRFKRIE

continuous business relationship with the Group.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 38. £#MIR %)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. ¢RRAKREEBEEREXKE)
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EEERRBETE(E)
Gross carrying amount (continued) FREAE ()
Movement in the allowance for impairment of trade JE L BRIE R (B s 2 8
receivables

Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)

gL gL

EEES BRRA

(BEERE) (BEEHRE) b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THER THER
As at 1 January 2018 RZZE—-\F—F—H 10,022 578,113 588,135
Change due to financial instruments ~ RAZZ— \F—A—BER
recognised as at 1 January 2018: SRMIASI B 2E)
— Transfer to creditimpaired —EREEERNE (21) 21 -
— Impairment losses recognised — BERRESRE 195 659 854
— Impairment losses reversed — EREREBE (8,329) - (8,329)
New financial assets originated MIESREE 9,282 - 9,282
Written off HsH - (3,495) (3,495)
As at 31 December 2018 RZZ-\F+-A=t—H 11,149 575,298 586,447
Change due to financial instruments ~ R-Z—AFE—F—B#ER
recognised as at 1 January 2019: SRIASI B 2E) :
— Transfer to credit-impaired —EBEREEERE (263) 263 -
— Impairment losses recognised — BERRESRE 3,313 13,015 16,328
— Impairment losses reversed — BREREBSE (9,675) - (9,675)
New financial assets originated e mEAE 26,506 - 26,506
Written off #sH - (6,887) (6,887)
As at 31 December 2019 RZE-NF+=ZA=1+—8 31,030 581,689 612,719
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 38. £#MIR %)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. ¢RRAKREEBEEREXKE)
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EEERRBETE(E)
Gross carrying amount (continued) FREAE ()
Movement in the allowance for impairment of trade JEYGBRIB R (B 2 # B ()
receivables (continued)
Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables are FEWERTEEEREEDHEZHMN ¢

mainly due to:

2019
“E-NE .
Increase (decrease) Increase (decrease)
in lifetime ECL in lifetime ECL
2HBHERRAEMRD) 24 B
Not credit- Credit- Not credit- Credit-
impaired impaired impaired impaired
BEEAE HEERE & B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

S e — e —
BIL BIL BIL

St —
BIL

Trade debtors with gross carrying amount of FRAEA13,278,000E T
HK$13,278,000 (2018: HK$680,000) defaulted JEYERTE (=5 — )\ : 680,000
and transferred to credit-mpaired BT AP REREEERE (263) 263 (21) 2
New trade receivables with gross carrying amount ~ EEE#{E/43,110,521,0007 7T
of HK$3,110,521,000 (2018: HK$4,258,681,000) (ZZ— )\ 1 4,258,681,000
BTT) 2 HERERIE 26,506 - 9,282 -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Gross carrying amount (continued)

Movement in the allowance for impairment of loan
receivable and other receivables

38.

®MTIRE)
b. EREAREEEEREE(H)

S L B AR A ()

EEAE ()

HEA B30 3 2L A e R (A 2
25

Other Loan
receivables receivable
H fth W TR IR EWER
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)

2 HITEH 2 HITEH
BERBX BEREBX

(BmEERE) (BEEERE) et
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
TFETT TFETT TFETT
|
As at 1 January2018 R-E—N\FE—H—H 4,179 23,359 27,538
Reversal of allowance for loan 18 [5] i Uit B 25 3 %
receivable - (11,880) (11,880)
Foreign exchange translation  SNEHRE - (715) (715)
As at 31 December 2018 RZZE—N\F+=ZA=1+—H 4,179 10,764 14,943
Reversal of allowance for loan % [E] & U & 5k ¥
receivable - (10,764) (10,764)
As at 31 December 2019 R-ZE-NF+-_A=+—8H 4,179 - 4,179

Changes in the loss allowance for loan receivable is
mainly due to:

ERERERBREESH T EZHN

2019
“E-h% —E-N\E
Decrease in lifetime ~ Decrease in lifetime
ECL (credit-impaired)  ECL (credit-impaired)
2HEAEREL
(BEERE)HY ( )
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT
Settlement in full of a loan receivable with BYEEEAA(E10,764,0008 T (25— N\F
gross carrying amount of HK$10,764,000 11,880,000 70 ) 2 FEUE

(2018: HK$11,880,000)

(10,764) (11,880)
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

160

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by approximately HK$3,840
million. Having taken into account the factors set out in
note 2, the Directors consider the Group will have
sufficient financial resources to meet in full its financial
obligations as and when they fall due for the
foreseeable future. Accordingly, the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis.

The Group's liquidity position is monitored closely by
the management of the Company.

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors
its current and expected liquidity requirements regularly
and ensuring sufficient liquid cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from reputable financial
institutions to meet the Group's liquidity requirements
in the short and long term. The management of the
Company also monitors the forecast and maintains a
level of cash and cash equivalents adequate to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’'s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to
exercise their rights. The table includes both interest
and principal cash flow. To the extent that interest flows
are floating rates, the undiscounted amount is derived
from interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2019
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b.

CREMEERBRRBEE)

RBEERR
RZFB-NF+-A=1t—0 &K
Bz nB A EBEHEREEEL38.40
R - ERBIME2ECEE &
EEMAKERABR Y BERE
SRRE S BT R] R 2R B H 2 BA T A o
At - e BRRERFELEE
RERB -

AEBZRBESARABAARAEE

kR

REBERBDESARE - AEBETEH
EREBRLEMRSESH R A
BREERARZADRE NEREE
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mEREENERLERRDESS
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RZBEERREFEBEEKFE AR
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

In addition, the following table details the Group's
liquidity analysis for its derivative financial liabilities. The
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
contractual net cash outflows on derivative instruments
that settle on a net basis and, the undiscounted gross
inflows and outflows on those derivatives that require
gross settlement. The liquidity analysis for the Group's
derivative financial instruments are prepared based on
the contractual maturities as the management considers
that the contractual maturities are essential for an
understanding of the timing of the cash flows of
derivatives.

38. &£ TH &)

b.

CREMEERBRRBEE)

RBEEER(E)

SO - TRFIIAKEREITES B
BEMEZRBESOMN - TRIIR
BAFEEELEZTETRAZ R
RAnBAanb FERANREEE
ZOTETRZ RIFBRA KRR H AR
MmiEs - AEETESM T AZRE
B2oMHREBEAOIIHNARE Ut
TTHRNEEER /AN H B HRE
BUOETAREREZKEETLE

go

On Total Carrying
Weighted  demand or undiscounted amount
average 0to3 4-6 2-3 Over cash at
interest rate months months years 3 years flows 31 December
Rt=A
mELH BEXS KBRS SiiaH
% BE=@f WmEAER tE+=fA -EmE ME=E B&=F RELE ZIEEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL TAL TAL AL TAL TAn TAT AL
2019 ZE-NF
Non-derivative instruments 3574 T8
Trade and other payables EFREREMENTE 8,732,263 - - - - - 8732263 8732263
Amount due to an associate  JEFEANFZE 129214 - - - - - 129,214 129214
Fixed interest rate bank EERTRER
borrowings 5.48 973,439 391,340 251,459 83,057 585,277 - 2,284,572 2,128,867
Varible interest rate bank and 28T EFRAMER
other borrowings 4.20 1,078,478 2,512,309 167,110 19,525 - - 37171422 3,693,749
Bonds payzble [EfES 521 . . 19,685 19,685 385,214 - amE 3BT
Lease liabilities HERE 6.97 5,235 4810 15,648 36,072 35,462 18,659 115,886 98,861
Financial quarantee contract Bt ERAL) 1,893,806 - - - - - 1,893,806 -
12,812,435 2,908,459 453,902 158,339 1,005,953 18659 17,357,747 15,156,685
Derivative — gross settlementfi4 — BE£E
Foreign curency forward ~ SNEEH
— inflow —HA 92,174 - - - - - 92,174 92,389
— outflow — it (92,583) - - - - - (92,583) (92,583)
(409) - - 5 = - (409) (194)
Derivatives — net settlement 74 — FELE
Structured foreign currency &t NERH
forward 13 (24) (56) (30) - - (97) (89)
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 38. &I R &)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2MEMRETEBEEREEK(E)
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REEEER(E)
On Total Carrying
Weighted  demand or undiscounted amount
average (RK] 4-6 1-12 2-3 Over cash at
interest rate months months months years 3years flows 31 December
Rt=A
nETH BEXS KBRS SiiaH
HE 2E=fF MEAEA tET=fEA -EmE ME=E B8=F RELE ZIEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT A TAT BT Tan TAn TAT AL
2018 ZE-N\F
Non-derivative instruments 3574 T8
Trade and other payables  ERBEREMEMNFE - 7633608 - - - - - 7633608 7,633,608
Fived interest rate bank TEBRAHER
borrowings 445 749,625 59,396 140,148 - - - 949,069 937,757
Variable interest rate bank and 83T EFRAMER
other borrowings 417 5,894,130 200,607 144,761 65,712 13,037 - 6,318,247 6,265,540
Bonds payable EftEH 58 - - 49,547 49547 883,152 - 982,246 850,265
Financial guarantee contract B ERAL - 2,521,180 - - - - - 2,521,180 -

16,798,443 260,003 334,456 115,269 896,189

18404350 15,677,170
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause and
bank loans that are repayable on demand due to breach
of loan covenants are included in the “on demand or O
to 3 months” time band in the above maturity analysis.
The aggregate carrying amounts of these bank loans
amounted to HK$5,216,477,000 as at 31 December
2018. Taking into account the Group's financial position,
the Directors do not believe that it is probable that the
banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment. The Directors believe that such
bank loans will be repaid two years after the end of the
reporting period in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements, details
of which are set out in the table below:

38. &£ TH &)

b.

CREMEERBRRBEE)

REEEER(E)
EBERERBEERRZBITERRERA
BEREFRHEAEMABLREREEZET
BERGTALMEIES T [IRERk TS
@A HBRA - ZERTERN_-Z
—\F+-_A=t+—HZEHELES
5,216,477,00078 7 ° & & EI AN & B 5
AR - BEERARITTIRATREITHE
BIEEERABER - EE2RAEZS
BT B S IR IR B R AT R B
MERBREHAEMFEE  BEF
BHEHINATE :

Maturity analysis — Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause and bank loans that

are repayable on demand due to breach of loan covenants based on scheduled repayments

BN - RERRARARREREERFRTERRRERERAANARERMEZRITER

Total
0to3 4-6 71-12 1-2 undiscounted Carrying
months months months years cash outflows amount

ARRE
ZZ={§A mEAEA  tET=fER -E@mE ik 2 REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THL THL THL THL THL

31 December 2018 ZFN\E

+=A=1+-H 943,364 804,977 1,178,538 2,588,486 5,515,365 5,216,477

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contract are the maximum amounts the Group could be

AL BRREOZEE/AE
BRERRZETFHREER A LR

required to settle under the arrangement for the full
guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the
counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations
at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers
that it is more likely than not that no amount will be
payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate
is subject to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a
function of the likelihood that the financial receivables
held by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer
credit losses.

“E-NEFFR o ERNEBERAE

REZEEREBLHGEEZES®
B RENBREPRZ2EY  AKHE
RABRAF] LB BRE LA EMA
SR A WIEMBEATEY R
FREUFRBERRBHARZ AL
HEMmE - Mt ERIRF RS H
FRAEZEEREBERREEESR
RIEMBRME -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 38. £#MIR %)
c¢. Fair value measurements of financial c. SRMIAZATEEE
instruments
This note provides information about how the Group MK iR BEAAEE A EE TR
determines fair values of various financial assets and PHEERSMARBRZATEBCZE
financial liabilities. o
(i) Fairvalue of the Group's financial assets and financial (i) BREEEEUQAFEHEFNEZAR
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring EEsHMEEREHABZAT
basis BiE
The Group's financial assets at FVTPL, trade REREHR  AEBZREBR
receivables at FVTOCI and derivative financial NATFEEIEZESHEE - R
instruments are measured at fair value at the end HEmzmEB AR EEIEREZ
of each reporting period. The following table gives EUWEFRETE e T AERA
information about how the fair values of these FEENE - TRABBNME
financial assets and financial liabilities are THEsHEERSHMABEZA
determined. FEBEZER -
Fair value
Financial assets/ financial liabilities Fair value as at hierarchy  Valuation techniques and key inputs
ATEE
SREE/SHAR RUT A2 AVEE ERGR (EFERTIERALE
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
“E-hF+-A=t+-A £+-A=1-H
Financial assets at FVTPL —listed Assets — HK$5,549,000 Assets — HK$10,316,000 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market
equity shares in Hong Kong EJE — 5,549,000 7 EE—10316,000%7 E18 REETHREE
REGURTEBIIE EREE —
REE LT ERRR
Trade receivables at FVTOCI Assets — HK$1,293,194,000 Assets —HK$168,813,000 Level2  Discounted cash flow method
REMZEREUAFEETIR B - 1,293,194,000 87 BE— 16881300057 F2f BeRERRE
LIEWEE
The key input is market interest rate.
TEGAFEATENE -
Foreign currency forwards (Note 1) Liabilities — HK$194,000 Liabilities — nil Level2  Discounted cash flow method
SNERE(HE1) &f8 — 194000387 BE-% F2f BeRERRE

The key inputs are foreign exchange spot rates
and forward rates and interest rate curves.

IEBNEBAINER S RREAIR R %

g
Structured foreign currency forward Liabilities — HK$89,000 Liabilities = nil Level3  Monte Carlo Simulation Method
(Note 2) £f& — 89,0007 BE-% £} FETEERE

BEANEES (M)

The key inputs are spot exchange rate on the
date of valuation, strike rate, time to maturity,
notional amount, payout amount for each
settlement, risk-free rate of USS against
HK$ and the average implied volatility of
the exchange rate as at valuation date.
TERNUBEAEERRISHES iR %
B 2508 SREERIXLER
ARERETERRTIE RN AERD
EXTHRERE
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 38. &#MTIH#E)
c¢. Fair value measurements of financial c. SRMIAZATEEFE#E)
instruments (continued)

(i)  Fairvalue of the Group's financial assets and financial (i) BREEEEUNFEBEIFEZAR
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring EREsHMEEREMEBEZAT
basis (continued) BEE)

Note 1: The discounted cash flow method uses only M1 : WHRBRSRSFEFERTE
observable market inputs. RMIGEABUE -

Note 2: For structured foreign currency forward with MizE2 . ExABXINERBRS®E -
transactions denominated in US$, if the average HEXFHESKE L
implied volatility of the exchange rate is 5% higher/ Ft /T BR5% i H fth 7]
lower and held other variables constant, the ETE  AAEEHZE-FT
Group's post-tax profit for the year ended 31 —NEF+ZA=+—HIEF
December 2019 would decrease by HK$101,000/ B2 Biigm TR 2 101,000
decrease by HK$69,000. Due to the terms of the 77T, 8 4 69,0008 TT °
contracts, changes in the inputs adopted in the FEA KGR (HEBEMR
valuation model would lead to asymmetric changes ZRABBEEEHEERAF
in the fair values. BEELETHEE®L -

There is no transfer between different levels of RABEAFEEERGEEZT

the fair value hierarchy for the current period. BIEPNERIZ:S Sy

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 REF-—AFR-F—/\F+Z

AE+—HZ A FEEB %E

2019
—E-hEF
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

B1R E2 E3M &t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
AR FTRT FExT TR

Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at RIBEARTFEE
FVTPL R e REE 5,549 - - 5,549
Trade receivables at R EAth 2 E W BA
FVTOCI NTHEEIRZ
FEW AR IR - 1,293,194 - 1,293,194
5,549 1,293,194 - 1,298,743
Financial liabilities SEaE
Derivative financial PTESRITA
instruments - 194 89 283
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

c. Fair value measurements of financial c.
instruments (continued)

38. &£ TH &)
SRITECZAFEEFE(E)

BREFEEUATEEFEZEX
SEEMEEREMERZAT
BE(#E)

(i)  Fairvalue of the Group's financial assets and financial (i)
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis (continued)

2018

Total
A%t
HK$'000
FHIT

Level 3
FE3R
HK$'000
FHIT

Level 2
B2
HK$'000
FHTT

Level 1
F1R
HK$'000
FATT

Financial assets cREE
Financial assets at RIBFE AN EBE
FVTPL R EREE 10,316 - - 10,316
Trade receivables at REMEEKEIA
FVTOCI NEEBEYEZ
JEW BRI - 168,813 - 168,813
10,316 168,813 ~ 179129

ERHERFEIRLTEEFEZ

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement of

financial liabilities R

Structured

foreign

currency

forwards

#EEX

SME =

HK$'000

FHIT
|

At 1 January 2018 R-ZZE—N\F—H—H 58,516

Fair value gain credited to profit or loss REB&EAFTAZ AFEERZE (32,107)

Net settlement EEFE (26,409)

At 31 December 2018 R-ZE-N\EFE+-_A=+—H -

Fair value gain credited to profit or loss REBZEPFTAZAFEERE (656)

Net settlement EEFE 745

At 31 December 2019 R-ZE—-NE+-_A=+—H 89

KEEFABZZRWZED
418,000 (=T — )\ F : &)

The total gain of approximately HK$418,000 (2018:
nil) for the year included in profit or loss

166

represents the total fair value gain related to
structured foreign currency forwards held at the
end of the reporting period that is included in
“QOther gains and losses”.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

c. Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (continued)

(ii)  Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

that are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis
(but fair value disclosures are required)
As at 31 December 2019, except for bonds
payable with a fair value of HK$376,417,000
(2018: HK$843,230,000) based on quoted market
price that is categorised into Level 1 fair value
hierarchy, the Directors consider that the carrying
amounts of the other financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate
their fair values.

39. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

At 31 December 2018, the Group had commitments for
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases which fall due as follows:

38. &£ TH &)
c. SRIBECZAFEENEE)

(i) WIHFREHEHEREUNFEEANE
ZEREERSHABZATLE
EH(BREEEATFEEEE)
RZZE—-NF+_A=+—8"
BN (BB A376,417,000 % T
( == — J\4F : 843,230,000%
T)REMSHREBAZIAR
FEEBAZENESN BES
RBRERE B 15 WK IR B A A
N EMeMEERSMAR
ZEREESREQN T EERSE -

39. EBHVKIE
REBEREABA

RZZB-NF+ZA=+—8 AEERE
PRAIRHLERON T I MR 2 KK &
ERONFALEDT

2018
—F-N\F

HK$'000
T

Within one year —&FR 6,336
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_FEERF (BIEEEMSE) 2,174
8,510

Operating lease payments represented rentals payable by the
Group for certain of its office premises. Leases were
negotiated for terms of two to four years with fixed rentals.

REBONTELAEEREETHAEME
MmEMNZHEE BHZHBEEBSMEN
FUREEHESE
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39. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS (continued)
The Group as lessor

Property rental income with fixed monthly rentals earned
during the year was HK$9,150,000 (2018: HK$11,543,000),
which was derived from letting of staff quarters included in
the Group's property, plant and equipment.

Certain properties held for rental purposes have committed
leases for the next two years.

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

—FR

Within one year
In the second year

RE—F

39.

EEHHRRE &)
FEBESHBA

NEEBRIZMERS WA A9,150,000%
TT(—Z—\4F : 11,543,000/ 7T) * Z5H
SWAREHAFALEBMYE - BE K&K
WrEBIFES -

ﬁ%{’ﬁﬂjfrﬁﬁ G MERKRRFAMAED
Az HE

AT RHE s s EREHEENK

2019
—E-hE

HK$°000
TR
421
205

626

The Group had contracted with lessees for the following
future minimum lease payments:

—FR

Within one year
In the second to fifth year inclusive

—FEFRIF(BEEERE)

AEBEEH FIIRRREHEE M HREAHEA
RINEH)

2018
—N\F
HK$'000
TAT
621
1,112

1,733

40. COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure contracted for but not

provided in the consolidated financial BRIHERESE
statements in respect of acquisition of IS TsRR P EBEZ
property, plant and equipment BARSH

40. i

2019
—E-hE

2018
—N\F
HK$'000
TET

HK$°000
FERT

400,272 419,153

168 Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 « HE_—ZE—AF+-_A=+—HLLEE

41.

42,

43.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

All of the Group's Hong Kong employees are required to join
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme. The Group is
required to contribute 5%, while the employees are required
to contribute 5% of their salaries to the scheme to the
maximum of HK$1,500 (2018: HK$1,500) per month for each
employee.

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
the PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of the salaries of their employees to the state-
managed retirement benefit scheme. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is
to make the required contributions under the scheme.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

At the end of the reporting period, government grants of
HK$8,291,000 (2018: HK$9,431,000) were included in trade
and other payables, to subsidise the acquisition of property,
plant and machinery for scientific research development. The
amount has been treated as deferred income and will be
transferred to profit or loss over the useful lives of the
relevant assets. This policy resulted in a credit to profit or loss
in the current year of HK$958,000 (2018: HK$1,149,000).

Incentive subsidies of HK$74,712,000 (2018: HK$27,618,000)
have been received in the current year to encourage the
operations of the PRC subsidiaries for the development on
advance technology and export sales. The subsidiaries have
complied with application rules of the incentives and,
therefore, the Group recognised the grants in profit or loss.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash
flows as cash flows from financing activities.

41.

42,

43.

- =
—=

R FaEFIEHE

KEBZ2BEAREEHBLINEHIEQTE
T8 - REEBELRS% HZK - MEE IR
Bl tEWER EFMo% 25 BRE
B AEFTESAE1,6008T(ZT—N
4 1,600/87T) °

REBETEBREREAM - PEIKERRA
AEZRE R RAREMETEELHAENEE
BHME T B O 2R - NEEBLEKE

MeEtBlpra 2z EEERAZA BEH AR
37:},)_’\ o
B RS

RIER - NEEREEDHBIEDE - K
ERHBEURERNARRE 2 B/ 28
8,291,000/ 7t (=& — J\ 4 : 9,431,000
TC) B FEAS BRTE R E At JE A 3R IH - i 5
B ARERANIZIEEEE 2 A FAF
s R s - WECRERAFE AR
Z & ¥ /958,000 t( — T — A\ F:
1,149,000/ 7T) °

AEERIBFASEBHENEB QR E
SRR M ANEERS A R B R MR H A
B E Bh74,712,0008 t( = & — )\ F:
27,618,000/ L) - ZEMB AR ETHE
e B FERAR - At - AEBRIERTE
RBEER -

METDRELEARZHIE

TRANAEBERELDAELAECE
8 BERREMIFRTEY - MEDDHE
FREDNRESRECHARRESRESNA
SEGERERERNERREREL L
RERE -
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43. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (continued)

43.

MESTDMEEARZIHIER @)

Bank
and other Lease  Loans from Bonds Dividend Interest
borrowings liabilities  an associate payable payable payable Total
RITR NG
Hitrfa s HESHE ¢ EfiEs EfRE EfRFIE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T TR TR
(note 32) (note 33) (note 28) (note 34
' (B33 ( (Bitsx34)
t 1 January 2018 RZE-N\F
—-A—A 8,457,338 - - 895,073 1,258 34,863 9,388,532
Financing cash flows ~ BERLE (1,176,790) - - (51,678) - (297,746)  (1,526,214)
Currency realignment &% (35,132) - - (46,267) - (1,439) (82,838)
Interest expenses FEHY - - - 53,137 - 300,542 353,679
Non-cash transactions 38475

(note 44) (Rt 44) (52,119) - - - - - (52,119)

At 31 December 2018 RZZ—/\F
+-A=+-H 7,193,297 - - 850,265 1,258 36220 8,081,040
Adjustment upon RmBANBES

adoption of BRI 165 HEE

HKFRS 16 ote 3)  (Fi5E3) - 6,672 - - - - 6,672
At 1 January 2019 RZE-N%&

(restated) —A—RB(&EY) 7,193,297 6,672 - 850,265 1,258 36,220 8,087,712
Financing cash flows ~ BEHLHRE (1,246,852) (6,368) (23,311) (505,287) - (364,368)  (2,146,186)
Currency realignment  E# g% (37,209) 81) - (10,102) - (472) (47,864)
Interest expenses FlEHY - 260 23,311 38,856 - 356,703 419,129
Non-cash transactions &R 5

note 44) (Rt 44) (86,620) 98,378 - - - - 11,758
At31December 2019 RZT—NE

+ZA=1-H 5,822,616 98,861 - 373,731 1,258 28,083 6,324,549
44. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 4. EXEREXH
During the year ended 31 December 2019, short-term (2= -NF+ZA=+—HLtFE B

BRI EN 7 5B B E 86,620,000 75
TT(ZZF—\4F : 52,119,000 70) % 1B 84
RN E RS R ELLE -

borrowings on bills discounted with recourse of
HK$86,620,000 (2018: HK$52,119,000) have been settled
through bills receivables discounted to the relevant financial
institutions.

HEZZ-NWF+A=FT—HIEFE =«
%I,?dzJi%ﬁfﬂ,éﬁmZith§+u&Jﬁi
5 k2SR 48 (E 5 98,378,000 8 T 2 1# A
BEENERSBEHERE -

During the year ended 31 December 2019, right-of-use assets
for new lease agreements entered into by the Group for land
and buildings and plant and machinery with a total amount of
HK$98,378,000 and the same amount of lease liabilities were
recognised.
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45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 45. RMEAELZS
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated MGV BREREMBHMBEEI » K&
financial statements, the Group has following transactions B ERFEATEITUNTRS -

with related parties.

(i) During the year, the Group entered into the following (i) FRN - AEFBEBS AT ATR
transactions with an associate. 5 o
Associate Nature of transaction 2019 2018
4N REME —E-NEF —E-N\EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TATT
Truly HZ Sales
EHREIM HE 59,121 36,013
Purchase
i 1,422,452 647,757
Interest income
FLEA 39,621 32,395
Rental income
el A 120 120

Expenses relating to short-term
leases/rental expense

EREBHEE I eI 435 456
Truly RS Purchase
BEACS i 100,691 -
Purchase of plant and machinery
BEWE e 16,922 -
Interest expense
MEXH 23,311 -
Expenses relating to short-term
leases
EHEHHEE W 5,821 -
Consultation income
WA 4,996 -
(i) The remuneration of Directors and other members of (il AXFEESELHMTBEEEEKE 2
key management during the year were as follows: HEN T -
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TATT
Short-term benefits EHATE R 15,079 14,475
Post-employment benefits BERR A B A 4,018 104
19,097 14,579
The remuneration of Directors and key executives are FEENTEEITHAB ZFH W B 0
determined by the remuneration committee having ZESLE[MARBAEMEBERE
regard to the performance of individuals and market JE °
trends.

SEoNEAR o ERERERAA | 71



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M EHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 « BZE_ZE—AF+=A=+—HILLFE

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. FLFEEMBLTRH

OF THE COMPANY
(a) General information of subsidiaries (a) MIBARZ—HREHR

Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by RFERRARFEEREEREZ

the Company at the end of the reporting period are set MBARLZFBNT

out below:

Nominal value
of issued and Proportion
Place of incorporation/ fully paid ordinary share ownership interest
Name of subsidiary registration/operation capital/registered capital  held by the Company  Principal activities
HMAL/ &R/ ERTRARZEER NG 25
WEARER EES L BAx/EMERAE gt 4 5341 TEER
2019 2018
~E-hE
Truly Electronics Manufacturing Limited - Hong Kong HK$1,000,010 100% 100% Trading of electronic calculators
EHEFERAT A 1,000,0107C and electronic components
ETHERRETTHES
Truly Instrument Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% Trading of electric tooth brush
EHEEERAT B 1007%87T and health care products
EHTRIRENRRERES

Truly Semiconductors Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 100% 100% Trading of LCD products
BRI EEERAR B 1,000/7T RRBETRERES

HK$1,000,000 78.8% 85.4% Trading of compact camera module,

Truly Opto-electronics Limited (Note) ~ Hong Kong

EHXEFRAE (FrT) B 1,000,00077C fingerprint identification modules
and touch panel
WERREARBERERE S
Truly Industrial Limited Hong Kong HK$872,894 100% 100% Trading of electronic components
RHIZERAT &% 81280487 EFLHES
Truly (USA) Inc. United States of America US$20,000 100% 100% Marketing of electronic calculators
£ 20,0007 BT ERTSEH
EHEFERAR The PRC US$137,500,000 100% 100% Manufacture of electronic calculators
i 137,500,000 7T and electronic components
NEBTHERRE TN
SESCE R The PRC 1S$498,300,000 100% 100% Manufacture of LCD products
Gl 498,300,000 %7 NERRRETEER
EHERCLR)BRAR The PRC US$1,000,000 100% 100% Manufacture of electric toothbrush
i 1,000,000 7T and health care products

HETDTRIREARRER

EHRERMEBE AT (Note) (FfzF)  The PRC RMB368,769,402 78.8% 85.4% Manufacture of compact camera

172

H (2018: RMB340,000,000) module, fingerprint identification
AR 368,769,402 T modules and touch panel
(ZZ-N\F: HENTEREARBERER
AR 340,000,000

BHIXCLE)BRAR* The PRC RMB280,000,000 100% 100% Manufacture of electronic component
i AR 280,000,000 REE T

BTAEARAE (Note) (M) The PRC RMB200,000,000 74.4% 80% Manufacture of electronic component
i AR 200,000,000 REE T

BHERARAR" The PRC RMBA45,000,000 100% 100% Manufacture of electronic component
i ARH 45,000,000 7T HETTLH

* wholly foreign owned enterprise * INEIBE
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(a)

General information of subsidiaries (continued)

Note: Change in ownership interest in a subsidiary

On 31 May 2019, a PRC subsidiary, EF ¢t ERMHER A,
has increased its registered capital by RMB19,919,192 with
cash considerations of approximately RMB290,000,000
(equivalent to HK$323,350,000) from an independent third
party (the “First Capital Increase”). In addition, 1& %t & i&
3 & IR A 7 has further increased its registered capital by
RMB8,850,210 with cash considerations of approximately
RMB120,000,000 (equivalent to HK$133,800,000) from
another independent third party (the “Second Capital
Increase”) on 24 October 2019. Upon the completion of the
First Capital Increase and the Second Capital Increase, its
registered capital increased from RMB340,000,000 to
RMB368,769,402. The effective equity interest of the Group
in 1= F % E & {5 B BB 2 7] and Truly Opto-electronics
Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of 1= %% BN B A
Al, reduced from 85.4% to 80.7% and further reduced to
78.8%. The effective equity interest of the Group in 57T
EAHBR2AF], a non-wholly owned subsidiary of {57} &%
3 B R A 7], reduced from 80% to 74.4%. An amount of
HK$387,279,000 (being the proportionate share of the
carrying amount of the assets of 15 Fl %t B % 15 B R A 7))
has been transferred to non-controlling interests. The
difference of HK$69,871,000 between the increase in the
non-controlling interests and consideration received has
been credited to other reserves.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the result or assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Except for Truly Electronics Manufacturing Limited and
Truly (USA) Inc., all other subsidiaries are indirectly held
by the Company.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities at the
end of the year except for 5 F % & M7 B BR 2 ] which
has issued an aggregate principal amount of
RMB337,594,300 of bonds payable, in which the Group
has no interests.

46. XLFEERMBLAFTREH (&)

(a) MBARZ—RERE)
B s RO A AL A

R-ZBE-AEREA=1+—8 PEHB
RAEFIHERMDBRARE—RE L
FEZFHRTFTHE2RBHOARE
290,000,000 7t ( 18 & 7 323,350,000 74
T)SHEMEAREMARE
19,919,192 L ([ —IKIEE |) o Lo -
ERHAEROHBERARNNRZE—NEFT
B+ BES—2BIE=HHETER
&R B4 AER#120,000,0007T (15
133,800,000/ 70 ) © H i & A
— S MMARY 8,850,210 ([ =X
B |) o NFERE —IRIEE M8 — ki
Bl ZRRZAMEABARE
340,000,000 L3 %= A R # 368,769,402
TL e REEREMAERHBR AR KL
H2EWBRARMEMAEBERRAAME
BB S AE F85.4% R £80.7% M i —
HRMET78.8% o REBMEF N ERML
BRARZIZEMBRARETHER
MR AR FTIEE KRR EB0% [ E
74.4% ° 387,279,000 7T (BMEF &
BN BERAREERBEZIZL D5
) BB R IR RS o N2 3E
TREREMRREMER 25
69,871,000 T E AT AE A ©

ERIHEBEERREIEZEARER
BABEZARNBINBLAR - EFR
RFAFEMMB AR ZFER < FR
RIEBAE -

b= F EF AR DA KTruly (USA)
Inc.oh - PRBEEMME R RIIBEARRA A
Faﬁg?%ﬁ °

BREMELERNDBERARETASA
# AR 337,594,300 7T 2 FEFHE S M

AEERREP W BRI RERSZ
MBI B ES
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that
have material non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-
controlling interests:

Place of

incorporation Proportion of ownership

and principal interests and voting

place of rights held by non-
Name of subsidiary business controlling interests

SR LR HEEREREAZ

WEARER TEREXBH FraRRERRRRELA
2019

—ZN\F

EARERNERARE*  The PRC

H 21.2% 14.6%
Non-wholly owned
subsidiary of
EHXERDERAT
EHXERMBERAAZ
F2EMBAA
ETREERAA The PRC
H 25.6% 20%

* excluding non-controlling interests of 1= #|3¢ BN B R 2
Al's subsidiary
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46. XLFEERMBLAFTREH (&)

(b) BEERFEREZZHFZENS
REZFHE
TR ERERFEBRESE 2 AE
BRER2EMBRRZFHIE

Profit/(loss)
attributable to non- Accumulated non-
controlling interests controlling interests
FERER
bR/ (F8) ErtFERES
2019 2019
S i S
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT TR BT
45,640 75,634 943,560 601,679
68 (1,611) 8,118 1,772
45,708 74,023 951,678 609,451

* TREEMAERNBRARMEAT
Z IR
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(b)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that
have material non-controlling interests
(continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the
above subsidiary that has material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts before
intragroup eliminations.

ERIKXE R 2B R 2 7 and its subsidiaries

46. XLFEERMBLAFTREH (&)

(b) EEEAFZREHZZFZEMNE

DR ZFHEE)

B LKA REA EAI AR
BmZHBERBENT - THHBE
R EREBRNARREEHAM 28R -

ERXERGERARREWEB AR

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-NF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET T

Current assets MEEE 7,852,017 7,091,405

Non-current assets EREEE 5,120,307 5,218,258

Current liabilities mEaE 7,487,036 7,264,732

Non-current liabilities EREBERE 1,001,163 850,265
Equity attributable to owners of the PA/NSIE RS DNy v

Company 3,532,447 3,585,215
Non-controlling interests of ERERNBRAR

EFERNDERAT FEFERR 943,560 601,679
Non-controlling interests of subsidiary of {EF|}ERNDBE A 7

EFEERNDEBRAT LR IEPNCIPAE 223 g 3o 8,118 7,772

2019 2018

=E—NF —E-NF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET T

Revenue L6 17,883,343 14,791,269

Expenses FiZ 17,567,318 14,272,407

Profit for the year REE T 316,025 518,862
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46.
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

FLAFEERBARNEH ()

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that (b) BEEERFEZERERZHZENE
have material non-controlling interests NTBZHHE (&)
(continued)

S RIK B R 135 R 2 7 and its subsidiaries (continued) ERAERMERLAAREWMBE LR

(%)

2019
—E-NEF

2018
—E—)N\F
HK$'000
FH&7T

HK$°000
FTET

176

Profit attributable to owners of the RAREE ANEMLREF

Company 270,317 444,839
Profit attributable to the non-controlling =73t TR AR A )

interests of {5 £ B D AR A A FEAZE R A 55 R A a2 7 45,640 75,634
Profit (loss) attributable to the EFHERMNBRARNEBE R F]

non-controlling interests of Z IR R A R (B1E)

subsidiary of EFIHERMNBRAF] 68 (1,611)
Profit for the year REFEHEF 316,025 518,862
Other comprehensive income FiN/NEIE ¥ =N

(expense) attributable to owners HEm 2w ()

of the Company (59,844) (167,450)
Other comprehensive expense ERHERDBR AR

attributable to the non-controlling IR T R

interests of {ZF ¢ B D BRA A HEmzmEAS (11,788) (28,574)
Other comprehensive expense FEFYEERMDBREATMNEB AT

attributable to the non-controlling 2 IEVERRRE RS AL

interests of subsidiary of HEmzmEAS

EAHERNDBR AR (165) (441)
Other comprehensive income AEFHMEEME ()

(expense) for the year (71,797) (196,465)
Total comprehensive income PIN/NEIE Y DN A

attributable to owners EHEN BT

of the Company 210,473 277,389
Total comprehensive income ERHERMBRAT]

attributable to the non-controlling IEPE IR REZS RS

interests of EAIX BN AR 2 A FHEWEEE 33,852 47,060
Total comprehensive expense ERHERMBRARWE AR A

attributable to the non-controlling 2 IR R R

interests of subsidiary of ZEAS B

EMRERMNDER AR (97) (2,052)
Total comprehensive income REEEEWEBER

for the year 244,228 322,397
Dividends paid to non-controlling 2RHEFEERD B R A 7

interests of 5N ERMD B R AT I 2 AR B 78,792 -
Net cash inflow (outflow) from LBERIBSRACRL) F58

operating activities 152,640 (11,539)
Net cash outflow from investing REEBR e RTFE

activities (808,553) (742,056)
Net cash inflow (outflow) from BEEEIRESTACEE)

financing activities TFEE 238,960 (169,399)
Net cash outflow IRE R F5E (416,953) (922,994)
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47. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2018, a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company is a defendant in
several legal actions in the PRC in respect of the claims
for infringement of the claimant’s patents. The claims
against the non-wholly owned subsidiary are
approximately RMB151.5 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$172.6 million) in aggregate.

On 30 December 2019 and 3 March 2020, the Company
has received notices from the relevant court with court
decisions of the civil complaints being turned down and
no compensation is required to be paid by the Group.

(ii)

Corporate guarantee given by the

47. BRAR

(i

(ii)

HE-_Z—N\F+_A=+—HLEF
B ARBIZEENBRARAET
HRRRPERILEERAERNERE
HRZEABFDBZWEA o ST ZIE
2EMBRARAICHRAEPARY
15168t (FAERL1.726 BETT) °

RZE-NF+-_A=tTER=-F=
gﬁ_ﬂ_lﬂ AEBERERRER
A i’%ﬁﬁ@ﬁ%ﬁ"‘zxirﬁ&
WA B HA X HEA RS E

2019
—F-NF

2018
—F-N\F
HK$'000
THAET

HK$°000
FERT

REBBETUTALZRT

Group for bank borrowings granted to: &3k ¢EH A RER -
An associate iR N 1,893,806 2,521,180
and utilised by: FMENATALTEA :
An associate /NG| 1,800,204 2,427,493
In addition, at 31 December 2019, the other shareholder Wy R—EBE—HAF+—_A=+—8 "

of an associate provided corporate guarantee to the
above bank borrowings in proportion to its respective
ownership interest amounting to approximately HK$792
million (2018: HK$804 million). A counter-indemnity in
favour of the other shareholder is executed pursuant to
which the Group undertakes to indemnify the other
shareholder 23.5% (2018: 23.5%) of the liabilities
arising from the bank borrowings.

The bank borrowings were secured by the associate’s
property, plant and equipment and the Directors assess
the exposure of the corporate guarantee at the end of
reporting period is insignificant. It is not likely that any
guaranteed amount will be claimed by the
counterparties and the fair value of the corporate
guarantee is not significant.

—NFFH o FRNERARIA

ﬁﬁéﬁﬂzﬁtfmﬁx%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%m
LE IS £ SR 1T 18 R A R HER LY
TREBT(ZT—N\F: 8041“%
J0) e AEBAZEMBER AT

Y RBERE  BHANEEAR ﬁﬁi\
IR BERITERMELEEEZ
23.5% (ZZF—N\F :23.5%) °

RITRRABEAFAZDE - BER
RBIEESR - TR RS BRI
FEYUARERZBRTA - X5
FRAMMERREMBERSE A2
ARy AT EELTEA -
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TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 48.

The following were the Group's bills receivables as at 31
December 2019 and 2018 that were discounted to banks on
a full recourse basis.

HASMEE
NTAREER-B—NER-F—N\%F
+ A=t BERITEREERERLR
2 RS -

2019 AONRS]
—g-nF —T)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT

Carrying amount of discounted bills BARERERE 2 REE
receivables 5,789 -
Carrying amount of associated liabilities ~ 1A B E 2 EHEE (5,789) -
Net position SFARCR = -

The Group discounted bills receivables to banks by
discounting those receivables on a full recourse basis. As the
Group has not transferred the significant risks and rewards
relating to these receivables, it continues to recognise the full
carrying amount of the receivables and has recognised the
cash received on the transfer as discounted bills (see note
32). These financial assets are carried at amortised cost in the
Group's consolidated statement of financial position.
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49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

49. FRFZMBIKARR

BERARBRNHE MRz HHIRREK 2 ER

Company at the end of the reporting period includes:

B

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E—N\F
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FET TFETT

Non-current Assets kREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZIRE 446,009 446,009
Amount due from a subsidiary TEURBT B A B 7k I8 1,258,169 1,217,941
1,704,178 1,663,950

Current Assets REBEE
Other receivables Hib el a 360 445
Bank balances and cash RITEGFRIRS 2,019 2,111
2,379 2,556
Current Liability REBAE

Other payables E At eI IR 2,131 1,935
Net Current Assets REBEEFE 248 621
Net Assets EEEE 1,704,426 1,664,571

Capital and Reserves EARR#HE
Share capital BE AR 65,785 65,785
Reserves e 1,638,641 1,598,786
Total Equity RSB 1,704,426 1,664,571

Share
premium*

R AR *
HK$'000
TAT

Capital

Special redemption

reserve’

Rl

HK$'000
TET

reserve
2
ME
HK$'000
FA7

Retained
profits

REWA
HK$'000
57

Total

2
HK$'000
F57L

At 1 January 2018 RZE—N\F—F—H 1,200,575 17,410 867 148,052 1,366,904
Profit for the year REZRH - - - 37,016 37,016
Issue of new shares BITHRG 195,808 - - - 195,808
Cost of issuance of new shares 1T AR 2 B X (942) - - - (942)
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-N\F

+ZA=+—H 1,395,441 17,410 867 185,068 1,598,786
Profit for the year AEEZGF - - - 39,855 39,855
At 31 December 2019 RZZE—NF

+ZA=+—H 1,395,441 17,410 867 224,923 1,638,641

“E-NEFFR o ERNEBERAE
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50.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

* Under the applicable laws of Cayman Islands, the share premium
of the Company is available for distributions or paying dividends to
shareholders subject to the provisions of its Memorandum or
Articles of Association and provided that immediate following the
distribution or paying dividend the Company is able to pay its debts
as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

# The special reserve of the Company represents the difference
between the net book values of the underlying assets of the
Company's subsidiaries acquired at the date on which the shares
of these companies were acquired by the Company, and the
nominal amount of the Company’s shares issued for the
acquisitions in prior year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The outbreak of the 2019 Novel Coronavirus (“COVID-2019")
in the world and the subsequent quarantine measures
imposed by the Chinese government as well as the travel
restrictions imposed by other countries in early 2020 have
had a negative impact on the operations of the Group since
January 2020, as the major suppliers and customers of the
Group are located in the PRC and other affected regions. It
has a negative impact on the market sentiment in the PRC
and other affected regions. The Directors are still assessing
the financial impact that the COVID-2019 will have on the
Group's future consolidated financial statements. As at the
date these consolidated financial statements are authorised
for issue, the financial impact cannot be reasonably
estimated.
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49.

50.

FRFZMBRARRE EM (2

* RERESHEZEREN - AR ZBROEE
AR E AR A AR A S AR Bl 2 R S R R
HARSRSS R R BRI D IR AT
BRI - ARRIAAN A EEBBRES AR
HifEIA -

# RRAZFRIEEER AR RN EENE
NRZBNE B ZFRB AR Z HAEER
EFEEARRBEFEREEMETZAR
B EEME R 25 -

BEM®RER

—E-THEYERBRENUEMES REREK
FEIRFERREER N EEMEKEE
ERS > B —FE_FF— AUARHAEE
ZEBEEBRABTE RAKEZIR
HEBEREPHUNPEMEMTZEN
e B REMIEEME CMERANT
BANEE - EFNAENEHEERRSH
UAKERRZEAVBRREBR I
& NEETEAGRAMBERZA  KAF
BEERABMAMBEEZIRE -
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